1'RA-RP-71-2

PB 202 668

THE VISIBILITY AND AUDIBILITY OF TRAINS APPROACHING RAIL - HIGHWAY GRADE CROSSINGS

Prepared for

FEDERAL RAILROAD ADMINISTRATION U. S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION WASHINGTON, D. C. 20591



MAY 1971 FINAL REPORT

Prepared by

John P. Aurelius and Norman Korobov Systems Consultants Incorporated 221 West 57th Street New York, New York 19019

EOLOR ILLISTRATICAS PRODUCTAD IN BLACK AND WHITE Availability is unlimited. Document may be released to the Clearinghouse for Federal Scientific and Technical Information, Springfield, Virginia 22151, for sale to the public.

> REPRODUCED BY U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE NATIONAL TECHNICAL INFORMATION SERVICE SPRINGFIELD, VA 22161

The contents of this report reflect the views of Systems Consultants Incorporated which is responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views or policy of the Department of Transportation. This report does not constitute a standard, specification or regulation.

1.

•

-

| e Det det H | | Details of illustrations in this document may be better studied on microfiche | |
|----------------|------------|---|--------|
| | | CONTENTS | |
| | | | |
| · · · | | | |
| | CHAPTER I. | INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| · · · | | Objectives Study Guidelines | 1 1 |
| | | Audible ve. Visible Warnings | 2 |
| | | Multiple-Unit and Other Cars | 2 |
| • | | | |
| | CHAPTER 2. | EXECUTIVE SUMMARY | |
| | | Summary of Studies | 4 |
| | | Performance Criteria for Audible Warnings | 6 |
| | | Summary Table-Conclusions and Recommendations | 10 |
| · · · · | ·· | Audibility Conclusions and Recommendations | 10 |
| · | | Visual Conclusions and Recommendations | 17 |
| • | CHAPTER 3. | THE ENCOUNTERS TRAIN VS AUTOMOBILE | |
| | | At What Range Must Devices Operate Effectively? | 22 |
| | | Analyzing the Encounter | 23 |
| | | The Geometry of the Critical Encounter | 24 |
| | - • | Tables of Required Warning Distances | 27 |
| • | | | |
| | CHAPTER 4. | VISUAL - ALERTING AND CONSPICUITY | · - |
| | | Alerting | 33 |
| | | Literature Review | 33. |
| | | Conspicuity in Daylight | 38 |
| | | Conspically ar Night | 50 |
| | CHAPTER 5. | VISUAL - AVAILABLE LIGHTING DEVICES | |
| | | Headlights | 41 |
| | | Swept Headlights | 43 |
| | | Roof Lights | 45 |
| | | Field Evaluation of Visual Displays | 46 |
| • | | | |
| | CHAPIER 0. | Purpose and General Method Used | 50 |
| . • | | Experimental Hypothesis | 51 |
| | | Experiment Description | . 53 |
| | | Tabulation | 56 |
| | | Analysis - Daylight | .56 |
| • | | Analysis - Night | 59 |
| | | •• | • |
| • | | | • |
| | | | |
| ~ | | | |
| | - | ii. | |
| | | | |

.

. •

| te di servere | | | |
|---------------|---------------|--|------------|
| | CHAPTER 7. | AUDIBLE - AVAILABLE WARNING DEVICES | |
| | | Whistles | 65 |
| | | Horns | 66 |
| | | Bells | 68 |
| | | Electronic Devices | 68 |
| · | CHAPTER 8. | AUDIBLE - MEASUREMENTS | |
| | | Equipment | 70 |
| | · . | Yard Measurements | 71 |
| | · | Test Stand Measurements | 75 |
| • | . | Wayside Measurements | 80 |
| 2. | - | Additional Measurements | 86 |
| | | Analysis | 89 |
| | CHAPTER 9. | AUDIBLE - EMPIRICAL TESTING OF WARNING QUALI | TES |
| · · · | | Purpose of the Test | 94 |
| | | Construction of the Test | 94 |
| · · · · | • | Accident Statistics as Criteria | 9 7 |
| 1 | | Sounds | 99 |
| | | Preparation of Tapes | 101 |
| | | Conduct of Testing | 101 |
| • | | Verification Tests | 105 |
| | | Analysis | 108 |
| o | • • • | Results | 113 |
| | CHAPTER 10. | AUDIBLE - NUISANCE | |
| | | Nuisance Values | 116 · |
| | | Nuisance Experiment | 118 |
| · | | Results | 122 |
| | | Discussion | 122 |
| | APPENDIX A. | GLOSSARY | 123 |
| | APPENDIX B. | BIBLIOGRAPHY | 126 |
| | | CEONETRY OF THE CRITICAL ENCOUNTER | |
| | APPENDIX C. | CALCULATIONS | 128 |
| | | | |
| | APPENDIX D. | BACKGROUND LUMINANCE | 133 |
| | APPENDIX E. | REFLECTANCE CURVES OF PIGMENTED TARGETS | 134 |
| | APPENDIX F. | PURKINJE SHIFT | 135 |
| • | | | _ |
| - | | | |
| | 4. | μ | - |
| | 47 | • • | |

.

1V

1

ł.

TABLES

| 1. | Geometry of the Critical Encounter (Summary) | 8 |
|--------|---|------|
| 2. | Summary of Results | 11 |
| 3. | Railroad Horn Performance as a Function of Speeds | 15 |
| 4. | Required Warning Distances | 30 |
| 5. | Comparison of Color Contrast Materials | 57 |
| 6. | Comparison of Lighting Materials | 60 |
| 7. | Audible Warning Sound Levels - Trains in Yards | 73 |
| 8. | Audible Warning Sound Levels - 'Test Stand' Measurements | 77 |
| 9. | Sound Patterns | 79 |
| 10. | Audible Warning Sound Levels - Wayside Measurements | 83 |
| 11. | Audible Warning Sound Levels - Electronic Siren | 87 - |
| 12. | Typical Railroad Horn-Sound Levels | 90 |
| 13. | New York State Grade Crossing Accidents 1967 | 98 |
| 14. | Presentation Sounds - Empirical Testing of Audible Warnings | 102 |
| 15. | Decibel Rating of Responses | 110 |
| 16. | Means and Standard Deviations - Single Factors | 112 |
| 17. | Amplitude vs. Time Plot of Nuisance Test Sounds | 120 |
| | | |

 \checkmark

Preceding page blank

FIGURES

| 1. | Graphical Analysis of the Encounter | 25 |
|-----|--|---------|
| 2. | Graphical Example | 28 |
| 3. | Color Scheme with Safety Stripes | |
| 4. | Color Scheme in Red and White | |
| 5. | Typical Locomotive Headlight | 42 |
| 6. | Candlepower Distribution, Sealed-Beam Locomotive Headlight | 42 |
| 7. | Swept Headlight | 44 |
| 8. | Roof Lights for Testing | 47 |
| 9. | Lights on Locomotive for Testing | 47 |
| 10. | Field Evaluation: High-Output Strobes in Daylight | |
| 11. | Field Evaluation: Fluorescent Panels and Lamps at Dusk | |
| 12. | Roof Light | 49 |
| 13. | Photographing Model Locomotive | 51 |
| 14. | Daylight Views of the Model Locomotive | |
| 15. | Side View of Color Layout - GP 35 Model | 54 |
| 16. | Beam Pattern - Standard Headlight | 63 |
| 17. | Beam Pattern - Headlight Plus Floods and Side Panel Lights | 64 |
| 18. | Whistle with Reflector | 65 |
| 19. | 5-Chime Horn | 67 |
| 20. | Prototype Electronic Horn | - 69 |
| | •• | |

vi

| • | | | |
|-----|-----|--|----------------|
| | | | |
| | 21. | Metroliner, Showing Leslie Horns | 72 |
| . • | 22. | Penn Central E-8 Locomotive, Showing Nathan Horn | 74 |
| | 23. | Horns for Test Stand Measurements | 76 |
| | 24. | Test Stand Measurements | 76 |
| | 25. | Recording at the Wayside | 81 |
| | 26. | Metroliner Passing at Glenn Dale | 81 |
| | 27. | Horn Mounted on Hood of Locomotive | 82 |
| | 28. | The Leslie Warbler | 88 |
| | 29. | New Car Rigged for Empirical Testing | 95 |
| | 30 | Truck Rigged for Empirical Testing | 96 |
| | 31. | Electronics inside Truck Cab | 96 |
| | 32. | Routes Used for Empirical Testing of Audible Warnings | 104 |
| | 33. | Data Sheet | 106 |
| | 34. | Verification Testing | 107 |
| | 35. | Data Reduction Worksheet | 109 |
| | 36. | Nuisance Testing | 118 |
| | | • | • • • • • • |
| | | | • |
| | | | •• |
| | | | · · · |
| • | | | · . |
| | ~ | | |
| | · | ų ir̃ tai autoriai ir tai | - - |
| | | | |
| | | | |

·

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Objectives

This is the report of a technical study which had as its objectives:

- 1. To define the performance level of devices in general use on trains for attracting the attention of drivers of motor vehicles.
- 2. To describe desirable performance levels for devices which are used to make a train more visible or more audible to a driver as he and the train approach a crossing.
- 3. To identify the extent of nuisance under different conditions which devices having the qualities or performance levels described above would have in rural, urban and suburban areas.
- 4. To propose devices which will meet desirable performance levels, within acceptable nuisance levels.

The term 'devices' is defined broadly to include paint schemes and sheeting, as well as lights, horns, whistles, and bells.

Study Guidelines

<u>On-Train Devices</u> - The study was concerned only with devices that are on the train, which have effect as the train approaches a crossing. Devices located at the crossing, such as signs, crossbucks, automatic lights or gates, etc., were not considered. The special problem of warning motorists when a train is occupying a crossing was also outside the scope of the project.

<u>Sight Distance</u> - A very important limitation was the assumption that physical conditions at the crossing offer sight distance adequate for a motorist to see a train early enough to stop short of the crossing, if the train sufficiently conspicuous. It is recognized that vision is obstructed at many crossings, and that this is a serious problem in the overall subject of grade crossing safety. The improvements that can make such crossings safer generally involve treatments at the crossing, rather than on the train, and these were not studied.

It is similarly assumed that no serious obstructions to sound propagation exist at the crossing.

Other Parameters - Consideration was given to encounters in which the train speed range is 10 to 120 MPH, and the motor vehicle speed range is 20 to 75 MPH. No special consideration was given to the vehicle which stops before crossing the tracks, and is accelerating over the tracks. To adequately cover this situation, a fairly substantial study into vehicle performance characteristics would have been required, and this was not under taken. Motor vehicles were assumed to be operating with all windows closed.

Crossings at angles other than 90 degrees were considered, but both the highway and the railroad are assumed to have no significant curvature in the immediate vicinity of the crossing. When considering the driver's perception of on-train warnings, it is assumed that the crossing is marked with advance warning signs and with crossbucks at the crossing site, so that the driver is informed of the existence and location of the crossing as he approaches it.

Audible vs. Visible Warnings

It was determined early in the study that sound and light stimuli do not compete for attention. Each type of warning operates in its own way without interfering with the other. Each has its advantages and weaknesses as a warning: light cannot go around buildings as sound can; sound gives less information as to the train's location than vision; sound can alert a person whose attention is aimed in the opposite direction; sound is more of a nuisance than visible warnings. The independent operation of the two modalities led to the division of this study into two directions, one for visual stimuli and one for audible stimuli.

Multiple-Unit and Other Cars

The concern of this study is with trains approaching grade crossings; it has concentrated on devices and treatments for locomotives, since in the vast majority of trains they are the first unit or units. A sizeable minority of trains are exceptions to this rule, however, particularly in the case of suburban passenger trains.

<u>Multiple-Unit Cars</u> - While a two car suburban train is far less impressive than a mile-long freight with four units up front, it offers the same hazard at a crossing. Suburban trains often attain speeds as high as long-distance passenger express trains do. The recommendations of the study, of course, apply equally to self-propelled cars, push-pull

control cars, multiple-unit cars, etc. on any route that has grade crossings.

Switching Movements - Another case of operations across grade crossings in which the lead car is not a locomotive is the backing of a string of cars onto an industrial siding, or similar move. These operations are usually performed at low speeds. This situation was also considered.

CHAPTER 2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Summary of Studies

<u>Distance</u> - Whether a warning is visual or audible in nature, we cannot analyze its effectiveness without knowing the distance at which it must operate. This distance is variable, depending principally upon the motor vehicle speed and stopping distance, the length of the vehicle, the speed of the train, and the angle at which the highway and the railroad cross. The encounter between train and motor vehicle at a crossing was analyzed on a variable basis, so that evaluation can be made for any given situation.

For a given combination of the above variables, the demands placed on warning devices vary with the relative position of train and motor vehicle as they approach the crossing. The worst-case situation was identified as that in which the motor vehicle would just make it across the tracks ahead of the train. The Critical Encounter was defined as the position of a motor vehicle relative to the position of a train at the instant when:

1. The motor vehicle is at its stopping distance from a grade crossing.

2. The train is just far enough from the crossing to allow the motor vehicle time to clear if it does not stop or slow down.

Analysis of the Critical Encounter resulted in a table of distances and angles over which warnings must be transmitted for various combinations of the variables.

<u>Visibility</u> - A good visual warning system functions in several ways. It informs the motorist that something is there, helps him identify the object as a locomotive, and gives him cues for his estimation of the degree of hazard the locomotive represents. The natural illumination of daylight should be used when available, but artificial lighting is needed to substitute for natural light when this is absent. Compounding the problem is the immense variety of backgrounds against which a train must be seen, and the range of lighting and atmospheric environments in which it is operated.

A review of the literature pertinent to conspicuity and alerting qualities was made, including such factors as hue and brightness for contrast, size of color areas, fluorescent and regular colors, the use of lights during daylight, and the special problems of night alerting, such as cues for estimation of distance and movement. Available lighting devices were surveyed, including headlights, swept headlights and roof lights. Visual displays such as

Reproduced from best available copy.

ا الله المحمد المراجع المحمد المراجع ا

lights and fluorescent color panels were applied to a locomotive and evaluated in the field.

An experiment was conducted in order to test the validity of conclusions made in the literature review and evaluations of visual factors. Test subjects were asked to judge the relative conspicuity of pairs of color schemes or lighting treatments as displayed from color slides side-byside on a screen. Conditions of background lighting, etc. were fully controlled by using a scale model locomotive in an indoor studio as the subject for all slides. Thirty-nine slide pairs were shown twice (in reverse order and position the second time) to a panel of thirteen subjects.

<u>Audibility</u> - Air powered horns are almost universally used on locomotives as the basic audible warning device at grade crossings. The prime objectives in the audibility study were to determine the performance characteristics of commonly-used locomotive horns, and to relate these characteristics to the ability of horns to warn drivers in real crossing encounters. Other objectives were to identify the nuisance value of different horns to communities, and to suggest lines for future research into improved audible warnings.

Several techniques were used to measure the sound levels produced by various horns. Stationary measurements were made of new horns in a single location that had been measured to provide readings at several known distances and angles. Other stationary measurements were made in railroad yards, at known distances, of horns on in-service locomotives. Wayside recordings and measurements were made at crossings on different railroads at several locations.

An empirical experiment was conducted to gauge the ability of persons driving motor vehicles to perceive various audible warning sounds. Vehicles were equipped with a sound system which presented recorded warning sounds from an outside loudspeaker. Eighty-one one hour trials were conducted, covering all combinations of three types of vehicles, three driver age groups, three speed ranges, and three types of distraction. Grade crossing accident statistics were used as an aid in selecting the vehicle classes and age groups. This experiment evaluated both the amplitude and tonality of warning sounds.

Nuisance was studied by a review of the literature on noise and nuisance, and by an experiment in which several sounds were presented to subjects as they performed mathematical tasks.

Performance Criteria for Audible Warnings

This section is preliminary to the Audibility Conclusions and Recommendations, in that it draws together the several studies relating to audible warnings, in order to establish performance criteria that lead to the actual conclusions and recommendations.

Establishing Requirements - A three-step approach was used to establish the requirements for adequate audible warnings:

- 1. Determine the sound level required outside a motor vehicle in order to be perceived as a warning by the driver.
- 2. Determine the distance across which the sound must travel in order to reach the motorist before it is too late for him to take action.
- 3. Determine the attenuation of the sound as it covers the required distance. This can be referred to some common distance used in sound-level measurements of horns.

The information required to fulfill these requirements was developed in different parts of the study. The work is described in detail in various chapters in this report. In this section, the elements of the study which led to performance criteria for audible warnings will be brought out, and these elements will be placed in logical order as they apply to these criteria.

Step 1: Sound Level at the Vehicle - An empirical method of determining the sound level required outside a motor vehicle was devised, and a testing program based on this method was conducted (details in Chapter 9). Vehicles were equipped with a sound system which projected recorded railroad horns and other warnings at known levels to the driver from outside the vehicle. The vehicles were then driven in traffic on one-hour trials during which the recordings were played. At intervals of about 20 to 70 seconds, sounds were presented; on each trial, nine sounds were presented at seven levels (63 presentations). Drivers reported to an observer in the car when they heard a sound, and the observer marked the response on a data sheet.

The result was 729 experimentally-obtained sound level values at which the sounds were perceived under different driving conditions. The lowest value was 70 dB, the highest was 110 dB, and the overall average (mean) was 87 dB. Table 16 (Chapter 9) shows, for each of the various driving conditions, the mean sound level and the standard deviation. The values in the table are average values; that is, one can predict that if a sound is presented under the conditions specified many times at the mean value, it will be heard ap-

proximately half the time.

In order to be sure that virtually all drivers will hear the sound (or that the sound has a high level of demand for a driver's attention), the sound level should be increased by three times the standard deviation. Thus the mean for all low-speed presentations is 83 dB, to which 18 dB (three times standard deviation) is added to equal 101 dB; this value is used in this report as the required sound level to alert a driver going less than 35 MPH. The corresponding value for vehicles going 36-50 MPH is 105 dB, and for 51-65 MPH it is 109 dB.

<u>Step 2: Required Distance</u> - A geometrical analysis was prepared (see Chapter 3) to locate the position of a motor vehicle relative to a train at the time when its driver must be warned of the train's approach. This is used in determining the required distance over which horn must be audible.

It is too late to warn a motorist who is closer to the crossing than his stopping distance; he is going to enter the crossing. If the train is far enough from the crossing, the motorist will be able to drive across the tracks before the train gets there. The Critical Encounter is defined as the situation when a motorist is at his stopping distance from the crossing and the train is just far enough away that the motorist can make it across the tracks with nothing to spare.

A motorist should receive warning before he reaches the Critical Encounter, so that he can make a normal stop before the crossing. The Critical Encounter_is a situation in which the motorist will have a close call whether he uses full braking or keeps going at the same speed; half-hearted braking will not keep him off the tracks, but will only delay his arrival until the train is there.

Table 1 gives distances from train to motor vehicle for right-angle crossings for a 40 foot vehicle on wet pavements. This table is a summary of information given in the more complete Table 4 in Chapter 3. Similar calculations can be made for other crossing angles, vehicle lengths, or assumed stopping distances.

When considering the required distance over which an audible warning must travel, the time that it takes the sound to travel from the train to the motor vehicle is sometimes an important factor. This is generally true if the train is going at 60 MPH or faster.

TABLE 1. GEOMETRY OF THE CRITICAL ENCOUNTER

Distances from train to motor vehicle for speeds indicated: (feet)

| MOTOR | VEHICLE | SPEED | | | |
|-------|---|---|--|--|--|
| 20 | 30 | 40 | 50 | 60 | 70 |
| | | | | | |
| 171 | 235 | 348 | 491 | 662 | 868 |
| 241 | 285 | 390 | 527 | 695 | 899 |
| 324 | 351 | 449 | 581 | 746 | 947 |
| 411 | 426 | 519 | 648 | 810 | 1010 |
| 501 | 504 | 596 | 724 | 885 | 1085 |
| 591 | 586 | 679 | 807 | 969 | 1169 |
| 683 | 670 | 764 | 895 | 1058 | 1261 |
| 774 | 754 | 852 | 987 | 1154 | 1359 |
| 867 | 840 | 941 | 1081 | 1252 | 1463 |
| 959 | 926 | 1032 | 1178 - | 1354 | 1570 |
| 1052 | 1012 | 1124 | 1275 | 1458 | 1681 |
| | MOTOF 20 171 241 324 411 501 591 683 774 867 959 1052 | MOTOR VEHICLE 20 30 171 235 241 285 324 351 411 426 501 504 591 586 683 670 774 754 867 840 959 926 1052 1012 | MOTOR VEHICLE SPEED 20 30 40 171 235 348 241 285 390 324 351 449 411 426 519 501 504 596 591 586 679 683 670 764 774 754 852 867 840 941 959 926 1032 1052 1012 1124 | MOTOR VEHICLE SPEED 20 30 40 50 171 235 348 491 241 285 390 527 324 351 449 581 411 426 519 648 501 504 596 724 591 586 679 807 683 670 764 895 774 754 852 987 867 840 941 1081 959 926 1032 1178 - 1052 1012 1124 1275 | MOTOR VEHICLE SPEED2030405060 171 235348491662241285390527695324351449581746411426519648810501504596724885591586679807969683670764895105877475485298711548678409411081125295992610321178135410521012112412751458 |

This table was calculated for right-angle crossings, a motor vehicle 40 feet long, and wet pavements. The following stopping distances were used:

· — · .

| Motor Vehicle | Stopping |
|---------------|----------|
| Speed | Distance |
| | |
| 20 | 117 |
| 30 | 196 |
| 40 | 315 |
| 50 | 461 |
| 60 · | 634 |
| 70 | 841 |

. -

an The second se

These stopping distances were taken from the Traffic Engineering Handbook, Third Edition (1965), of the Institute of Traffic Engineers, Washington, D. C.

The information shown here is summarized from Table 4 in Chapter 3.

Consider a Critical Encounter between a train going 60 MPH and a motor vehicle going 70 MPH. The motorist must receive his warning when the train is approximately 1100 feet away from him. Since the speed of sound is approximately 1100 feet per second, the sound which the motorist is to hear when he is at the Critical Point <u>originated at</u> the source one second earlier. Since 60 MPH is equivalent to 88 feet per second, the train was 88 feet further back from the crossing than the 781 feet shown in Table 2. The new geometry results in a Radial Distance of 1230 feet rather than the 1169 shown in the table, an increase of 61 feet or about five percent. For very high train speeds, such as those attained by the Metroliner, this can increase the required range by as much as fifteen percent.

<u>Step 3: Sound Attenuation</u> - Sound level measurements of horns were made at various distances, and results were compared (for the same horn at different distances) in order to obtain a rule for the attenuation of audible warnings with distance. Details of these measurements are to be found in Chapter 8.

The 'Inverse-Square Law' was found to be adequate for describing the attenuation of horn sounds. It states that the power i.. a sound varies as the inverse of the square of the distance. For each factor of two in distance, the sound level changes by 6 dB, and for each factor of 1.4 in distance, the sound level changes by 3 dB. For example, if a horn produces 110 dB at 100 feet and we wish to find its expected level at 600 feet, we note that 560 feet is $100 \times 2 \times 2 \times 1.4$ feet, so we subtract the total of 6 + 6 + 3 or 15 dB to obtain 95 dB at 560 feet.

Finding a Required Sound Level - For a given crossing situation, the required performance of a horn can be found by putting the three elements together. Consider a right-angle crossing where the speed limit for both motor vehicles and trains is 50 MPH.

1. At 50 MPH the mean sound level required for perception plus three standard deviations is 105 dB (see Table 16).

2. The radial distance from train to motor vehicle for a right angle crossing with highway and railroad speed limits is 724 feet, and the angle is 41 degrees (see Table 4). Since the train speed limit is under 60 MPH, sound propagation delay can be ignored.

Using the inverse-square law, the ratio of 724 feet to 100 feet is 7.24; the square of this is 52.4. A power ratio of 52.4 is equal to 17 dB. The required 100-foot rating for the horn is 105 + 17or 122 dB at 41 degrees off-axis (the approximation of the distance ratio as 8 to 1 would have allowed estimation of the dB difference as follows: $8 = 2 \times 2 \times 2$ so the dB change is 6 + 6 + 6 = 18; the 1 dB error is not serious).

The same series of calculations can be made for other crossing situations.

3.

Summary Table - Conclusions and Recommendations

The findings, conclusions, recommendations, and suggestions for further research developed in this study are summarized in Table 2. The first part of the table is for results having to do with audible warnings, and the second part is for results having to do with visibility. Each item in the table is discussed more completely in the text of the following sections in this chapter.

Audibility Conclusions and Recommendations

Horn Performance Levels - The criteria for adequate horn performance developed in the previous section can be compared with the measured performance of actual horns (discussed in Chapter 8 and summarized in Table 12). The example in the previous section analyzes a crossing where both the highway and the railroad have speed limits of 50 MPH. For this crossing, an adequate warning requires that 105 dB be produced outside a motor vehicle 724 feet away from the train. Manufacturers often rate their horns in terms of sound level produced at 100 feet; a horn that produces 105 dB at 724 feet would have a rating of 122 dB at 100 feet. Table 12 gives 108 dB as the typical railroad horn sound level at 100 feet. This is 14 dB below the level required for an adequate warning in this situation.

In the case of a right-angle crossing where the railroad and highway speed limits are 70 MPH, 109 dB is required at a range of 1261 feet in order to be effective in warning virtually all drivers under wet pave-

as electronic siren or 'Warbler' for railway use with distinctive sounds; Develop varying-sound horns such FURTHER RESEARCH test in service RECOMMENDATIONS 50 MPH vs. motor vehicle 50 MPH Horn performance levels defined vehicles determined; tests show 105 dB req. for veh. at 50 MPH driver's perdeption of warnings @ 41 degrees off-axis for train devices calcylated; i. e. 724 ft. Sounds inside motor vehicle as Required sound levels outside Sounds that vary in pitch have high alerting value radio or road noise degrade Required range of warning FINDINGS/CONCLUSIONS

**

TABLE 2. SUMMARY OF RESULTS (Page 1)

| FINDINGS/CONCLUSIONS | R ECOMMENDATIONS | FURTHER RESEARCH |
|--|--|--|
| Horns have marginal output as warning devices in high-speed encounters, as train moving at 50 MPH vs. motor vehicle moving at 50 MPH | Use high-output horns, with a double-stem valve for reduced nuisance when lower output is adequate Mount horns up high, up front On bi-directional locomotives use one horn on each end, or split 5 chimes between ends rimit highway speeds approach- ing some crossings | Test higher-output horns for performance and crew, community nuisance |
| Headlight beam is too narrow for motorists to see well at typical angles of encounter | Apply wide-angle lighting such as roof lights or panels On multiple-unit trains, light interior of first car at night | Develop lighted panels for front and sides of locomotive; test for serviceability and crew nuisance |
| Freight cars hard to see in night backward switching movements | | Develop adequate portable lamps to attach to cars; test |
| | | |

.

1 1

TABLE 2. SUMMARY OF RESULTS (Page 2)

.

| FURTHER RESEARCH | Test roof lights for value and for nuisance to crew members at night Develop adequate portable lamps for cars in backing movements | Develop means to flash roof lamps at a rate proportional to train speed as a motion cue; test in service | Develop a system of replaceable color panels (metal renewable or paper disposable) so that faded fluorescent colors can be economically renewed; test |
|--------------------------|--|---|---|
| R ECOMM ENDATIONS | Use high-output roof lights, with a bright/dim switch for less crew nuisance at night Mount light fixtures to avoid stack dirt; keep clean | Use paired roof lights, area (panel) lights to give dimen- sional cues at night Use alternate-flashing strobe roof lights to suggest motion when train is moving | Use a color scheme that con- tains two bright contrasting colors in large area pattern |
| FINDINGS/CONCLUSIONS | Lights must be very bright to add to conspicuity of loco- tive in daylight | Estimation of distance and speed of train by motorist is especially difficult at night | Large areas of bright color have value for visibility Fluorescent colors are useful No single color offers high contrast with all backgrounds |

,,

#

TABLE 2. SUMMARY OF RESULTS (Page 3)

13

••

.÷.,

ment conditions. 'Virtually all' drivers does not include those who are drunk, sleepy, or seriously distracted from driving. A horn that can produce 109 dB at 1200 feet would be rated at 130 dB at 100 feet, 22 dB louder than the typical horn. Railroad horn performance is summarized for various train and motor vehicle speeds in Table 3. The table is not intended to be complete but rather, illustrative. It should be noted that lowering the highway speed limit has a greater effect in improving the ability of the railroad horn to effectively warn motorists, than does lowering the railroad speed limit.

<u>Masking of Warnings</u> - Sounds inside a motor vehicle have a significant degrading effect on the driver's perception of audible warnings. The trials in the test series (Empirical Testing of Warning Qualities as described in Chapter 9) in which the radio was playing, produced a mean value for perception 4.23 dB higher than runs with no distractions (see Table 16). There was also a strong effect on perception of warnings caused by the speed of the motor vehicle. The trials in the test series in the speed range 51-65 MPH, produced a mean value for perception 8.66 dB higher than runs in the range 21-35 MPH. It is reasonable to conclude that this degradation in perception was caused (at least in part) by masking of the warning by higher engine and road noise at the higher speed.

<u>Varying Tones</u> - Two electronically produced sounds were used in the Empirical Testing of Warning Qualities (Chapter 9); these sounds varied in amplitude and pitch during the presentation. One was an electronic siren from a fire engine, and the other was specially produced for this study. Both sounds performed well in the testing, and were perceived at lower-than-average sound levels.

<u>Audibility Recommendations</u> - The conclusions above show that present railroad horns cannot warn motorists reliably when either the train or the motor vehicle is going very fast. To 'warn' a motorist, the sound must penetrate into his vehicle and override ambient noise to alert him, while the vehicle is far enough away from the crossing to still be able to stop. It is not suggested that horns are seldom heard by motorists, but rather, that they fail to reach some motorists and are thus questionable as primary warning devices. In the encounter between a 50 MPH train and a 50 MPH motor vehicle, the typical horn could reach more than 50% of drivers at the required 724 feet.

TABLE 3

| Train Speed | Motor Veh. Speed | Range | & Angle | Req'd. Sound Level | Avail. Sound Level | Performance Index |
|----------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|
| MPH | MPH | feet | degr. | dB | dB | dB |
| 70 70 70 50 | 70 50 30 70 50 | 1261 895 670 1085 724 | 43 32 18 52 41 | 109 105 101 109 | 87 90 93 87* | -22 -15 -8 -22 |
| 50 | 30 | 504 | 25 | 101 | 96 | -5 |
| 30 30 30 | 70 50 30 | 947 581 351 | 65 55 37 | 109 105 101 | 87* 92* 99 | -22 -13 -2 |

RAILROAD HORN PERFORMANCE

The Range is the distance from train to motor vehicle. The warning must alert the motorist at this range if he is to stop in time, where the pavement is wet, the crossing angle is 90 degrees, and speeds are as indicated (see Chapter 3). The Angle is measured between the Range line and the axis of the train.

The Required Sound Level is the mean value plus three standard deviations of sound levels required for perception of warnings presented outside motor vehicles in empirical testing of drivers. The test runs were grouped into three speed ranges, which accounts for the three different values shown (details in Chapter 9).

The Available Sound Level is calculated from the average of measured sound levels of 8 different horns at 300 feet, using the Inverse-Square Law to adjust sound levels for distance (reported in Chapter 8). An asterisk (*) indicates a deduction from horn output because horn output is less at large angles than on-axis. One decibel is deducted at 52 or 55 degrees, and three decibels is deducted at 65 degrees.

The Performance Index is the Available Sound Level minus the Required Sound Level. The negative numbers in this column indicate the amount by which the horn fails to meet the given criteria, in decibels. The following recommendations are offered in the context of the finding that horns are not a suitable primary warning in high-speed encounters. They are improvements, but cannot cure the basic problem that a warning sound must be quite loud to penetrate inside a motor vehicle and warn its driver.

- 1. Use a high-output horn. The five-chime type is favored because its tone ranked well in tests of alerting qualities, its tone has many frequencies to override masking sounds, it has high sound output, and it will still function well if one chime fails. Nuisance studies show that this horn has a less disturbing tone than other types. It should be used with a double-stem air valve which makes it possible to sound the horn at reduced output when desired.
- 2. Horns should be mounted for optimum projection of sound: up front and up high. Streams of cooling air or stack gas should not be in the path of the sound. On locomotives operated with the long hood in front, the horn should be placed on the end of the hood. This will reduce the nuisance of the horn to the crew as well as improving performance.
- 3. Bi-directional locomotives should have a horn at each end. One economical way to accomplish this would be to split a five-chime horn with three chimes on one end and the remaining two on the _other end of the locomotive. All five chimes would be actuated together (solenoid valves at the horns actuated by an electric button at the engineer's control station would ensure that all five chimes start and finish a blast together).
- 4. At crossings where audible warnings must have a primary role because of poor visibility and/or no automatic protection, highway speed limits for approach to the crossing should require a low speed.
- 5. Further research should be directed toward the use of louder horns on trains. Availability of louder horns, use of present horns with higher air pressures, performance, crew nuisance, and community nuisance should be further studied.

16

es para sec

- 6. Further development of varying-sound horns is needed. This type of sound has above-average alerting value, but no such horns are presently offered as railroad hardware with sufficient output for use on road locomotives. Electronic horns are ideal for this purpose, since they can produce a very wide variety of sounds; however, the Leslie 'Warbler' demonstrates that air horns can also produce effective varying sounds. Any varying-sound horn should also be able to produce conventional horn sounds for signaling purposes. Such horns are innovative, and an in-service testing program is necessary before they would become routine hardware on locomotives.
- 7. Another subject worthy of study would be a re-evaluation of rules for the use of locomotive horns. There are crossing situations where the horn has little warning value but high nuisance value, and the present practice of routinely sounding the locomotive horn for all grade crossings may be questionable. Some communities already have passed legislation restricting the use of horns, particularly at night.

Visual Conclusions and Recommendations

Although audible warnings can have value for alerting motorists at a grade crossing, they have serious limitations. A person driving a motor vehicle guides it and avoids other traffic basically by <u>visual</u> means, and the rail-highway grade crossing is in many ways similar to any other intersecting traffic artery. Conspicuity, or the property of attracting attention by visual means, is a necessary characteristic of any vehicle which must alert motorists to its presence. Equally meaningful is identification of the perceived object and assessment of the danger which the object represents.

Evaluation of the conspicuity of a locomotive should consider the wide range of environmental conditions in which it is operated: the amount of available light, sky and terrain against which it is viewed, the amount of light radiated or reflected by the train, and angle of view from which the train is seen. Attenuation of the signal by atmospheric conditions such as fog and rain can also be of great importance.

Daylight Conspicuity - Two different approaches can be used to enhance the conspicuity of a locomotive in daylight:

- Utilizing the vailable light falling on <u>conspicuous color schemes</u>. Two contrasting colors should be used, one light and one dark, in a very bold pattern (large masses of color). The light color preferably would be a fluorescent type for maximum brightness.
- 2. Using high-intensity <u>light sources</u>. Roof lights using high-output omnidirectional xenon strobe lamps, or those which sweep the light of sealed-beam incandescent lamps in a full circle are valuable. The very high ambient light of sunlight demands that a very strong beam be directed right at the motorist, or the lamp will have no value at all in daylight.

The light sources in daylight are intended simply to catch the eye of the motorist and direct his attention toward the train. The color scheme has the additional function of aiding identification of the perceived object as an approaching train. Since in high-speed encounters the train should be identifiable at 1000 feet or more, the color scheme should contain large areas of bright color. Fluorescent colors are up to four times brighter than normal ones, and are therefore valuable for conspicuity despite their short service life outdoors. Fluorescent colors are also visually different from colors occurring in nature. The diversity of backgrounds against which a locomotive may be seen in grade crossing situations makes it very difficult to choose a single color which will contrast with all backgrounds, so two different colors should be designed into the color scheme.

<u>Night Conspicuity</u> - At night, light sources must be used to substitute for the daylight that is not present. The only large light used on most locomotives is a headlight or headlights projecting a bright, very narrow beam along the axis of the locomotive. There is also commonly a number board which is lighted, but this is too weak a light to constitute a good warning. The headlight beam is too narrow to send substantial light toward an approaching motorist in a grade crossing encounter.

It is far more difficult for a motorist to estimate a train's distance from him and its rate of travel at night than it is in daylight. The cues he can rely on in daylight involve seeing the size of the locomotive and its movement relative to a textured background, both of which require a certain amount of ambient light. A lighting scheme is required on the locomotive which will at least partly substitute for these missing cues. <u>Maintenance</u> - Visual displays, particularly those for use in daylight, must have high visual impact to be effective. Colors must be bright, and lights must have high actual output. Any bright color scheme, fluorescent or not, requires an above-average maintenance effort to retain its visual impact. In just a few months, even with frequent washing, a brown grime (apparently composed largely of iron oxide from brake shoes and wheels) begins to cover a locomotive's paint and dim its colors. Fluorescent colors, additionally, suffer from fading due to the ultraviolet energy of the sun and do not last more than about two years. Planning of visual devices such as paint schemes and lighting should include consideration of maintenance (i. e. mounting of lamps where stack gases won't dirty them too quickly), and scheduling of the necessary cleaning and renewal.

<u>Visibility Recommendations</u> - Many locomotives today are hard to see by day or by night. Color and lighting designs should have as their prime objective, good conspicuity at 1000 feet at all angles throughout the great environmental and background diversity in which trains are operated. The following recommendations, directed toward this objective, fall into three categories:

- <u>Color Schemes</u> Use a color scheme that contains two bright, contrasting colors in a large area pattern. An example would be a medium blue background color with several rectangular patches (or panels) of fluorescent yellow 3¹/₂ feet high by 5 feet wide, located on the nose and at the front and rear of each side.
- 2. <u>Roof Lights</u> The recommended treatment is to use two omnidirectional xenon strobe lamps, mounted on the cab roof near each side of the locomotive. They should be provided with a switch to give high intensity in daylight and lower intensity at night. They should flash alternately when the train is moving and simultaneously at a lower rate when it is standing still.

This configuration is by no means the only valuable way to use roof lights, but it provides all the functions listed below:

- a. Wide-angle conspicuity at night. A single roof light of almost any design, flashing or rotating, satisfies this basic need.
- b. A bright flash of light is excellent for getting attention in daylight. A single light can perform this function adequately,

if it has a high enough intensity. A lamp that is bright enough to be valuable in daylight will probably cause complaints from the locomotive crew at night; a switch should be provided to reduce intensity to a more tolerable level at night when extreme output is not required.

- c. Motorists should have a reference dimension at night for estimation of distance. Paired lights, one on each side of the cab roof with a standard separation, would help to provide this reference.
- d. Paired lights, flashing alternately, have value in suggesting motion at night when natural motion cues are lacking. The lamps should have a different flash pattern (simultaneously flashing) when the train is not moving.

Xenon strobe lamps were judged superior to incandescent lamps because they can provide a very quick, high-intensity, omnidirectional flash without moving parts. The color spectrum of the xenon lamp is reputed to be superior to incandescent lamps in penetrating haze and fog. The second choice is an incandescent lamp of the type which sweeps the light from steady-burning sealed beam units in a full circle. The flash perceived by an observer several hundred feet from such a lamp is much quicker and is more conspicuous than the flash that can be obtained by switching the lamp on and off.

3. <u>Panel Lights</u> - Lighted panels are a promising lighting device for improving locomotive conspicuity at night. They are distinctive (not commonly used on other vehicles), visible from a wide angular range, and provide a dimensional cue to aid motorists in estimating distance. The suggested size is about one foot high and six feet long, fluorescent lighted; they should be located above or below the cab windows on each side and on the nose.

Multiple-unit passenger coaches are naturally equipped with what amounts to panel lights - the lighted interior as viewed through the windows. Interior lights should be on in the front car at night, even if the car is closed off or the train is on a deadhead run.

Further Research - Some of the visual recommendations above are for devices or arrangements that have not seen any substantial testing in service. Although roof lamps have been considerable service on several railroads, there are unresolved questions concerning their use, involving optimum brightness and crew nuisance. The following are some desirable areas for further research:

- 1. The difficulty in keeping color schemes clean and bright leads to the recommendation that bright colors (particularly fluorescent) applied to locomotives for safety purposes be on easily-replaceable panels in order that they can be frequently renewed at low cost. Either a metal panel using sheeting, intended for re-coating and re-use, or a paper panel to be thrown away when faded could be used. A development program would be required to devise appropriate hardware for locomotive use (it might be adapted from the posters used for advertising on the outside of buses), and to test it in service.
- 2. Complaints have been made by crews of locomotives that have roof lights, about the annoyance caused by the flashes of light reflected from objects near the right-of-way. These lights should be tested to determine the optimum intensity for effectiveness and low nuisance.
- 3. The recommended use of paired roof lights that flash alternately when the train is moving should be tested in service. Additionally, it would be worthwhile to develop a means of flashing these lights at a rate proportional to the speed of the train. No really good cue to motorists exists by which they may estimate a train's speed at night; the recommended alternate-flashing lights suggest motion without indicating how fast the train is going.
- 4. Lighted panels do not presently exist in a form adapted to the needs of railroad service. Further research is needed to determine the best size, placement, intensity, and materials needed to make this an effective piece of hardware that will not annoy the crew, will not require excessive maintenance, and will not be unduly expensive.
- 5. When a cut of freight cars is being backed across a crossing at night, the lead car is usually unlit or carries only a dim lantern. Further research is needed to develop an adequate portable lamp to attach to the leading car. Such lamps must be easy to carry and attach, and should mount so as to be visible over wide angles of approach.

CHAPTER 3. THE ENCOUNTER: TRAIN VS. AUTOMOBILE

At What Range Must Devices Operate Effectively?

The above is a very basic question in the evaluation of the performance of a warning device. Its answer depends on the geometry of the encounter, when a train and a motor vehicle approach a crossing on what may be a collision course. The purpose of this chapter is to analyze this geometry and provide rational criteria for calculating the required range of effectiveness for warning devices.

Warning devices emit or reflect sound or light energy, and the observer receives less and less energy as he moves farther from the device. For any device, there is a distance beyond which the energy received by the observer is too small to produce an adequate warning stimulus. In other parts of this report, we will consider what constitutes an adequate stimulus, and how much stimulus is available from existing devices at various distances. This determines the maximum <u>available</u> range of devices.

The analysis which follows has as its purpose the determination of maximum required range of devices. It will show how the radial distance and angle over which the warning must be transmitted may be calculated for various conditions. This information can be combined with required levels at the motor vehicle and with transmission characteristics of the device, to specify the necessary intensity (at the device) and directivity of the warning under the specified conditions.

22

The radial distance and angle vary with :---

1. Speed of the train

2. Speed of the motor vehicle

3. Angle of the crossing

- 4. Length of the motor vehicle
- 5. Stopping characteristics of the motor vehicle
Analyzing the Encounter

<u>Critical Point</u> - Consider a motorist approaching a grade crossing (or any fixed hazard). By nature of his vehicle's speed and braking characteristics, he is committed to continuing his motion for some distance, the 'stopping distance'. If he is going 40 MPH and his stopping distance is 237 feet, it is too late to warn the motorist if he is less than 237 feet from the hazard; he cannot stop before reaching it (the term 'stopping distance', as used in this report, means the sum of perception-reaction distance and braking distance).

When the motorist is at his stopping distance from a grade crossing, he is at the <u>Critical Point</u>, where he <u>must</u> decide to stop or proceed. Whether the motorist reaches the Critical Point is not dependent on the existence of a train or the speed of a train. He reaches it whenever he would have to use maximum braking to stop short of the crossing.

The driver who receives a warning with time to spare never reaches the Critical Point; he makes an early decision to come to a full stop and is able to do so without emergency braking. If he is merely slowing as a precaution due to partial warning (such as seeing the crossbucks at the crossing), his stopping distance is decreasing as his velocity decreases. At any nonzero speed, however, there is <u>some</u> point beyond which the motorist cannot stop before the crossing. By slowing, he moves the Critical Point closer to the crossing and reduces the distance over which the train's warning must be transmitted.

<u>Time to Clear</u> - Once the motorist has passed the Critical Point, his only chance to avoid a collision with a train is to be clear of the crossing before the train arrives. It is, therefore, useful to know how long it vill take for the vehicle to pass over the crossing after it passes the Critical Point, if the driver decides not to stop. The motorist will be assumed unable to change his path or to speed up significantly (these evasive actions are possible in some encounters); he can only continue at the same velocity or stop for the train.

The Time to Clear is the time it takes for the motor vehicle to travel the sum of its stopping distance plus its length plus the width of the crossing. This is the time during which the motorist is committed to being in the possible path of an approaching train.

The Critical Encounter - So far we have considered the motor vehicle as it approaches a crossing, passes the Critical Point, and crosses the tracks; the relative position of the train has not yet been defined. The situation that places the greatest demand on train-mounted warning devices is that when the motor vehicle can just 'make it' across the tracks ahead of the train, if it does not slow down.

The important moment in this situation is when the motorist reaches the Critical Point, since this is the last instant when a warning is of any use in keeping him off the tracks. Thus we define the Critical Encounter as the position of a motor vehicle relative to the position of a train at the instant when:

- 1. The motor vehicle is at its stopping distance from a grade crossing (the Critical Point) and,
- 2. The front of the train is just far enough from the crossing to allow the motor vehicle Time to Clear if it does not stop or slow down.

These two elements define the Critical Encounter because a motorist reaching the Critical Encounter will have a narrow escape whether he stops or goes across. He will either stop just short of the crossing or will get across just ahead of the train. Any slowing short of full braking will result in a collision.

The Geometry of the Critical Encounter

At the beginning of this chapter, the question was posed, "At what range must devices operate effectively?" Analysis of the geometry of the Critical Encounter can give the radial distance and angle over which the warning must be transmitted. This geometry can be analyzed either graphically or mathematically. After considering the geometrical relationships of the Critical Encounter, we will relate them to performance criteria.

<u>Graphical Analysis</u> - A plan view, drawn to scale, of an actual or hypothetical grade crossing can be used to lay-out the relationships in the Critical Encounter. This method can be used as a diagnostic tool for evaluating crossing hazards or planning the installation of advance warning signs, as well as for designing on-train warning devices.

Figure 1 illustrates a plan view for a right-angle crossing. The speeds of the fastest rail and highway traffic for the crossing are noted. The



stopping distance for motor vehicles at the maximum speed is found from a highway or traffic engineering handbook, for the desired pavement conditions. The length of the design motor vehicle, the highway width of the crossing, and the railroad width of the crossing are noted. Then:

- 1. The Critical Point, the stopping distance from the near edge of the crossing, is located on the roadway (Point 1).
- 2. The front of the motor vehicle is located on the roadway as its rear just clears the far edge of the crossing (Point 2).

The distance between Points 1 and 2 is the distance to clear, and the time required for the motor vehicle to cover this distance at its assumed initial speed is the time to clear.

3. The front of the train is located for a Critical Encounter. This is the distance along the track from the near edge of the crossing the train will cover during the Time to Clear (Point 3).

This distance is easily calculated by comparing the train speed with the motor vehicle speed. If a train is going as fast as the motorist, it will cover the same distance during the Time to Clear; if it is going twice as fast, it will cover twice the distance, etc.

4. A straight line is drawn connecting Points 1 and 3. The length of this line is the Radial Distance over which the warning must be transmitted, and the angle between this line and the centerline of the track defines the direction in which the warning must be transmitted.

<u>Critical Encounter as a Performance Criterion</u> - The graphical analysis makes it easy to visualize why the Radial Distance at the Critical Encounter is the range at which a warning device must operate effectively. Consider a motor vehicle with its front at Point 1, and a train with its front at Point 3; we shall move each vehicle without disturbing the other, and examine the implications:

If we move the motorist closer to the crossing than Point 1, we can see that it is too late to warn him, as he cannot avoid entering the crossing. If we move the motorist back from Point 1, we see that if he is warned now he will have extra **space** in which to stop. This is a desirable safety margin, but it does not define <u>minimum</u> per-

formance of the warning device.

If we move the train back from Point 3, we see that it is not necessary to warn the motorist at all, as he will be able to cover the distance from Point 1 to Point 2 before the train reaches the crossing. A warning at this time would provide a desirable safety margin, but it does not define minimum performance of the warning device.

If we move the train closer to the crossing than Point 3, we see that we have reduced the Radial Distance (if the track and road are roughly straight and cross at about 90 degrees) to a value less than the minimum defined at Point 3.

Thus the line connecting Points 1 and 3 is indeed the minimum Radial Distance across which the warning device must operate effectively.

<u>Graphical Example</u> - Figure 2 was constructed to illustrate a rightangle crossing on tangent track and a straight road. The railroad speed limit is 40 MPH, and the highway speed limit is also 40 MPH. The stopping distance at this speed was found to be 315 feet under wet conditions on the type of pavement used on the highway. The design motor vehicle is a truck 40 feet long, and both the railroad width and the highway width of the crossing are 30 feet.

Point 1 is then located, to scale, 315 feet down the highway from the near edge of the crossing zone. Point 2 is 315 + 30 + 40 = 385 feet ahead of Point 1, and is 40 feet beyond the far edge of the crossing zone. Since the speed of the train equals the speed of the motor vehicle, Point 3 is simply as far from the near edge of the crossing as Point 1 is from Point 2; 385 feet.

With Points 1 and 3 located, it is only necessary to measure the distance between them and apply the scaling factor to obtain the Radial Distance of 520 feet. The angle between the line connecting these points and the track is measured to obtain 39 degrees.

Tables of Required Warning Distances

The geometry of the Critical Encounter can be analyzed mathematically as well as graphically. The required formulasare given in Appendix C, along with a computer program in BASIC, suitable for use with many



.

time-sharing computer services. The program utilizes the computer's ability to calculate the radial distance and angle many times, for different combinations of train and motor vehicle speeds, in a very short time The computer program was used to generate Table 4. It is recognized that there are no universally-accepted criteria that establish values for stopping distances, design motor vehicle length, and crossing geometry. By changing the values of the data used in the program, tables can be produced that are based on any desired criteria and local conditions.

<u>Using the Tables</u> - Table 4 gives radial distances and angles across which warnings must be transmitted for a design vehicle 40 feet long at crossing angles of 60, 90, and 120 degrees (the 60 degree and 120 degree crossings are the same crossing as approached from opposite sides by either the train or the motor vehicle). The values for stopping distances used in the calculations are based on Wet Pavement values given in the <u>Traffic Engineering Handbook</u>, Third Edition, of the Institute of Traffic Engineers (1965).

For each motor vehicle speed, the table shows the stopping distance and the time and distance for the design vehicle to clear the crossing once it has reached the Critical Point. For each train speed, the train's distance from the near edge of the crossing is given, for a Critical Encounter. The radius and angle from the train to the motor vehicle is shown for each of the three selected crossing angles.

RUN RXR MOT VEH LENGTH 40 CRC

CROSS WIDTH HWY 30 CROSS WIDTH RR 30

| 187 |
|------------|
| CLR |
| TO |
| DIST |
| v |
| CLR |
| T 0 |
| TIME |
| - |
| 117 |
| DIST |
| STOP |
| 8 0 |
| SPD |
| VEH |
| MOT |

| | | | | CROSSI | ING ANGLE | S | |
|------------|------|--------|--------|--------|-----------|---------|--------|
| TR | AIN | 60 DI | EGREES | IG 06 | EGREES | 12 02 1 | EGREES |
| SPEED | DIST | RADIUS | ANGLE | RADIUS | ANGLE | RADIUS | ANGLE |
| 010 | 94 | 122 | 69 | 171 | 50 | 209 | 33 |
| 63 | 187 | 178 | 40 | 241 | 33 | 291 | 23 |
| 30 | 281 | 257 | 56 | 324 | 24 | 380 | 18 |
| 40 | 374 | 343 | 19 | 411 | 19 | 469 | 14 |
| 50 | 468 | 438 | 15 | 501 | 15 | 561 | 12 |
| 60 | 561 | 523 | 13 | 591 | 13 | 652 | 10 |
| 70 | 655 | 615 | 11 | 683 | 11 | 745 | 6 |
| 80 | 748 | 706 | 6 | 774 | 10 | 837 | 80 |
| 0 6 | 842 | 661 | 80 | 867 | 6 | 930 | 7 |
| 100 | 935 | 891 | 7 | 959 | Ø | 1022 | v |
| 110 | 1029 | 985 | 7 | 1052 | 7 | 1116 | Ŷ |

| 266 |
|------------|
| CLR |
| 10 |
| DIST |
| 9 10 |
| CLR |
| T 0 |
| TIME |
| |
| 196 |
| DIST |
| STOP |
| 30 |
| SPD |
| VEH |
| мот |

| | | | - | | | |
|----------|---------------|-------|--------|----------|--------|-----------|
| - | | | CR0SS1 | NG ANGLE | S | |
| | 60 DE | GREES | 30 06 | GREES | 120 DI | EGREES |
| | RADIUS | ANGLE | RADIUS | ANGLE | RADIUS | ANGLE |
| _ | 183 | 06 | 235 | 64 | 278 | 41 |
| | 202 | 65 | 285 | 48 | 349 | 32 |
| | 253 | 46 | 351 | 37 | 428 | 85 |
| | 321 | 35 | 426 | 30 | 509 | 21 |
| | 397 | 27 | 504 | 25 | 592 | 18 |
| | 178 | 22 | 586 | 21 | 678 | 16 |
| <u> </u> | 561 | 19 | 670 | 18 | 764 | 14 |
| _ | 645 | 16 | 754 | 16 | 849 | 12 |
| _ | 731 | 14 | 840 | 15 | 937 | 11 |
| | 817 | 13 | 926 | 13 | 1024 | 10 |
| | 903 | 12 | 1012 | 32 | 1111 | 6 |

TABLE 4. REQUIRED WARNING DISTANCES, WET PAVEMENT (Page 1)

CROSS WIDTH RR 30 CROSS WIDTH HWY 30

45

1

MOT VEH LENGTH 40

.

| 22 | <u> </u> | <u> </u> | | | _ | | | | - | | | | | |
|-----|----------|----------|------------|----------|----------|-----|--------|-----|-----|---------|-----|---------------|----------|-------------|
| ĕ | | S | ЭЛ | _ | | | | | | _ | _ | | | _ |
| СГВ | | REE | ANG | 46 | 37 | 31 | 27 | ຮູ | 21 | 19 | 1 | 5 1 | 14 | 13 |
| 2 | | DEG | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| - | | | SU | | | | | | | | | 4 | 80 | ຸ |
| 015 | | 20 | IDI | 397 | 170 | 549 | 533 | 720 | 310 | 106 | 992 | 108 | 117 | 127 |
| | | | R | • • | | | Ū | | | | • | - | - | - |
| | LES | - | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| В 7 | ANG | S С | GLE | _ | 8 | 2 | 10 | 4 | 6 | 9 | 9 | | 6 | 2 |
| CL | 9 | BRE | Ň | ٢ | ທີ | 4 | 4 | Ċ | Ň | Q | N | C) | Ä | - |
| 10 | SIA | DEC | _ | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ЭE | ROS | 06 | IUS | 80 | 0 | 6 | 6 | 9 | 6 | 4 | രാ | | 38 | 5 |
| TII | ວ | | AD | 34 | 390 | 44 | 51 | 59 | 67 | 76 | 85 | 94 | 10 | 11 |
| - | | | <u> </u> | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 5 | | | ы | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 31 | | SES | VGL | 101 | 31 | 54 | 51 | 11 | 34 | 6 | ŝ | 0 | 6 | 17 |
| ST | | GRI | A | - | w | Ŭ | | | ĺ | | | | - | - |
| DI | | DE | S | | | | | | | | | | | |
| rop | | _ | DIC | 51 | 6 | 8 | 10 | 37 | S | 2 | ŝ | 11 | Ŋ | ŝ |
| S | | 66 | RAI | ິ | ã | 31 | ю Г | 4 | 51 | ີ ເຄ | ŝ | 1 | æ | 6 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 40 | | | - | | ლ | 6 | S | _ | m | ব | 5 | \$ | 6 | 62 |
| D , | | _ | 15. | 96 | 61 | 28 | 38 | 48 | 576 | 67 | 770 | 86 | 96 | 10 |
| SP | | AIN | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| /EH | | TR | 0 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| T | | | EEI | 0 | 0 | 0 | õ | Ø | 0 | 0 | 0 | ø | 00 | 10 |
| Ψ | | | SF | 1 | <u></u> | e) | м | (1) | | ~ | æ | U. | - | |
| | | _ | | | | | _ | | _ | | | _ | _ | _ |

| 531 | | |
|------------|---|------|
| CLR | | |
| 0 | | |
| H | | |
| DIS | | |
| | | S |
| ~ | | ILES |
| 2 | | ANG |
| 15 | | NG I |
| T 0 | | SIN |
| MΕ | | ROS |
| II | | U |
| | | |
| - | | |
| 46 | | |
| IST | | |
| D | | |
| TOP | | |
| Ś | | |
| | | |
| 50 | | |
| D | | |
| S | | |
| VEH | | |
| ĨOT | | |
| 2 | 1 | |

| | | | | CROSS | ING ANGLE | S | |
|-------|-----------|----------|-------------------|---------|-----------|-----------|----------|
| TR | AIN | 60 DI | EGREES | 10 Ø6 | EGREES | 120 DI | EGREES |
| SPEED | DIST | RADIUS | ANGLE | RADIUS | ANGLE | RADIUS | ANGLE |
| 10 | 106 | 429 | 106 | 491 | 76 | 547 | 49 |
| 20 | 212 | 412 | 92 | 527 | 65 | 621 | 42 |
| 30 | 319 | 423 | 77 | 581 | 55 | 705 | 36 |
| 40 | 425 | 459 | 64 | 648 | 47 | 262 | 31 |
| 50 | 531 | 515 | 53 | 724 | 41 | 886 | 28 |
| 60 | 637 | 584 | 45 | 807 | 36 | 981 | 25 |
| 70 | 743 | 664 | 38 | 895 | 32 | 1078 | 85 85 |
| 80 | 850 | 750 | 33 | 987 | 63 | 1178 | 20 |
| Ø6 | 956 | 841 | 29 | 1081 | 26 | 1277 | 19 |
| 100 | 1062 | 935 | 2 6 | 1178 | 24 | 1378 | 17 |
| 011. | 1165 | 1031 | হ ৩ | 1275 | 22 | 1480 | 16 |
| TABI | LE 4. REQ | UIRED WA | RNING DIS | TANCES, | WET PAVI | EMENT (Pa | ge 2) |

31

•••

CROSS WIDTH HWY 30 ÷ •

•

MOT VEH LENGTH 46

CROSS WIDTH RR 30

DIST TO CLR 704 TIME TO CLR 8

| TRAIN 60 DEGREES 90 DEGREES 120 DEGREES 10 117 594 109 060 DEGREES 120 DEGREES 10 117 594 109 662 79 724 51 20 235 567 98 746 61 891 39 20 235 564 86 746 61 891 39 20 235 564 86 746 61 891 39 20 358 564 86 746 61 891 39 20 704 55 969 47 1084 31 20 784 53 985 31 39 36 31 20 784 78 810 53 98 31 31 60 704 55 969 47 1084 31 30 1185 28 <t< th=""><th>MOT VEH</th><th>SPD 60</th><th>STOP D</th><th>IST 634</th><th>TIME TO</th><th>0 CLR 8</th><th>DIST</th><th>TO CLR 70</th></t<> | MOT VEH | SPD 60 | STOP D | IST 634 | TIME TO | 0 CLR 8 | DIST | TO CLR 70 |
|---|---------|--------|--------|---------|---------|-----------|--------|-----------|
| TRAIN 60 DEGREES 90 DEGREES 120 DEGREES 120 DEGREES 120 DEGREES 120 DEGREES 120 DEGREES 100 111 S94 S1 ANGLE RADIUS ANGLE RADIUS ANGLE RADIUS ANGLE RADIUS ANGLE RADIUS ANGLE RADIUS ANG S1 T24 S1 31 32 20 235 564 86 746 61 891 39 30 39 30 39 30 39 30 | • | | | | CROSS | ING ANGLE | 2 | |
| SPEED DIST RADIUS ANGLE RADIUS ANG 51 724 51 20 235 567 98 662 79 724 51 30 352 564 86 746 61 891 39 40 469 587 627 64 885 47 1084 31 50 587 627 64 885 47 1084 31 60 704 687 55 969 42 1185 28 70 821 760 48 1056 34 1397 24 70 823 1058 36 42 1154 34 1397 24 80 136 1154 34 1255 31 1564 26 106 1291 30 1254 29 | TR | A I N | 60 D | EGREES | IQ 06 | EGREES | 1 20 | DEGREES |
| 10 117 594 109 662 79 724 51 20 235 567 98 695 69 804 44 30 352 564 86 746 61 891 39 40 469 584 74 810 53 985 35 40 469 584 74 810 53 985 35 50 587 627 64 885 47 1084 31 50 704 687 55 969 42 1185 28 60 704 687 55 969 42 1185 28 70 821 760 48 1058 34 1397 24 90 1056 934 37 1254 34 1397 24 100 1291 30 1254 29 1654 26 1614 20 100 1291 30 1458 26 1458 26 1504 | SPEED | DIST | RADIUS | ANGLE | RADIUS | ANGLE | RADIUS | ANGLE |
| 20 235 567 98 695 69 804 44 30 352 564 86 746 61 891 39 40 469 584 74 810 53 985 35 50 587 627 64 86 746 61 891 39 50 587 627 64 885 47 1084 31 50 704 687 55 969 42 1185 28 60 704 687 55 969 42 1185 28 60 939 844 42 1154 34 1397 24 90 1056 934 33 1254 29 1614 20 100 1291 1030 33 1354 29 1614 20 100 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 100 1291 30 1458 26 1614 20 100 | 10 | 117 | 594 | 109 | 662 | 61 | 724 | 51 |
| 30 352 564 86 746 61 891 39 40 469 584 74 810 53 985 35 50 587 627 64 810 53 985 35 50 587 627 64 885 47 1084 31 60 704 687 55 969 42 1185 28 70 821 760 48 1058 36 1289 26 70 821 760 42 1154 34 1397 24 90 1056 934 37 1254 34 1397 24 90 1056 934 37 1254 29 1614 20 100 1291 30 1254 26 1725 19 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 1001 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 110 1291 30 </td <td>50</td> <td>235</td> <td>567</td> <td>98</td> <td>695</td> <td>69</td> <td>804</td> <td>44</td> | 50 | 235 | 567 | 98 | 695 | 69 | 804 | 44 |
| 40 469 584 74 810 53 985 35 50 587 627 64 885 47 1084 31 60 704 687 55 969 42 1185 28 70 821 760 48 1058 36 1289 26 90 939 844 42 1154 34 1397 24 90 1056 934 37 1254 34 1397 24 90 1056 934 37 1254 34 1397 24 100 1173 1030 33 1354 29 1614 20 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 MOT VEH SPD 70 STOP DIST 841 TIME TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR 9 | 30 | 352 | 564 | 86 | 746 | 61 | 168 | 39 |
| 50 587 627 64 885 47 1084 31 60 704 687 55 969 42 1185 28 70 821 760 48 1058 36 1185 26 80 939 844 42 1154 34 1397 24 90 1056 934 37 1252 31 1564 28 90 1173 1030 33 1252 31 1564 28 100 1173 1030 33 1354 29 1614 20 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 MOT VEH SPD 70 STOP DIST 841 TIME TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR 0 0 | 40 | 469 | 584 | 74 | 810 | 53 | 985 | 35 |
| 60 704 687 55 969 42 1185 28 70 821 760 48 1058 38 1289 26 80 939 844 42 1154 34 1397 24 90 1056 934 37 1252 31 1564 22 90 1056 934 37 1252 31 1564 22 100 1173 1030 33 1354 29 1614 20 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 100 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 | 50 | 587 | 627 | 64 | 885 | 47 | 1084 | 31 |
| 70 821 760 48 1058 36 1289 26 80 939 644 42 1154 34 1397 24 90 1056 934 37 1252 31 1564 22 90 1173 1036 33 1354 29 1614 20 100 1173 1036 33 1354 29 1614 20 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 101 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 101 1291 36 1458 26 1725 19 MOT VEH SPD 70 STOP DIST 841 TIME TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 | . 09 | 704 | 687 | 55 | 969 | 42 | 1185 | 28 |
| 80 939 844 42 1154 34 1397 24 90 1056 934 37 1252 31 1504 22 100 1173 1030 33 1354 29 1614 20 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 MOT VEH SPD 70 STOP DIST 841 TIME TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR | 10 | 821 | 160 | 48 | 1058 | . 38 | 1289 | 26 |
| 90 1056 934 37 1252 31 1504 22 100 1173 1030 33 1354 29 1614 20 110 1291 1030 33 1354 29 1614 20 110 1291 30 1458 26 1725 19 MOT VEH SPD 70 STOP DIST 841 TIME TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR | 80 | 626 | 844 | - 42 | 1154 | 34 | 1397 | 24. |
| 100 1173 1036 33 1354 29 1614 20 110 1291 1131 30 1458 26 1725 19 MOT VEH SPD 70 STOP DIST 841 TIME TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR | 86 | 1056 | 934 | 37 | 1252 | 31 | 1504 | 22 |
| 110 1291 1131 30 1458 26 1725 19 MOT VEH SPD 70 STOP DIST 841 TIME TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR | 100 | 1173 | 1030 | 33 | 1354 | 63 | 1614 | 20 |
| MOT VEH SPD 70 STOP DIST 841 TIME TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR | 110 | 1631 | 1131 | 30 | 1 458 | 26 | 1725 | 19 |
| MOT VEH SPD 70 STOP DIST 841 TIME TO CLR 9 DIST TO CLR | • | | | | | | • | . • . |
| | MOT VEH | SPD 70 | STOP D | IST 841 | TIME T | O CLR 9 | DIST | TO CLR 9 |
| | | | | | | | | |

| , . | | | - | CROSS | ING ANGLE | Ś | |
|---------|------|--------|--------|--------|-----------|---------|------------|
| TR | AIN | 60 DI | EGREES | IG 06 | EGREES | 120 DI | EGREES |
| \$PEED | DIST | RADIUS | ANGLE | RADIUS | ANGLE | RADIUS. | ANGLE |
| 10 | 130 | 79.3 | 111 | 868 | 80 | 937 | 52 |
| 60 | 260 | 757 | 102 | 668 | 72 | 1022 | 47 |
| 30 | 390 | 742 | 92 | 947 | 65 | 1115 | 42 |
| 40 | 521 | 749 | 82 | 1010 | 58 | 1216 | 38 |
| 50 | 651 | 779 | 72 | 1085 | 52 | 1322 | 34 |
| 60 | 781 | 828 | 64 | 1169 | 47 | 1431 | 31 |
| 10 | 116 | 893 | 56 | 1261 | 43 | 1544 | 6 2 |
| 80 | 1041 | 972 | 50 | 1359 | 39 | 1659 | 27 |
| 96 | 1171 | 1060 | 44 | 1463 | 36 | 1776 | 25 |
| 100 | 1301 | 1157 | 40 | 1570 | 33 | 1895 | 23 |
| 110 | 1432 | 1260 | 36 | 1681 | 31 | 2016 | 22 |

TABLE : REQUIRED WARNING DISTANCES, WET PAVEMENT (Page 3)

32[.]

CHAPTER 4. VISUAL - ALERTING AND CONSPICUITY

Alerting

Alerting and conspicuity are related, but it is possible for a train to be conspicuous (easily seen) without alerting a motorist to the presence of danger. The motorist needs to be given as much information as possible so that he may correctly decide whether danger exists. This study is concerned with conspicuity as it relates to alerting, and therefore devices intended to make a locomotive conspicuous should, as much as possible, work to:

1. Tell the motorist that something is there.

2. Tell the motorist that what he sees is a locomotive.

- 3. Tell the motorist if the train is on a track that will cross the road on which he is driving. This can only be done imperfectly by on-train devices, and it is generally a function of the train's horn.
- 4. Aid the motorist in estimating the distance he is from the train.
- 5. Aid the motorist in estimating the speed and direction of the train's motion.

Having correctly noted and estimated these factors, if there is danger, the motorist is <u>alerted</u> to the danger and takes appropriate action. Partial alerting can take place where the motorist has not enough information to make all needed estimates. A partially-alerted driver can be expected to slow down and actively search for more details.

Literature Review

A review of the literature pertinent to alerting qualities was utilized in determining the direction to be taken in this <u>study</u>, and in pointing to the experimental approach to be utilized. The characteristics of visual stimuli for alerting are much more complex than those of sound. Although visual stimulus may be used as a primary alerting signal, it is used more frequently for verification and localization of an auditory stimulus. The visual signal serves two purposes: to alert an operator to the presence of the locomotive, and to allow him to approximate the closing rate of the train and its distance from the observer.

The literature review was directed at finding answers to the following questions:

- 1. Considering the range of levels of background light, what type of visual signal(s) is most apparent in daylight?
- 2. Which type(s) of signal will have utility over the greatest range of conditions (night, fog, dusk, bright daylight, etc.)?
- 3. What levels and forms of energy are needed for:

(a) directed

(b) incidental viewing of the locomotive?

Conspicuity in Daylight

The performance level of on-train alerting devices must be considered from the perspective of the senses utilized. The auditory and visual stimuli must be considered independently. The visual stimuli in turn require subdivision into reflective and propagative light sources. The reflective sources for daylight are color combinations and designs. An analysis of the conspicuity of the color combinations during daylight requires consideration of the following variables:

- 1. Hue of Pigment
- Which colors are most conspicuous when viewed against surrounding terrain, sky, etc.
- 2. Brightness of Pigment -

- Achromatic component of color on a white-black continuum. This is most important in contrasting the color intensity with the surrounding terrain, sky, etc.

- 3. Range of Sky Brightness
 - The reflected light must be conspicuous when viewed-against a wide range of sky brightness. This range of brightness is from 0.1 foot lamberts at twilight to 10,000 foot lamberts under sunlit clouds (see Appendix B).

- 4. Range of Ambient Light
- 5. Designs and Paint Combination
- 6. Distance for Viewing Train Conspicuity
- 7. Detection Potential

- The amount of light available for reflection for the pigment.
- The pattern and color pairs which together are most conspicuous under the greatest range of environmental conditions.
- The distance at which locomotives should be alerting will determine the size of the reflective surfaces.
- Alerting qualities of the light source affected by environmental conditions of fog, rain, dusk, etc.

The stimulus value of any alerting visual signal is a function of its contrast with the surrounding background. Against a dark background, an effective stimulus must appear bright, while against a bright background a dark contrasting area provides the best stimulus. Hence, a stimulus which may be effective under some environmental conditions may approach zero effectiveness under other conditions. A colored pigment that reflects a maximum of light falling on it is most effective under dark background conditions and bright ambient lighting. A colored pigment which reflects a minimum of light falling on it is best for bright skies.

Frequently research on conspicuity is performed at the detection threshold for that color, brightness, etc., level. This practice is not applicable to the solution of the alerting problem. It is recommended that factors from 100 to 1,000 times the threshold be applied to attract observers who are not actively searching for the stimulus (Breckenridge²). (See Bibliography.)

Conspicuity is not a constant but is dependent upon the contrast between the viewed object and its background. The greater the contrast the better the conspicuity. The light intensity falling on the locomotive varies from 0 to 5000 foot lamberts. To satisfy all requirements for maximum conspicuity, a high contrast must be maintained through all conditions of ambient light and all conditions of background brightness (Cobb⁴).

Conspicuity in itself is one component of the alerting-identifying process required for detecting and reacting to an approaching locomotive. However, knowing that something is there is different from knowing what

is there. Detection is dependent on the alerting quality while the identification is dependent on the information transfer operating over the required distance. Although the alerting quality of pigmented areas is directly proportional to the size of the area viewed, the identification function is related to other visual parameters.

Size of Color Areas - There is evidence that the colors presented should be on large areas. Narrow (six to nine inch) diagonal stripes, often effectively applied to slow-moving vehicles, lose their value at distances of several hundred feet. When viewed from such distances, the stripes blend visually into each other, resulting in an inconspicuous medium color. See Figure 3.

The dimensions of the painted surface should be seen to cover at least one-fifth of a degree of arc, as perceived from the required distance. Dimensions in excess of two-fifths of a degree do not show any improvement, while those less than one-fifth of a degree do yield a decrement in conspicuity (Siegel¹⁵). Siegel reports that, while the larger the area painted, the greater the conspicuity, areas in excess of two-fifths of a degree did not improve acuity or ability to perceive detail. Both conspicuity and acuity, taken together, are components of decision-reaction time.

By using trigonometric relationships, it is possible to determine the required dimensions of color areas to be seen to cover one-fifth of a degree at various distances:

| Distance | Dimension |
|----------|------------|
| 750 feet | 2-3/4 feet |
| 1000 | 3-1/2 |
| 1500 | 5-1/4 |
| 1/2 mile | 9 |

The 1000 foot distance, and its $3\frac{1}{2}$ foot dimension, was selected as the design distance for perception of color schemes. This is an adequate radial distance for a Critical Encounter between a train going 60 MPH and a motor vehicle going 60 MPH (see Table 4). Thus a color area would need to be $3\frac{1}{2}$ feet square or larger to be easily seen from 1000 feet away.

The motorist does not, however, generally see the approaching train from a direct head-on or side-view position. A color area seen at an angle is foreshortened and thus appears small than it is. To compensate for this, the horizontal dimension of the area should he increased to five



Figure 3. "Safety Stripes" lose their conspicuity when viewed from several hundred feet away, as required in high-speed encounters. The heavy white stripe along the side, however, will be conspicuous at a considerable distance.



Figure 4. A good color scheme in red and white, using a design bold enough to be seen at a considerable distance.

36a

feet. Thus the recommended minimum color area for application to locomotives is $3\frac{1}{2}$ feet high by 5 feet wide. See Figure 4.

<u>Specific Colors</u> - If the contrast between target and background brightness is high, the addition of color contributes little to the visual acuity. When the brightness contrast is low, color can improve the visual acuity appreciably. However, acuity or visual resolution is increased much more by improved brightness contrast than by increasing color contrast. It is true that detection is increased for both high brightness contrast and high color contrast. However, no single color meets all of the requirements necessary for maximum visibility under all terrain conditions and sky brightness. Yellow has the greatest reflectance, hence is the most stimulating relative to brightness. (The brightness contrasts and conspicuity of pigments are reported by Siegel¹⁵, Cook⁵, and Bynum³).

Fluorescent and ordinary pigments have different spectral energy radiation patterns. Fluorescent pigments absorb energy from the green, blue and near ultraviolet region of the spectrum, and re-emit this energy in a narrow spectral band. Conventional pigments simply absorb the light energy of other colors than pigment color, and reflect light of pigment color. Thus, under blue light, conventional orange pigments appear very dark while fluorescent orange pigments appear bright orange.

As in regular pigments, the fluorescent yellow/yellow-orange yields the maximum brightness among fluorescent pigments (Hanson⁸). The use of a fluorescent pigment increases the brightness of the painted surface and increases its conspicuity under conditions of contrast.

Blackwell¹, from a study of chromatic and achromatic stimuli, recommende that for overall effectiveness fluorescent yellow-orange be used, concluding that this color at a wavelength of approximately 555 mu has three times the reflectivity of orange, and approximately four times the reflectivity of its corresponding ordinary pigment (See Appendix E) Morgan¹¹ recommends:

1. Choose a color that contrasts most with the colors in the background.

- 2. Choose a brightness that differs as much as possible from the background. Pick white or bright colors for targets on black backgrounds and vice versa.
- 3. Use a fluorescent color for targets against dark backgrounds.

4. Use as large an area of solid color as possible.

5. If the target has to be seen against various kinds of backgrounds, have the target in two contrasting colors, dividing the target so as to make the two areas of solid color as big as possible. One or the other of the two colors will contrast with most backgrounds.

<u>Colors for Contrast</u> - In line with the last recommendation, the literature indicates that reducing the brightness of the less bright contrasting color will yield increased conspicuity and that blue or a low-reflectance red might be recommended as the color against which the bright color is to be applied and viewed. Siegel¹⁵ reports that white or navy blue in combination with fluorescent red-orange improves conspicuity. Actually a generalization would indicate that coupled with a high-brightness color should be a low brightness color of maximum color contrast. However, two complementary colors attenuate each other's saturation, resulting in the experience of the gray attribute of brightness.

Conventional red is considered to offer good contrast with a wide variety of colors found in nature. However, it has the lowest reflectivity, poorest detection and recognition time under almost all daylight conditions. At twilight the shift in apparent brightness (Purkinje effect) is away from the red (Appendix F). In effect, red it the first color to approach black in conspicuity with a loss in the level of ambient lighting.

<u>Stainless Steel</u> - While not a common finish on locomotives, it is quite popular on late-model multiple-unit cars. This finish is a kind of no-color which, particularly when dirty, can blend into the background very easily. The best contrast to no-color is a highly saturated one, such as fluorescent red. Contrasting color areas, in the form of paint or of panels, should be applied to the front and sides to offset the camouflage effect of the stainless steel background.

Light Sources in Daylight - They can have considerable value in enhancing conspicuity, but extremely high intensity is required to afford sufficient contrast to the already very bright background. The time contrast afforded by a light sources that flashes (or by a sweeping motion, appears to flash) further improves the conspicuity of the light source. The required intensities can be obtained by direct viewing of the beam of an incandescent sealed-beam lamp (on-axis) or a high-intensity xenon strobe lamp.

Conspicuity at Night_____

When lights are visible, a driver's ability to differentiate these lights from the surrounding terrain and random illuminations, determines their

conspicuity. As the output of these lights approaches that of the surrounding countryside and the conspicuity approaches zero, there is a corresponding increase in decision-reaction time. The chief correlate of this is the extra time required for recognizing the light source as a train. The conspicuity of a light signal can be considered to be a function of the Signal-to-Noise Ratio, S/N. Surrounding lights, extraneous stimuli, and light energy not directly related to the signal light represent the noise against which the train signal must be evaluated.

In order to attract the attention of the motorist, a light stimulus must alert him even when he is not looking directly at it. Direct view is generally only utilized when an active search is being made for a stimulus. Conditions may arise when the auditory stimulus which cues the direct visual search has not been received. In these cases nondirect vision (peripheral) may become the prime mode of attention getting. Active visual search should not have to be a requirement for visual perception of an approaching train.

Xenon strobe lights, because of their pulse frequency of approximately one flash per second, are approximately five times greater in signaling effectiveness than are fixed sources of light of equal intensity (Douglas⁶). Another quality of such lights is the penetrability of Xenon light through fog, rain and snow. Since such lights are not used for general illumination of stationary objects, their conspicuity is enhanced by maintenance of a high signal/noise ratio.

Estimation of Distance - A locomotive headlight or similar lamp, when viewed from a distance of several hundred feet, is perceived as a point; that is, it has no dimension of size. Such a light is called a 'point source'. Point source lights are judged as being at a greater distance than they really are. This type of light does not aid an observer to judge depth. To overcome this problem and in turn to allow for a better approximation of distance, two different kinds of light are proposed: paired lights and an area light.

At distances such as those used in decisions in control of high-speed vehicles, binocular cues contribute little or nothing to the experience of depth perception. Depth perception at these distances, rather, depends upon the observer estimating from a known dimension on the perceived object. A motorist is familiar with the actual size of an auto (or a truck or a locomotive), and can estimate its distance from its perceived size. At night, the spacing of the headlights of an oncoming car permit the same sort of estimation (many drivers are very nervous on meeting a car with one inoperative headlight because this cue is missing).

A single flashing roof light, while important as an alerting stimulus, contributes little to depth perception. The utilization of two flashing lights at a fixed distance from each other would contribute much to the perception of distance.

A panel light of standardized size, likewise, provides a distinctive, known dimension from which distance may be estimated by an approaching motor vehicle operator.

<u>Movement</u> - There are many conditions under which the motorist has difficulty perceiving the locomotive as a moving vehicle. Normally, to be seen as a moving object, one or more of the psychological or physiological cues to changing depth perception should be present. Frequently, these cues are lacking. Viewed head-on, to be seen as moving, the train must be seen to grow in size. This growth rate is a function of speed and the relative size of the object on the retina of the eye, that is, the proximity of the object. If the time interposed between two or more viewings of the object is greater, then the object appears more readily as moving. A single sighting, however, does not permit the discrimination between a moving and a fixed object.

In a similar way, relative motion of an object is dependent on the object seen against a background. The object, to be seen as moving, must be changing its position relative to other objects, conditions, etc. A light seen in the distance, at night, must be seen as its position changes relative to other lights, occluding objects and terrain if it is to be perceived as a moving light. Two or more lights presented sequentially within a specific range of periodicity appear as a moving light (Woodworth¹⁸, Gibson⁷). This effect is responsible for the experience of motion in moving pictures, theatre marquee light movement, airport runway direction flashers, etc.

Two xenon strobe lights are suggested to improve the conspicuity of the approaching tain, under almost all environmental conditions. They will also satisfy the requirement that identification of the train as a moving vehicle is necessary if the motorist is to see it as a threat. Xenon strobe lights can illuminate the surrounding terrain and cut through low levels of atmospheric transmissivity. In pairs, they serve to alert viewers by apparent movement, extreme effectiveness of light output, and wide angle of view (Projector^{13, 14}, Kinchla¹⁰).

CHAPTER 5. VISUAL - AVAILABLE LIGHTING DEVICES

Headlights

The concern of this study is not the ability of the engineer to see the right of way, but rather the ability of a motorist to see the locomotive. There are many different ways to mount headlights on a locomotive, depending on the body styling, but a single type of sealed-beam lamp is almost universally used in these lights on recent equipment in the U.S. This unit is a 30 volt, 200 watt PAR-56 sealed-beam lamp with an on-axis output of 200,000 to 300,000 candlepower. This lamp, usually used in pairs, has a very narrow beam both vertically and horizontally; light output is down to 20% at 4.5 degrees. Figures 5 illustrates a headlight installation, and Figure 6 is a plot of intensity vs. angle for the lamp.







Figure 6. Candlepower Distribution, Sealed-beam Locomotive Headlight

42

. . .

÷

2

"

If a train and a car approach each other on a collision course (such that the front of the car will hit the front of the locomotive) at constant speeds, the angle of approach does not change as the two come closer together. If the speed of the train and the speed of the car are equal, the angle will be 45° . The faster the train is going relative to the speed of the motor vehicle, the smaller will this angle be, referred to the axis of the train. For example, for a train speed of 100 MPH and a motor vehicle speed of 40 MPH, the car will see the locomotive headlight from approximately 20 degrees off its axis. A more detailed analysis of the Geometry of the Encounter will be found in Chapter 3.

A motor vehicle operator, seeing the approaching train at 20 or more degrees off axis, is not in the direct beam of the train headlight. He is dependent on 'spillage' of light or reflection of small amounts of light from dirt on the lens.

The headlight does, of course, provide some visual cues under certain conditions. In clear weather, spillage may provide useful illumination at moderate angles. When the transmissibility of the light is decreased by fog, rain or snow, however, this small intensity may be lost. In a <u>light fog</u>, rain or snow, the beam may be reflected from these particles and may be visible as a beam ahead of the train. The light may also illuminate objects along the right-of-way or at the crossing in a way that will be seen by the motorist and identified as a warning.

These are marginal and unreliable means of providing warnings, however, and the headlight should be considered a poor performer as a warning to motorists.

Swept Headlights

The swept headlight (sold under such trademarks as 'Mars Light' and ''Gyralite') has been available for several years and enjoys some popularity. It uses one or more standard locomotive headlight lamps on a mounting plate that is moved by a small motor in a figure eight, circular or oval pattern. The light beam thus is caused to sweep to and fro across the track. The beam center at maximum displacement is about 15[°] off the axis of the train. See Figure 7.



Figure 7. Swept Headlight

Swept headlights share with ordinary headlights the problem that motorists normally encounter the train at an angle too far off axis to be caught by the direct beam of the light.

The principal value of the swept headlight in the grade-crossing encounter is its ability to illuminate objects along the right-of-way and at the crossing. The sweeping action makes this light far more effective for this purpose than fixed lamps because the 15° sweep angle enables the light to pick out objects a short distance from the track and because the motion of the light causes the illuminated objects to 'flash'. It should be noted that the swept headlight can provide warning when the view of the train itself is obstructed.--

The motorist, seeing flashes of light off objects (such as crossbuck signs), can easily conclude that some danger may exist, but he is not

given much information as to the distance of the train from the crossing or its speed. Since the action of the swept headlight depends on relatively weak illumination seen from objects not primarily designed as reflectors, it is ineffective in daylight, and marginally effective when it is not totally dark or when the atmosphere is not clear.

Roof Lights

Several different types of roof lights have been used on locomotives for different purposes. Some are intended merely as markers for use in yards so that towermen and other employees can visually locate the locomotives in a yard full of freight cares. Some railroads are using roof lights as warnings to motorists; these are generally adaptations of lights designed for police or other emergency vehicles or for aircraft or airport use.

Incandescent Types - These are offered in many styles. Some use regular bulbs and others use sealed-beam lamps. They are offered in omnidirectional, flashing, sequential-flashing, and rotating types. Rotating types may turn lenses around a lamp bulb, a wedge-shaped reflector under a downward-facing sealed-beam lamp, or an assembly of sealed=beam lamps.

All of these lights are effective at night in clear weather. Many, however, are not intense enough to be attention-getting in daylight. A moving or flashing light, even when mounted out of the crew's sight (as on the cab roof), can be annoying to the crew at night through reflections from objects near the track or from hazy atmosphere. This is true even for lights too weak to be useful in daylight. Thus a roof light should be equipped with means of dimming the lamp when high intensity is n^{-1} needed.

<u>Xenon Strobe Types</u> - These can produce the required intensity for daylight use without the need for concentrating the beam with reflectors. The flash tube is usually arranged inside an omnidirectional lens and is flashed two or three times a second. The output of these lamps can be on the order of one million candlepower or more. Xenon strobe lights require a power unit to flash the tube; this is often built into the base of the light but can also be in a separate package. The life of the flash tube is on the order of 1,000 hours. The flash of the xenon strobe is very short, lasting only some microseconds. The color spectrum is such that it is highly regarded for penetration of haze and fog. Like an

incandescent lamp, it can be annoying to a locomotive crew, especially on long runs through a completely dark countryside in areas where there are no other lights visible. Here, too, a high/low intensity switch for the engineer's use is desirable.

Field Evaluation of Visual Displays

A swept headlight, several types of roof lights, and panels of fluorescent colors were tried and evaluated at the Valley Railroad in Essex, Connecticut. Observations were made in daylight, and throughout the twilight period into darkness. Judgments were made of the effectiveness of the various devices.

<u>Swept Headlight</u> - A 'Gyralite' swept headlight (Trans-Lite Inc., Milford, Connecticut) was observed from the viewpoint of a motorist encountering the locomotive at a crossing. This light does not sweep far enough offaxis to shine directly at the oncoming motorist, and thus was ineffective in daylight. At night, however, the beam did cause effective illumination of wayside objects.

<u>Roof Lights</u> - Seven different models of roof lights were evaluated at Essex, and another was examined on another occasion. Since these lights are used on a variety of automotive and airline applications, there are many types of brands available; no attempt was made to include all but rather a representative cross section of different kinds. Daylight observations were made by equipping a locomotive with the various devices (Figure 8) and operating it repeatedly across a crossing at low speed wifferent error another device activated (Figure 9). Observations were made from approximately 300 feet up the roadway. At the testing location, a continuous dense row of small trees along the track provided partial obscuration (it was winter and the trees were leafless); thus observations were made under less-than-ideal conditions.



Figure 8. Roof Lights for Testing. From Left: Prime 8900, Whelen RB-11, Safety Products, Pyle 15360.





. . . .

The following summarizes the models tested and the results:

- 1. Prime Manufacturing Corp., Oak Creek, Wisconsin: Model 8900. This light uses three 75 watt sealed-beam lamps which are flashed sequentially to simulate rotation without moving parts. This device was judged poor in daylight because the fixed-position lamps did not provide full brightness at all angles. An observer not positioned in just the right spot did not receive visual impact.
- 2. Pyle 15360 'Roof Gyralite'; Trans-Lite Inc., Milford, Connecticut. This light has a sealed-beam lamp in its upper dome, which is aimed down on a wedge-shaped reflector which is rotated. It provided good visual impact in daylight.
- 3. Safety Products Co., Chicago, Illinois. No model number. A strobe lamp, using a thin ring-shaped flash tube concentric with a reflector that resembles two cones stuck together at the apexes. The light output of this unit was too small to be effective in daylight.
- 4. Western-Cullen Division, Federal Sign and Signal Corp., Chicago,
 Illinois: Model D-312. Two 75 watt sealed-beam incandescent lamps mounted back-to-back and rotated by a motor. This lamp was not tested at Essex, but it was examined and judged likely to be effective in daylight.
- 5. Whelen Engineering Co., Inc., Deep River, Connecticut: Model RB-11. This device uses a light bulb with three magnifying lenses arranged around it and rotated. The light output of this unit was too small to be effective in daylight.
- 6. Whelen: Model 2700 Dual Strobe. Two high-output strobe lamps, which for the evaluation were mounted one on each side of the cab roof. The manufacturer claims 1,000,000 candlepower, and these were the best performers of all lamps tested in daylight.
- 7. Whelen: Model 2500 Dual Strobe. Similar to the 2700 but smaller. Very good visual impact in daylight.
- 8. Whelen: Model 2800 Dual Seal Beam Strobe. The strobe tubes of this unit are mounted in separate sealed-beam reflectors looking something like automobile foglights. These make no claim to cover all angles and were not compared with the other units. Their onaxis output is very high.

The different lights (except the Whelen strobes) are illustrated in Figures 8 and 12. The testing is illustrated in Figures 10 and 11. All roof lights had high visual impact at dusk and at night.



Figure 12. Western-Cullen D-312 Roof Light

<u>Fluorescent Colors</u> - These were also observed and evaluated. Two panels 2 feet by 4 feet were prepared, one with Blaze Orange and the other with Yellow fluorescent sheeting. The locomotive used in testing had been painted only a month or two before in bright red. The Blaze Orange panel was observed on the locomotive in daylight (Figure 10) and was judged to definitely enhance visibility.—At dusk (Figure 11) the panel had greater visual impact than in daytime, and the Yellow panel was even brighter. The red of the locomotive paint job darkened quickly as environmental light acquired a bluish character, but the fluorescent colors retained their brightness considerably longer.

CHAPTER 6. VISUAL - EMPIRICAL EXPERIMENT

Purpose and General Method Used

An empirical evaluation was made of the devices which might meet the requirements for high conspicuity of locomotives. The objective was to find out how people would react to different visual treatments for locomotives under many different background and ambient light conditions.

<u>Relative Conspicuity</u> - The attention-getting quality of a visual stimulus depends on the observer. The signal detection is facilitated if the subject is actively seeking the signal source. In experiments if a subject is asked to report when a specific stimulus is observed, he anticipates the reception and actively looks for the signal. Since a visual signal, to be alerting, should be 100 to 1000 times its threshold, an experimental approach based on 'directed' attention is not useful. When the experimental subjects used are asked to report when they see the stimulus, their actions are directed and the alerting quality of the signal is enhanced by the subjects' expectancy.

An approach to conspicuity which eliminates this problem is to have the subjects judge the <u>relative</u> conspicuity of a stimulus. Errors of judgment are decreased if pairs of stimuli are presented for judgment of the superiority of one over the other. Each of the experimental stimuli are paired with all other stimuli (method of Paired Comparisons). The votes are tallied and the adequacy of the discrimination subjected to a statistical test. The sign test was selected as the most appropriate non-parametric method for this problem (Siegel¹⁶).

Experimental Method - A panel of test subjects, all licensed drivers, viewed the various visual displays as photographed on Kodachrome 35 millimeter slides. The slides were presented in pairs, projected simultaneously side-by-side. Panelists were asked to choose from each pair of slides the locomotive of greatest conspicuity. Conspicuity was defined as 'most readily seen', or 'most attention-getting'. The selected choices were entered on individual sheets for later tabulation.

The locomotive used for the photographs was a scale model of the GP-35 hood-type unit. The use of a scale model facilitated the fixing of experimental light sources and the application of various color schemes. It also made it possible to obtain different ambient lighting and background

conditions on a controlled basis. Figure 13 illustrates the 'photo studio' in action, and Figure 14 is typical of the appearance of the slides (this is a daylight presentation; night presentations were also used).



Figure 13. Photographs were taken of a model locomotive displaying various color schemes and lighting devices.

It is acknowledged that the viewing of photographs of a model locomotive is an imperfect substitute for the actual experience of encountering a train at a crossing while driving a motor vehicle. The experimental method used, nevertheless, was judged adequate to test the relatively non-subtle hypotheses regarding conspicuity that were proposed. The method allowed the locomotive to be viewed under a wide variety of environmental conditions; this variety would have been very difficult to obtain outdoors.

Experimental Hypothesis

The general hypothesis utilized in this experiment was that additions of light or color which make a vehicle more contrasting with the environment would make that vehicle more alerting. ALL STREET, ST

<u>Daylight</u> - As discussed previously (Chapter 4), an examination of the literature on conspicuity was conducted to provide validation for the assumptions and decisions underlying our experiments. To achieve maximum conspicuity, it was determined that two colors should be utilized. The first color employed should contrast with broad sets of environmental conditions, while a second contrasting color should, likewise, be in contrast with a complementary set of environmental conditions. A dark background color - medium blue - was selected with a contrasting bright foreground - yellow.

A set of hypotheses were developed for conspicuity during daylight. These were:

- 1. That a pigmented area of low-medium brightness achieves greater conspicuity when employed with a color of contrasting brightness.
- 2. A bounded stimulus area is more effective in establishing a greater contrast than the non-bounded area.
- 3. The brighter pigments are more effective in increasing conspicuity than the less bright paints. -

The candidate colors were selected as follows:

- 1. Blue vs. blue background with black band. The medium blue will provide a modal contrast with a high background brightness. It will be improved by the utilization of a black band which would increase the contrast of the blue when seen against a bright background. That is, it is hypothesized that the addition of a black band improves conspicuity.
- 2. Blue vs. blue and yellow (hypothesis no. 1).
- 3. Blue and yellow vs. blue and yellow plus a black band around the yellow (hypothesis no. 2). It is hypothesized that a dilution of the yellow brightness is effected by the blue when there is not a delineation of the two colors by the black band.
- 4. Blue and yellow plus black band vs. blue and fluorescent yellow plus black band (hypothesis no. 3).

The colors used for this experiment were 'floquil' Model Colors: Great Northern Sky Blue and Reefer Yellow. Fluorescent color was



Figure 10. Field Evaluation: High-output Strobe Lamps in Daylight.



Figure 11. Field Evaluation: Fluorescent Panels and Lamps at Dusk.

52a



en en el circo in 1928 (Marece el <mark>calman</mark>e a

- •

Figure 14. Two views of the Model Locomotive in Daylight, with Fluorescent Yellow Band and Black Border around the Yellow.
'Day-Glo' Saturn Yellow. Yellow, Fluorescent Yellow, and Black were applied as sheeting for convenience in changing color schemes. Various lighting conditions were used; under low ambient light the locomotive lights were activated, but both slides in each pair had identical locomotive lights. Lighting schemes were not under test in daylight.

<u>Night</u> - Only one nighttime hypothesis was tested: illumination at angles from zero to 120 degrees is more conspicuous than illumination by the narrow-angle headlight alone. The candidates were:

1. A lighted panel over the cab roof plus another over the windshield vs. headlight and markers (the forward panel light was simulated by brightlighting the number boards without numbers).

2. Roof lights and lighted panels vs. headlight and markers.

Experiment Description

The experiment was designed to examine the relative conspicuity of alerting displays on a locomotive, considering devices now in use and those which might be recommended for development and future use.

<u>Displays on the Model</u> - The locomotive used was a 1/48 scale ($\frac{1}{4}$ inch to the foot) brass body model by U.S. Hobbies (trademark 'KTM Scale Models'). The model was painted a basic medium blue. All other colors were applied as removable sheeting. Lighting was provided by 1/8 inch diameter 12 volt incandescent lamps. The light box on the side consisted of eight lamps aligned in parallel and placed behind a translucent plastic screen, which functioned as the front of the light box. The box was $\frac{1}{4}$ inch by 1-1/2 inch (in full size this would be 1 by 6 feet). A light box on the front of the train was simulated by utilizing fuller illumination of the engine number identification panel. The identification numbers were removed and a diffused glass substituted. Two roof lights were employed over the cab, each consisting of one bulb plus a reflector to concentrate the light to 180 degrees horizontal and 100 degrees vertical. The color layout is illustrated in Figure 15.

Selected pairs of the following parameters were compared:

1. Background paint - Great Northern Sky Blue

2. Background plus Reefer Yellow strip



Figure 15. Side View of Const Layout - GP 35 Model Locomotive

•

54 .

3. Background plus Fluorescent Yellow strip

4. Black band as applied to the above three schemes

- 5. Ambient light levels and sky brightnesses
- 6. Angle of view: on-axis to 90 degrees off-axis
- 7. Regular headlight
- 8. Roof lights

9. Panel lights (side)

10. Panel lights (front)

11. Panel lights plus roof lights

12. Various lighting intensities.

Three hundred (300) Kodachrome slides were prepared for all representative variables. From these, thirty-nine pairs of slides were selected for matching conditions, parameter comparisons and selected variables. The selected slides were subdivided into pairs, matched except for one or more independent variables (see Tables 5 and 6). The pairs of slides in each set were then randomized as to sequence, set and position of presentation (left or right).

THE SHELL MADE -----

The slides were presented on two Eastman Kodak 'Carousel 850' slide projectors. Each projector had a variable light intensity adjustment for fine matching of the pairs of slides for overall brightness. The subjects were seated 14-20 feet from the projection screen and each image size was approximately four by six feet. The pairs of slides were shown twice to the subjects; the second time inverted both in order and position. This procedure was used to cancel-out position bias, guessing, and indiscriminate choices.

The sets of slides were shown to thirteen subjects, each having driven automobiles for from 3 to 35 years. They were asked to choose from each pair of slides the locomotive of greatest conspicuity. Conspicuity was defined as 'most readily seen' or 'most attention-getting'. The selected choices were entered on individual sheets for later tabulation. The collected data were then tabulated and the sign test applied. All contradictory data were rejected, since these data represented position biases, ambiguous stimuli and indiscriminate choices (Siegel¹⁶).

Tabulation

The tabulated comparisons for daylight conditions are shown in Table 5. The first column in the table is the slide pair identification. The second and third describe the color contrast and boundary, if used, for slide A. The fourth and fifth columns similarly describe Slide B. Column six is the ambient light on the locomotive, and column seven is the sky brightness. The last two columns record the preference indicated by the subjects and the statistical significance.

Table 6 shows the comparisons for nighttime. The first column is the slide pair; the second and third indicate the type of lights used for Slide A and Slide B respectively. The fourth column shows the angle of view, and the last two columns record the preference of the subjects and the statistical significance.

Analysis - Daylight

- From the data obtained in the experiment, improved conspicuity results from the use of bright colors. The data indicate that the use of a monochromatic paint alone is inferior when compared with its use with a contrasting color. For all angles of view and a full-ranged sky brightness and ambient light, a pair of contrasting colors was found to contribute to maximal conspicuity. Yellow is good as a stimulus, and a fluorescent color which reflects a greater amount of light is of even greater value than a regular bright yellow pigment.

Utilization of a black band (as suggested by von Fieandt¹⁷) on the blue locomotive was not confirmed as being superior. In spite of a medium blue being employed, the general brightness of the blue was considerably darker than the background lighting against which it was viewed. The addition of black on the blue did not effectively increase the contrast of the monochromatic color when seen against both the light and dark background. The added black contributed so little to the contrast ratio as tested that conspicuity did not improve.

<u>Recommendations</u> - To improve the conspicuity of locomotives during daylight conditions, two colors should be used in the color scheme. Each color should contrast with the other, both in hue and brightness. Since the brightest color is probably yellow, this color should be

Statistical Significance •033 •002 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 100. .011 100. .001 .001 •00 Preferred Slide ß 2 20 22 μΩ, Sky Values* 5.25 9.25 8.25 8,25 7.25 4.25 8.25 4.25 7.0 9.0 5.2 8.5 6.5 Ambient Light* 4.25 4.75 7.1 5.1 7.0 7.5 4.0 4.9 5.5 5.5 7.3 7.3 5.5 Slide "B" Color Contrast Boundary BK BK BK BK BK BK BK ВĶ BK Ж BK 1 ΥF ΥF ΥF ΥF ΥF ΥF ΥF ΥF ΥF ΥP ΥF 5 Color Contrast Boundary Slide "A" 1 × Slide Set 16 15 13 17

COMPARISON OF SLIDES "A" VS. "B" FOR DAYTIME CONSPICULTY

57

5. Comparison of Color Contrast Materials (Page 1) TARLF.

* Light Values (EV)

BK = Black

YF = Yellow Fluorescent

Y = Yellow •

COMPARISON OF SLIDES "A" VS, "B" FOR DAYTIME CONSPICUITY

.

| stical ficance | 16 | Q | 11 | 22 | 80 | 11 | 21 | 20 | 11 | 11 |)2 | 01 | 02 | |
|----------------------------|-----|----------|-----|--|-----|------------|----------|-----|---------------|-------|-----|-----|------|-------------|
| Stati Signi | 0. | | õ | õ | ō | ō | õ | 0 | • | õ | ō. | • | • | |
| Preferred Slide | ¥. | £ | V | en e | × | £ | A | £ | m • | A | æ | Υ. | en i | Values (EV) |
| Sky Values* | 5.5 | 6.0 | 8•0 | 7.5 | 7.5 | 5.5 | 6.8 | 7.5 | 8.8 | 0*6 | 7.0 | 8•8 | 7.5 | * Light |
| Ambient Light* | 5.3 | 3.5 | 5.5 | 4.5 | 4.0 | 6.0 | 5.5 | 4.0 | 6.8 | · 6.0 | 3.5 | 6.0 | 6.8 | |
| "B" Boundary | BK | 1 | BK | BK | - 1 | I . | BK | BK | BK | BK | BK | BK | BK | K = Black |
| Slide Color Contrast | Y | I | • | Х | Я | Y | YF | YF | X | E . | Y | Τ | X | rescent Bl |
| de "A" Boundary | 8 | BK | BK | BK | BK | BK | BK | BK | BK | BK | 8 | BK | BK | Yellow Fluo |
| Sli Color Contrast | Y | 1 | Y | 1 | Х | Y | Y | Х | 1 | ΥF | Х | ΥF | • | ow YF = ' |
| Slide Set | 014 | 013 | 110 | 010 | 60 | 08 | 07 | 90 | 05 | 04 | 03 | 02 | 10 | Y = Yell(|

5. Comparison of Color Contrast Materials (Page 2)

TABLE

.

.

.

utilized at its full brightness, whereas the contrasting color, such as blue, red or black, would have a minimum of brightness. The application of fluorescent colors, such as yellow or yellow-orange, would improve the conspicuity more due to the high light output of fluorescent media.

If the background contrasting color is sufficiently dark, there is little need for a band of black to differentiate the two contrasting colors. However, if the background color selected is light to medium light in brightness, a black band around the bright color will improve the conspicuity by:

1. Reducing the simultaneous contrast of the two colors and brightnesses

e de la companya de l

2. Providing sufficient amounts of dark stimulus for viewing against a bright sky.

It is suggested that the locomotive painted in one basic color have applied to this an area of contrasting color with minimum dimensions of $3\frac{1}{2}$ by 5 feet. This is in keeping with the recommendations that 1/5 degree of visual arc is desirable as the minimum for viewing. Three and one-half feet is perceived as 1/5 degree of arc at a distance of 1000 feet; 5 feet is perceived as 1/5 degree of arc at 1000 feet if viewed from 45° off perpendicular.

<u>As Darkness Approaches</u> - The range of conditions under which the locomotive is to be seen ranges from high to very low levels of illumination. It may be seen against a sky ranging in brightness from extremely bright, as into the sun, to extremely low, such as in storm clouds and at dusk. While paints are conspicuous during the daylight conditions, their effectiveness begins to wane towards dusk. Not only is there the shift in which the apparent brightness of chromatic hues changes, but as the amount of ambient light continues to decrease, the chromatic stimulus approaches zero while the brightness (achromatic) component continues its effectiveness until that, too, goes to zero. Use of a bright, or better, fluorescent color is a definite aid to maintaining conspicuity at low ambient light levels.

Analysis - Night

The results tabulated in Table 6 indicate that for all angles of view the front panel lights are superior to the regular headlight. The COMPARISON OF SLIDES "A" V\$. "B" FOR NIGHT CONSPICULTY

.

• . •

| | Slide "A" | Slide "B" | | | |
|--------------|---------------|--------------|-----------------|--------------------|-----------|
| Slide Set | Lights | Lights | Angle of View | Preterred Slide | Staristic |
| 10 | Н | P + R | OA | 8 | .001 |
| 18 | H | Ч | OA | 29 | 100. |
| 19 | Н | Сł | 006 | æ | .001 |
| 22 | H | Ą | ٥06 | 8 | •000 |
| 23 | ч | Ъ | 450 | 22 | .001 |
| 11 | Н | ₽4 | ٥06 | Ŕ | .001 |
| 12 | H | 4 | OA | ß | .001 |
| .25 | H | 4 | 006 | 8 | .001 |
| 14 | <u>μ</u> | х Ж | o ⁰⁶ | ₹ | 100. |
| 21 | Ω. | R | 45° | A | .001 |
| 24 | Δ. | Я | o06 | A | .275 |
| 20 | Low Light Lev | Hi Light Lev | 45 ⁰ | B | .001 |

TABLE 6. COMPARISON OF LIGHTING MATERIALS

P = Panel Lights (Front & Side)

R = Roof Lights (2)

H = Headlight

OA = On Axis

rooftop light was not so effective as the side panel light at the 90[°] viewing angle. Front panel lights and rooftop together were found to be more effective than the headlight, even for head-on viewing. Finally, with all lights on, the train was judged as most conspicuous when the total light output was higher.

All differences were found to be statistically significant at the .001 level. This indicates that the probability is less than one part in a thousand that the result was due to chance alone. The results point up that the better illuminated the train, the higher is its level of conspicuity.

Roof lamps, which on an actual locomotive would be flashing types (or rotating types which appear to flash), necessarily displayed a steady light when viewed on slides. The preferred xenon strobe lamp does not photograph well even in moving pictures, since the extremely short flash is often missed by the camera. Flashing at the rate of 1 to 2 flashes per second, the xenon strobe lamp is at least five times more effective than a steady incandescent lamp of the same rating (Douglas⁶, Projector¹³, IES⁹).

<u>Proposed Devices</u> - The conspicuity of locomotives at nighttime presently is dependent on the angle of view and directionality of present lighting. Lights should be provided which permit a viewer to see the train from all angles. The lights should be able to penetrate rain, snow and fog. These requirements can be met by using:

- 1. A pair of xenon strobe lamps, one on each side of the cab roof, arranged to flash alternately. They are useful not only for conspicuity, but also aid in identification and in estimation of the train's speed and distance from the observer. Subjects evaluating rooftop lights, headlights, and running lights unanimously select the rooftop lights as being most alerting.
- 2. Side panel lights. The panel light is a flat light box attached to the side of the locomotive; it presents a distinctive source of light to the motor vehicle operator. The data indicate that the panel light plus the roof lights make a good combination.
- 3. Front panel light. The front panel light supplements the side panel light and is most effective when seen from angles of less than 45° off the locomotive's axis. Both panel lights should be large enough to be perceived as a line or area of light (rather than a point) from considerable distances; at approach angles of roughly 30° to 60° both front and side panels are visible, and their relationship will serve as an additional cue for distance.

4. The front panel light used in the experiment was simulated by using the lighted number boards - deleting the numbers and increasing the lighting. The effect was midway between a true panel and two floodlights angled out from the center. Such floodlights may prove to be an effective alternate to the recommended front panel light.

Figures 16 and 17 illustrate the comparison between the normal locomotive headlight and a locomotive equipped with front floodlights, plus side panel lights.

62

.



BEAM PATTERN ~ STANDARD HEADLIGHT



CHAPTER 7. AUDIBLE - AVAILABLE WARNING DEVICES

Whistles

The whistle was the universal device used for warning and signaling in the steam era. A whistle has no moving parts, producing sound from a resonating column of air or steam, and has a distinctive and melodious sound. The whistle consumed considerable steam, but the amount was insignificant compared with that used for propulsion.

The New Haven Railroad (now the New Haven Region of the Penn Central) specified the Hancock air whistle (see Figure 18) for its electric and diesel locomotives and multiple-unit cars purchased between World War II and the early 1960's. A reflector, to direct the sound forward, was used on the locomotives but not on the electric multiple-unit cars. The whistle was favored for its lack of moving parts and low nuisance value in New Haven's densely populated service area. This whistle is reportedly no longer available, and this study did not identify any current manufacturers of locomotive whistles.



Figure 18. Whistle with Reflector

Horns

Horns are used on the vast majority of locomotives in the United States. Air horns operate by the use of an air stream which causes a metal diaphragm to vibrate. A trumpet is incorporated to couple the sound energy to the outside air, to modify the tone of the horn, and to provide directivity. Horns generally use far less air to produce a given level of sound than do whistles. While electrically-powered horns are quite feasible, this type seems to have found no favor in the railroad industry.

Since whistles are the traditional warning devices, it has become fairly common to refer to whistles and horns interchangeably as 'whistles'. One major supplier of air horns sells them as whistles because some laws and regulations require that locomotives be equipped with a 'whistle'. in this report, a device that uses an air-operated diaphragm to produce sound will be called a 'horn'.

Three domestic manufacturers of railroad horns were identified:

- 1. The Leslie Company, Parsippany, New Jersey. Trademarks include 'Tyfon' and 'Supertyfon'.
- 2. The Nathan Manufacturing Division, Wegner Machinery Corporation, Long Island City, New York. Trademark 'Nathan AirChime'.
- 3. Westinghouse Air Brake Division, Westinghouse Air Brake Company, Wilmerding, Pennsylvania. Trademark 'Pneuphonic Horn'.

It is frequent practice to assemble two or more horns of dissimilar frequency (pitch) into a group for mounting as a single unit. Selection of musically-related frequencies results in a more pleasant tone than can be obtained with a single horn unit. The grouping also results in somewhat higher output, and allows mounting some trumpets facing forward and others reverse on a bi-directional locomotive. A prevalent terminology is to refer to each trumpet in such an assembly as a 'chime'; hence this report will refer to a '5-chime horn', etc. Figure 19 shows a typical 5-chime unit.



Figure 19. 5-Chime Horn

Traditional horn designs utilized the diaphragm as the essential means for controlling the character of the sound produced. Each chime of a horn assembly had a different size diaphragm, and each diaphragm had to be tensioned exactly to produce the correct note. Examples of this type of design include the Nathan Model 'M', the Leslie 'Tyfon', and the WABCo 'Pneuphonic' horns.

In the last decade or so, Leslie and Nathan came out with redesigned horns utilizing the airstream to both 'push' the diaphragm to its deflected position and to 'pull' it back. This results in longer diaphragm life, elimination of tension adjustments, and interchangeability of diaphragms. Both manufacturers also claim greater sound output with lower air consumption. Examples of the new design are the Leslie '<u>Super</u>tyfon' and Nathan Model 'P'.

The long life of railroad air horns is indicated by the fact that many of the wayside and yard measurements made for this study were of the older-type horns. The Penn Central GG-1 electric locomotives have

a 156-Hz Leslie 'Tyfon' horn; Diesel locomotives of the Penn-Central, Long Island, and Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac railroads were equipped with Nathan Model 'M' AirChimes.

Bells

Bells are normally intended to warn pedestrians, rather than motorists, and find their greatest use during switching operations in railroad yards and on approach to passenger station platforms. Air-operated bells are most common, although electric bells are in use on the Missouri Pacific Railroad and the Chicago & Northwestern Railway.

Electronic Devices

Two suppliers are presently developing horns and bells that operate electronically:

1. Federal Sign & Signal Corporation, Blue Island, Illinois.

2. Prime Manufacturing Corporation, Oak Creek, Wisconsin.

These units are constructed essentially the same as a public-address system, with a tone generator substituting for the microphone. Federal has for several years supplied electronic sirens for police and fire vehicles. These units typically have a selector for three different tones plus a public-address mode that allows the crew to hear calls on the vehicle radio when they are working outside the vehicle. Prime has supplied approximately 200 electronic bells for locomotive use (Milwaukee Road) and claims that its unit has proven more reliable than mechanical bells. Neither manufacturer has a locomotive horn ready for market (as of mid-1970), but Federal has prototypes under evaluation (see Figure 20) in 70 watt and 100 watt models.





The electronic horn has considerable potential, since it can produce many different tones to suit the needs of the moment, because it may prove to be less sensitive to wear, snow, ice, etc., and because it cannot be clogged by dirt in the compressed air supply. Its voice capability may also prove useful in signaling crew members, a function now performed by coded blasts of the horn. More work remains to be done in design and field-testing before electronic horns can be accepted as routine railroad hardware.

•

CHAPTER 8. AUDIBLE - MEASUREMENTS

Equipment

Field measurements of sounds were made using a sound-level meter, calibrator, and tape recorder. A sound analyzer and a graphic-level recorder were used to analyze tape recordings. The calibrator is simply a sound source of known loudness, designed to couple snugly over the microphone of a sound-level meter. It produces a reading on the sound-level meter of 114 dB (referred to $20 \ \mu N/m^2$). The sound-level meter. It also includes frequency filters ('tone control') to weight its frequency response in accordance with standards established by the USA Standards Institute. The sound analyzer is a tunable filter and amplifier system which is used to measure the strength of the various frequency components of a sound.

The following instruments were used:

1. Sound-level meter: General Radio type 1565-A

2. Sound-level calibrator: General Radio type 1562-A

3. Tape recorder: Uher model 4400

4. Sound and vibration analyzer: General Radio type 1564-A

5. Graphic level recorder: General Radio type 1521-B

The sound-level meter can be used as a microphone with preamplifier; this makes it possible to adjust the sensitivity in fixed, known steps. It was used this way in order to make recordings from which sound levels could later be determined in laboratory analysis. The soundlevel meter was connected to an input of the recorder, the calibrator was placed over the microphone of the meter unit, and a recording of the calibrator tone was made, just before data was to be recorded. The attenuator of the sound-level meter was then set for a sensitivity appropriate for the sound being measured, and the sensitivity was noted on a data sheet. On playback, the level of the sound being measured was compared with the level of the calibration tone. This procedure did not interfere with obtaining meter readings while a recording was

being made. The recorder is a two-channel (stereo) type, and the second channel was used with a conventional microphone for voice identification of the recording situation and for remarks.

<u>Weightings</u> - The standard designations for the frequency filters in the sound-level meter are 'A', 'B' or 'C' weighting. The 'C' filter provides a 'flat' or unweighted characteristic, and the 'A' or 'B' filter makes the meter less sensitive to low frequencies. A selector switch on the instrument allows the desired filter to be connected. The 'A' and 'B' filters are used as a crude approximation of the human response to noise, since a low-pitched noise is generally less annoying than a mid-frequency noise of the same energy content. As an example, background <u>noise</u> in a suburban neighborhood 250 feet from the street was measured at 65 dB on the 'C' scale and only 55 dB on the 'A' scale. This is a quiet neighborhood, and the background noise is in fact rather unobtrusive.

Railroad horns are high enough in frequency that it makes little difference which weighting is used in measuring their sound level. Frequency analysis shows that the energy in a multi-chime horn sound peaks at about 1,000 Hz, and the fundamental (lowest) pitch is seldom less than 220 Hz. The 'C' weighting was normally used in making measurements and recordings. A recording made with the 'C' weighting can be playedback through the sound-level meter and the 'A' or 'B' weighted level can be read at that time.

A frequency analysis of a railroad horn, recorded at the wayside, is shown in Appendix G.

Yard Measurements

Horn and whistle sounds were measured in yards of the Penn Central at Sunnyside, New York, and New Haven, Connecticut. The purpose was to obtain recordings and measurements of sounds from a known distance ahead of stationary locomotives and Metroliner cards. The results could then be compared with wayside recordings and measurements from moving trains. Four different types of warning devices were measured:

 Metroliner - a high-pitched sound produced by Leslie 370 Hz and 550 Hz 'Supertyfon' horns (Figure 21).

71

2. GG-1 Electric Locomotive - a deep-tone sound produced by a Leslie 156 Hz. 'Tyfon' horn.

- 3. FL-9 Diesel and Electric Locomotive Hancock whistle.
- 4. E-8 Diesel Locomotive Nathan model 'M' 3-chime horn, 277, 330 and 440 Hz (Figure 22).





TABLE 7. Audible Warning Sound Levels - Trains in Yards . ۱۳۰۹ : **(**1)

.

* Distance = 100 feet; ** Distance = 300 feet



Amplitude vs. time plots drawn by a graphic level recorder from magnetic tape.

Writing Speed 20 In/Sec, Paper Speed 7.5 In/Min

Penn Central Railroad Air Pressure - 110 PSI



Figure 22. Penn Central E-8 Locomotive, Showing Nathan Horn

The microphone was located 100 feet and 300 feet directly ahead of the locomotive or Metroliner car, hand-held approximately four feet above the ground. It should be recognized that the measurements were made of equipment where it stood; the results are affected by nearby buildings, other railroad cars and locomotives, etc. Measured levels are shown graphically in Table 7, which was drawn by a graphic level recorder from playback of the magnetic tapes recorded in the field. The graph is of amplitude, or sound-level, vs. time, with no frequency filtering.

Note the regular variation in amplitude of the Metroliner horn; this is also apparent to the ear. It can be explained as caused by interference patterns. Each chime of the horn produces a fundamental frequency and harmonics, or multiples, of the fundamental. The third harmonic of the 370 Hz. chime is 1110 Hz, and the second-harmonic of the 550 Hz. chime is 1100 Hz. Sound waves of these two nearly-identical frequencies add and subtract (reinforce and cancel) to produce the variation observed.

74

With the exception of the Hancock whistle, a consistent difference of approximately 10 dB was observed between measurements at 300 feet and at 100 feet. Almost equal levels were measured from the whistle at the two distances; this most likely was caused by the high placement of the whistle and its directivity due to the reflector with which it is fitted. The whistle is approximately fourteen feet above the ground and the microphone was held about four feet above the ground. Thus there was less off-axis angular displacement of the microphone at the greater distance. Another possible cause may be the location of the passenger station 400 feet back from the locomotive; it may have altered the data by causing reflections which reinforced or partially canceled the sound.

The observed sound levels at 100 feet varied from 115 dB (one of the Nathan M-3R1 horns) to 100 dB (whistle). At 300 feet, the range was 105 dB (one of the Nathan M-3R2 horns) to 95 dB (Metroliner).

Test Stand Measurements

A chartered locomotive on the Narragansett Pier Railroad in Kingston, Rhode Island, was used as a test stand for measurements at various angles and distances. The locomotive was spotted next to a farmer's flat potato field and measurements could be made at various angles as well as along the track. Before the horns were tested, the area was measured and marked to obtain measurement sites at 300 feet and angles of 0, 30, 60, and 90 degrees, as well as 100 feet and 600 feet at 0 degrees.

Brand-new horns, submitted for testing by the manufacturers, were rigged onto a dump pipe (portable conductor's valve) and operated from the stationary locomotive (see Figures 23 and 24). The horns were approximately ten feet above the ground and oriented with the logitudinal axis of the locomotive. The microphone was hand-held approximately four feet above the ground. Recordings were made at 300 feet on-axis; at the other measurement sites, the sound-level meter reading was entered on a data sheet.



Figure 23. Horns for Test Stand Measurements





.76

TABLE 8. Audible Warning Sound Levels - 'Test Stand' Measurements - T 1 T - A

.

a an tain tain 1

.

.

.

Distance = 300 feet except * 100 feet

| | Rea | <u></u> |
|-------|---------------------|--|
| | -12R Jorn | |
| | Р- #2 I | |
| | •. | |
| | R Rear | |
| | 142 rn | |
| | HAN Ho | |
| | HTH #2 | |
| | - | |
| | 124 | |
| | Ч | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | 123/ | |
| ' | Р- | |
| ÈĒ | | ╡┊┊┊┊╞╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪ ╪╬┊ ╞╪┿╪╋┢┿╪╡ ╊╴ <u></u> <u></u> |
| | - | ec [] |
| | 3Co 2B-1 | |
| | WAI E-2 | |
| \$ | | |
| Ļ | ••• | |
| | - 3L | |
| | ν, | |
| | • | |
| | ą | |
| | E E E | |
| 41.12 | ISLI 2M- lorn | |
| | LE S- C | |
| | 5井 | |
| | | |
| | Fwo | |
| | 2M- orn | |
| | L H | |
| Ť | #3 | |

Amplitude vs. time plots drawn by a graphic level recorder from magnetic tape.

Eight horn configurations were tested:

- 1. Leslie Supertyfon S-2M-R, #31 horn forward. This is a 310 and a 440 Hz horn, the former facing forward and the latter facing rear.
- 2. Leslie Supertyfon S-2M-R, #44 horn forward. The same as configuration 1, oriented with the 440 Hz chime facing forward.
- 3. Leslie Supertyfon S-3L. This is a three-chime horn, 250, 310 and 440 Hz horns, all facing forward.
- 4. WABCo E-2B-1 Pneuphonic horn. WABCo does not publish frequencies in its catalog; frequency analysis of the tape indicates that the three chime frequencies are 160, 220 and 270 Hz. All face forward.
- 5. Nathan AirChime P-12345. Five chimes, frequencies 277, 329, 392, 440 and 554 Hz, all facing forward.
- 6. Nathan AirChime P-124. Three chimes, frequencies 277, 329 and 440 Hz, all facing forward.
- 7. Nathan AirChime P-142R. Same as #6 but 329 Hz chime facing rear.
 - 8. Nathan AirChime P-12R. Two chimes, frequency 277 Hz facing forward and 329 Hz facing rear.

Table 8 compares the various horns as drawn by the graphic level recorder in the amplitude vs. time mode. The sound levels at 300 feet varied from approximately 100 dB (Nathan P-124) to 90 dB (WABCo E-2B-1). Note that the air pressure on the Narragansett Pier RR is lower than that on the Penn Central; tables 7 and 8 cannot be fairly compared directly. A Leslie data sheet indicates that <u>Supertyfon horns</u> have approximately 5 dB greater output at 100 PSI than at 60 PSI. The WABCo E-2B-1 horn is rated by its manufacturer as capable of producing 107 dB at 100 feet and 120 PSI; this is 6 dB greater than the 101 dB measured for this study at 100 feet and 65 PSI.

Table 9 summarizes the sound-level meter readings at various distances and angles. A major objective of this experiment was to determine the directivity of various devices. The measurements indicate that, on the average, output was 5 dB lower at 90 degrees compared to the output on-axis. The WABCo E-2B-1 and Nathan P-124 were the most directional, with 10 dB difference between



| Location Distance Angle | A 300' 0° | B 300' 300 | C 300' 60° | - D 300' 90 ⁰ | E 100' 0° | F 600 ¹ 0 ⁰ |
|-------------------------------|-----------------|------------------|------------------|--------------------------------|-----------------|---|
| Average - all horns | 94 | 94 | 91 | 89 | 105 | 87 |
| Horn Type | | э | | | , | |
| Les S-2M-R (#31 fwd) | 93 | 96 | 90 | 89 | 104 | 82 |
| Les S-2M-R (#44 fwd) | 90 | 88 | 86 | 86 | 102 | 81 |
| Les S-3L | 94 | 98 | 95 | 91 | 110 | 90 |
| Wab E-2B-1 | 92 | 90 | 86 | 82 | 101 | 82 |
| Nat P-12345 | 97 | 96 | 97 | 93 | 107 | 90 |
| Nat P-124 | 100 | 97 | 95 | 90 | 108 | 92 |
| Nat P-142R | 94 | 92 | 92 | 94 | 104 | 91 |
| Nat P-12R | 91 | 92 | 89 | 87 | 102 | 89 |

NOTE: Single readings of this type, taken outdoors, can vary considerably with wind and standing wave reflections. These readings have an accuracy no better than plus or minus 3 decibels.

TABLE 9. Sound Patterns

on-axis and 90 degrees. Not all measurements with the lessdirectional horns gave a neat, stair-step result of greatest level on-axis, less at 30 degrees, still less at 60 degrees, and least at 90 degrees. The ratio of greatest-to-least level for the other horns was: Leslie S-3L, 7 dB; Leslie S-2M-R, 6 dB; Nathan P-12-R, 5 dB; Nathan P-12345, 4 dB; and Nathan P-242R, 2 dB. The average amount of directivity was judged to be appropriate for the geometry of the train/motor vehicle encounter.

An additional finding is that comparison of levels on-axis at 100, 300 and 600 feet indicates that the 'inverse square law' is an adequate rule for approximating the attenuation of railroad horn sounds vs. distance. This law states that the ratio of sound power is inversely proportional to the square of the ratio of distance, when comparing two measurements at different locations.

Wayside Measurements

Wayside measurements were made at fourteen different locations on the Penn Central, Richmond Fredricksburg and Potomac, Southern, and Long Island Railroads. The locations were selected to give as many different types of equipment and operating conditions as possible. Road locomotives, yard locomotives, suburban multiple-unit cars, Metroliner multiple-unit cars, and the TurboTrain were included, operating at speeds between 10 and 110 MPH.

The purpose was to obtain recordings and measurements under the actual conditions experienced by a motor vehicle at a crossing, with all the variations caused by train speed, engineers' horn-blowing habits, terrain, surrounding noises, etc., that this implies. Some of the wayside measurements were of horns or whistles identical to those represented in the yard measurements. Thus a comparison is possible between the two types of measurements; one made under semi-controlled conditions and the other made under uncontrolled field conditions. Figures 25 and 26 illustrate measurement techniques and a Metroliner train during measurements. The recordings were also used in the Empirical Testing of Warning Qualities as described in Chapter 9.



Figure 25. Recording at the Wayside



Figure 26. Metroliner Passing at Glenn Dale

81

Table 10 contains amplitude vs. time plots of the approach and passing of trains at two grade crossings in the Northeast Corridor (the Penn Central line between Boston and Washington). These plots illustrate, in a graphical form, the sound profile heard at the crossing for some different types of train: fast freight, regular passenger, and highspeed passenger trains. The table will be discussed in greater detail in the section of this chapter subtitled 'Analysis'.

Location of Horns - The performance of horns as warning devices can be affected by their placement on the equipment. In order to evaluate this effect, recordings were made using two recorders simultaneously on opposite sides of the track in an area where locomotives with asymmetrically-mounted horns are in use. The locomotives are roadswitcher types (ALCo AGP-20), normally operated hood-in-front, with the horns located on the side of the hood about halfway between the nose and the cab (see Figure 27). Plots of these recordings (page 3 of Table 10) show that the second blast of the horn **peaked** at 91 dB on the 'horn' side of the track and at 83 dB on the 'opposite' side of the track.



Figure 27. Horn Mounted on Hood of Locomotive

TABLE 10. AUDIBLE WARNING SOUND LEVELS - WAYSIDE MEASUREMENTS (P. 1)



Amplitude vs. time plots drawn by a graphic level recorder from magnetic tape. . Writing Speed 20 In/Sec, Paper Speed 7.5 In/Min

Freight Train Approx Speed 60 Penn-Central Railroad - Wayside Recordings at Glenn Dale Rd, Glenn Dale, Md., 7 Oct 69 7 Sec-580 Ft | Crossing TABLE 10. AUDIBLE WARNING SOUND LEVELS - WAYSIDE MEASUREMENTS (P. 2) Time (2 Sec/Div) Both Trains Headed Toward Washington • Train No. 2001 (Metroliner) Approx Speed 110 dB 80 110 100 90 Ý 3 ~ <u>2</u> . . . 6 Sec-975 Ft 110 đВ 100 20 90 80 84

Amplitude vs. time plots drawn by a graphic level recorder from magnetic tape. Writing Speed 20 In/Sec, Paper Speed 7.5 In/Min.

į.

.

TABLE 10. AUDIBLE WARNING SOUND LEVELS - WAYSIDE MEASUREMENTS (P. 3)

"

Horn Mounted on Hood of Locomotive

Simultaneous Recordings from Both Sides of Track

Second Blast marked with * Asterisk



Amplitude vs. time piots drawn by a graphic level recorder from magnetic tape. Writing Speed 20 In/Sec, Paper Speed 7.5 In/Min.

It is recognized that this particular mounting location is not used on the majority of locomotives; it is offered as one example of a mounting that can impair performance. Others observed during the study include: location on the hood near the cab (the cab roof projecting into the path of the sound from the horn), location on the hood near a stack or cooling fan blower or dynamic brake grid blower (these air streams can deflect the sound, just as natural wind does), and under the floorboards behind a cowling (on a multiple-unit car).

Additional Measurements

<u>Electronic Siren</u> - Measurements were made using a fire engine equipped with a Federal Model PA-20 electronic siren. This siren is capable of producing three different sounds, the 'Wail', the 'Yelp' and the 'Alert'. It can also be used to project received signals from the vehicle radio so that crew members can hear radio calls when working some distance away from the truck. For the measurements, the engine was taken into an industrial area (at night), and recordings were made at a distance of 300 feet, on-axis. The speaker on the electronic siren was essentially equal in height to the position of the _microphone.

Table 11, drawn by a graphic level recorder from magnetic tape playback, summarizes the performance of this siren. The 'wail' approximates the sound of a mechanical siren, with a note that slowly rises and falls in pitch. The 'yelp' sweeps rapidly between two frequencies (approximately 500 Hz and 1000 Hz, sweep rate 1/3 Hz; this is visible on the plot as a regular variation in amplitude). The 'alert' is a steady tone with a frequency of 1000 Hz. The first two would not be satisfactory for producing coded signals, such as the traditional crossing signal of two long, one short, and one long blast. This unit, rated at 75 watts, produced a sound level measured at 300 feet of approximately 90 dB, which is at the low end of the range measured using air-operated horns (Tables 7 and 8).

A prototype unit of Federal's electronic railroad horn was inspected (see Figure 20). This very compact unit is rated at 75 watts output, and Federal is working to produce a 100 watt model. It can be supplied with a wide variety of 'tone generator' cards, Some of which produce sounds quite similar to conventional railroad air horns. The model that was inspected did not provide for in-use selection of different tones.
TABLE 11. AUDIBLE WARNING SOUND LEVELS - ELECTRONIC SIREN

Distance = 300 feet



Amplitude vs. time plots drawn by a graphic level recorder from magnetic tape. Writing Speed 20 In/Sec, Paper Speed 7.5 In/Min.

87

, S Leslie'Warbler' - The Warbler is an assembly consisting of two 'Supertyfon' horns of different frequencies (310 and 440 Hz) mounted back-to-back on a valve which directs the airstream to the horns alternately. The valve causes each horn to operate for about $\frac{1}{2}$ second. The overall effect is a high-low sound similar to the 'Yelp' of the Federal electronic siren, except that the transition rate is slower. The Warbler is intended for stationary applications as a fire or civil defense signal. It is illustrated in Figure 28.



Figure 28. The Leslie Warbler

Measurements were made of the Warbler at about 250 feet to the side, and a reading of 94 dB was obtained. This is consistent with the average 88 dB obtained with the Leslie S-2M-R (which uses the same two horns) at 300 feet to the side at lower air pressure in the Test Stand Measurements.

While the Warbler is not railroad hardware in its present form, it illustrates the potential of mechanical horns to produce the varying tones found valuable in the Empirical Testing of Audible Warning Qualities.

Analysis

<u>Sound Levels Produced</u> - The sound level of the loudest horn tested in the Yard Measurements was 115 dB at 100 feet, and 106 dB at 300 feet. The average of the 300-foot sound level measurements (onaxis) for the eight horn configurations tested in the Test Stand Measurements is 94 dB. To adjust for the fact that low air pressure was used in the Test Stand Measurements, we shall add 5 dB to obtain 99 dB at 300 feet. The value of 99 dB at 300 feet will be used in this report as typical horn performance.

Reference to Tables 7 and 8 will show that these figures at 300 feet, 99 dB for high-pressure air and 94 dB for low-pressure air, reflect quite well the performance of the horns measured if a tolerance of \pm 5 dB is used. In each table, only one horn is outside the tolerance.

ممعوده يراجوه دراس

The 'Inverse-Square Law' can be used to expand the 99 dB at 300 feet typical figure into a table of sound levels at various distances. This law states that the power in a sound varies as the inverse of the square of the distance. For each factor of two in distance, the sound level changes by 6 dB, and for each factor of 1.4 in distance, the sound level changes by 3 dB. Table 12 shows the results of this calculation for distances between 100 and 200 feet. The calculated values at 100 and 600 feet agree within ± 2 dB with measured values.

<u>Tolerances</u> - The tolerance of \pm 5 dB shown above may seem imprecise, especially to those who recall that \pm 5 dB represents increasing sound power by about three times, and the 10 dB range covered by the tolerance represents a sound power ratio of 10:1. It should be considered, however, that the listener perceives a change of 5 dB in sound level as a relatively small change in loudness. Experimenters in acoustics have asked observers to make judgments of the loudness ratio of sounds, that is, to state when one sound is twice, four times, one-half, etc., as loud as another. It may be inferred from the literature (Peterson¹²) that a railroad horn 10 dB higher in sound-level than another would be perceived to be about twice as loud as the lower one.

A second consideration is that environmental conditions, such as sound reflections and wind conditions, cause reduction or augmentation of the sound-level actually available. A considerable variation in sound-level

. 89

| TABLE 12. | Typical | Railroad | Horn | Sound | Levels |
|-----------|---------|----------|------|-------|--------|
|-----------|---------|----------|------|-------|--------|

| Distance Adjustment | Calculated Sound Level | Measured Sound Level |
|------------------------|--|--|
| dB | dB | dB |
| +9 +3 | 108 102 | 110 |
| 0 | 99 | 99 |
| -3 -6 -9 -12 | 96 93 90 87 | 92 |
| | Distance Adjustment dB +9 +3 0 -3 -6 -9 -12 | Distance Adjustment Calculated Sound Level dB dB +9 108 +3 102 0 99 -3 96 -6 93 -9 90 -12 87 |

Calculated sound level values were obtained by the use of the Inverse-Square Law, with the value at 300 feet as the baseline. The distance adjustment, obtained from the application of this law, was added to (or subtracted from) 99 dB to produce the sound level for each distance from the horn.

The baseline value of 99 dB at 300 feet, and the measured sound levels, are averages of eight measured sound levels from different horn configurations. The same locomotive was used as a mount and air supply for all horns, and the measurement sites were the same for all horns. All measured values have been increased by 5 dB to compensate for the low air pressure used in the tests. These measurements are shown in more detail in Table 9. is experienced in measurements made of repeated passes of a particular locomotive over a particular crossing. A small sample of this nature was taken at a crossing along a suburban branch of the Penn Central on which a passenger shuttle train is operated; five westbound passes of the same multiple-unit car were measured (all on the same day). Six seconds before the train passed over the crossing, the whistle was measured at 78, 79, 83, 85, and 80 dB.

<u>Sound Levels at the Wayside</u> - The sound perceived by a listener at the crossing as a train approaches and passes changes rapidly as a function of the distance from the train to the crossing. The measurement technique used for this analysis involved making a calibrated sound recording at the crossing on magnetic tape, and using a graphic level recorder to produce a plot of sound level vs. time.

On the first two pages of Table 10, the approach and passing of five different trains at two crossings is plotted. Each is analyzed below as a case history, in order to estimate what sound level would exist outside a motor vehicle having a Critical Encounter (see Chapter 3) with each train. Both $crossin_{b}s$ have a speed limit for motor vehicles of approximately 30 MPH. The Time to Clear for such crossings is 6 seconds (Table 4); the sound levels produced by the horn of each train 6 seconds before entering the crossing will be examined. It is recognized that the Critical Point is about 200 feet back from the crossing in these examples, and that the measurements ideally should have been taken from that point; this will be considered separately in each case history:

1. Train 172 (Page 1 of Table 10), a standard passenger train going approximately 40 MPH eastbound. The four blasts of the horn that comprise the grade crossing signal are easily distinguished on the chart, and are also indicated by heavy black bars at the top of the plot. The train went over the crossing 50 seconds after the electric crossing protection was activated and 13 seconds after it began sounding its horn as a warning. When the train was 6 seconds and 355 feet from the crossing, the horn produced a sound level of about 96 dB at the crossing. Based on this measurement, a computation shows that at the Critical Point, the Radial Distance is about 425 feet and the angle is 30 degrees; measurement at the Critical Point should have given a reading of about 94 dB at this time.

- 2. Mail Train (Page 1 of Table 10), going approximately 60 MPH westbound. The engineer sounded the grade crossing signal twice. The train went over the crossing 30 seconds after the electric crossing protection was activated and 11 seconds after it began sounding its horn as a warning. When the train was 6 seconds and 528 feet from the crossing, the horn produced about 91 dB at the crossing. At the Critical Point, the Radial Distance is 586 feet and the angle is 21 degrees; estimated sound level at the Critical Point is 90 dB.
- 3. Train 3002 (Page 1 of Table 10), the TurboTrain, going approximately 55 MPH eastbound. The train went over the crossing 35 seconds after the electric protection was activated and 9 seconds after it began sounding its horn. When the train was 6 seconds and 488 feet from the crossing, the horn produced about 84 dB at the crossing. At the Critical Point, the Radial Distance is 545 feet and the angle is 23 degrees; estimated sound level at the Critical Point is 83 dB.
- 4. Train 2001 (Page 2 of Table 10), a Metroliner, going approximately 110 MPH westbound. The train went over the crossing 30 seconds after the electric protection was activated and 9 seconds after it began sounding its horn. When the train was 6 seconds and 975 feet from the crossing, the horn produced about 78 dB at the crossing. Estimated sound level at the Critical Point is also 78 dB. The first blast of the horn cannot be distinguished on the chart, although the ear can pick it out on playback. The second blast is only about 3 dB above the local noise level. Four different recordings were taken of Metroliners at Glenn Dale on two different days; the other trains have results that are similar to these. To show the entire range of sound levels, the train is plotted twice in the table, with different scale factors.
- 5. Freight Train (Page 2 of Table 10), going approximately 60 MPH westbound. The train went over the crossing 9 seconds after it began sounding its horn. When the train was 7 seconds and 580 feet from the crossing, the horn produced about 86 dB at the crossing.

In all the cases cited above, wayside sound measurements produced values lower than those listed in Table 12; Case 1-3 dB, Case 2-2 dB, Case 3-12 dB, Case 4-11 dB, and Case 5-7 dB. The average is -7 dB.

While it should be recognized that the distances and speeds shown in the case analyses are rough estimates, this result is significant enough to suggest that the values given in Table 12 are optimistic rather than conservative, as they apply to the sound levels actually available for warning motorists in the real world.

CHAPTER 9. AUDIBLE - EMPIRICAL TESTING OF WARNING QUALITIES

Purpose of the Test

<u>Tonality</u> - The sound of a warning device may be said to have two basic qualities: amplitude and tonality. Amplitude is easily defined as the power of a sound, and this quality can best be measured by instruments. Tonality of a sound is defined here to mean all the elements that make one sound different from another: frequency, harmonic content, dissonance, periodicity, etc. Quite a few instruments are available to describe these elements, such as frequency meters and sound analyzers. The total effect of a sound on a person, however, is elusive.

Therefore, it was decided to construct a test in which human subjects would be exposed to various kinds of warning sounds in a manner which would test the comparative merits of different tonalities. The basic criterion for evaluating merit was whether a sound could be perceived as a warning at a lower amplitude than another sound.

An important premise in the construction of the test was that the subjects had to be engaged in the actual activity of driving a motor vehicle as the sounds were presented. Various schemes involving the use of actual trains, or railroad horns concealed by the wayside, etc., were considered and rejected on grounds of safety or impracticality.

<u>Amplitude</u> - A very useful output of this testing was the compilation of actual sound levels required, directly outside the motor vehicle, to be perceived as warnings by the driver. This information, obtained under normal driving conditions with windows closed, is available in various categories of speed, vehicle type, etc. It makes evaluation of the performance of railroad horns possible, by relating the sound at the horn to the sound required at the motor vehicle. This is analyzed in detail in chapter 2.

Construction of a Test-

The selected testing method used a sound system attached to the vehicle

(see Figures 29 to 31) to produce warning sounds outside the vehicle. Nine sounds of different tonalities were selected for use. Each sound was presented at seven different known loudness levels; the loudest high enough to be obvious to the driver, and the lowest too quiet to be heard inside the moving vehicle. The 63 different presentations (9 sounds x 7 levels) were recorded on an hour-long tape in random order and at random spacings. The driver, with an observer in the vehicle, was asked to drive over a preselected route as the tape was played through the outside loudspeaker. The driver's instructions were to report warning sounds to the observer when heard. The observer, using an earphone to hear all sounds, marked a '+' or '-' sign on a data sheet to signify that a sound was or was not heard.



Figure 29. New Car Rigged for Empirical Testing







Figure 31. Electronics Inside Truck Cab

Ľ.

Accident Statistics as Criteria

An analysis was made of grade crossing accident statistics in order to identify whether some particular condition or conditions were especially conducive to this kind of accident, and to identify the population of people and vehicles involved in such accidents. New York State has a computerized system for handling accident reports, and a printout was obtained for all reported accidents in 1967 in which 'Collision with Train' was indicated. One hundred seventy-eight cases were printed out, with information on thirteen factors each. This information is summarized in Table 13.

The table shows that December was the worst month of that particular year, with 27 crossing accidents compared with 20 accidents in March, the second worst. July had the fewest accidents with 7. Fifty-five percent occurred in daylight and the same percentage under clear, dry conditions (not necessarily the same accidents). Thirty-seven percent of the accidents involved property damage only; presumably in many of these the car stalled on the tracks and the operator left the car. Ten accidents were reported as having no operator, but this statistic cannot be considered reliable because some operators who left the car may have been confused about the proper entry on - this part of the accident report.

Design Drivers and Design Vehicles - These accident statistics were used as an aid to determining the range of design drivers and the range of design vehicles. It was desired to have the sample of drivers used in testing match as well as possible the population of drivers who have crossing accidents. The sample did, of course, exclude people visibly unfit to drive; sleepy, drunk, not holding valid licenses, etc. Three age classes were used for testing, and the age limits of the classes were set so as to include approximately equal numbers of operators involved in accidents as shown in Table 13. The 'best fit' using three levels was:

16-25 Years
 26-40 Years
 41 Years and Over.

.....

An equal number of runs was scheduled using drivers from each group. Women were driving in about 1/5 of the accidents; while sex was not a controlled variable, it was desired to have some minority representation from women in the testing.

TABLE 13. NEW YORK STATE GRADE CROSSING ACCIDENTS

.

1967 - COLLISION WITH TRAIN

| MONTH | YR VEHICLE | AGE OPERATOR | SEX OPERATOR |
|--|--|--|--|
| $ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 68 1 67 27 66 24 65 18 64 20 63 18 62 25 61 10 60 11 59 4 58 1 57 4 Older 11 N R 4 178 | (00) none 10 16-20 24 21-25 24 26-30 17 31-35 22 36-40 17 41-45 16 46-50 9 51-55 10 56-60 14 61-65 8 01der 6 (99) N R 1 178 | <pre>(0) none 9 (1) M 139 (2) F 29 (9) N R 1 178 SEVERITY (1) Fatal 23 (2) Injury 89 (3) Prop 66 178</pre> |
| DAY OF WK (1) Su 23 (2) Mo 18 (3) Tu 26 (4) We 24 (5) Th 34 (6) Fr 32 (7) Sa 20 (9) N R 1 178 | WEATHER & ROAD (1) Clr Dry 100 (2) Clr Wet 16 (3) Clr IceS 13 (4) Rain Wet 19 (5) Rain IceS 2 (7) Sno IceS 12 (8) Fog Dry 1 (9) N R 12 (0) Fog Wet 1 (12) Sleet Ice 2 178 | CONTRIB CIRCUM (1) No Viol 29 (2) Fail Yld 66 (5) Imp Pass 1 (6) Reckless 60 (7) Speed 11 (8) Stop Sgn 9 (12) Avoid Vh 2 178 | KILLED & INJ 0 66 1 71 2 27 3 8 4 3 5 2 6 <u>1</u> 178 |
| HOUR | LIGHT CONDITION | SPECIAL CONDITION | TYPE VEHICLE |
| $ \begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$ | (1) Day 98 (2) Dawn 3 (3) Dusk 4 (4) Dark, Lts 35 (5) Dark, Unlit36 (9) N R <u>2</u> 178 | Drinking 4 Veh Defect 12 Road Defect 3 Inattent 144 No Spec Co 15 178 | (1) Pass Car 126 (2) Compact 16 (5) Truck 21 (6) Trac Trl 13 (9) N R 1 (11) Con Eq 1 178 |

The vehicle class was also controlled in three levels. Two levels were chosen to represent automobiles of different age classes, in order to evaluate whether recent changes in car manufacture (accompanied by much advertising claiming interior silence) and customer preference for accessories such as air conditioning had made a significant difference in perception of audible warnings. Table 13 indicates that the five most recent model years (including the present year) account for about half of the automobiles involved in gradecrossing accidents. Trucks and tractor-trailers were involved in about 1/5 of the accidents; they are an important minority because their acoustical environment is quite different from that of cars, and because grade crossing accidents involving trucks are often very damaging to railroad personnel and property. The chosen levels of this factor are:

- 1. Automobile, 1966 model or newer
- 2. Automobile, 1965 model or older
- 3. Truck.

Other Factors - Two additional factors, other than sounds, were considered controllable and significant. These were selected without reference to Table 13. One was Distractions, in increasing order of mental effort on the part of the driver:

- 1. No Distractions
- 2. Radio
- 3. Driver Conversing with Observer.

The other factor is Speed Range:

- 1. 21-35 MPH 2. 36-50 MPH
- 3. 51-65 MPH.

Sounds

Railroad Sounds - Five horns, one whistle, and one locomotive bell were among the sounds used in the testing. The horn and whistle sounds were all recorded at the wayside from trains going at various speeds. It was felt that the realism thus gained would offset the loss of controlled conditions that would have been possible with yard or test stand recordings. Two high-pitched horns were selected, one recorded from a Metroliner traveling at 110 MPH, and the other re-

corded from the TurboTrain traveling at 55 MPH (all speeds are approximate). Two medium-pitch horns were selected, one a fivechime horn recorded from a train going 70 MPH on the Richmond, Fredricksburg and Potomac RR, the other a three-chime horn recorded from a Long Island Rail Road train going at 55 MPH. A low-pitched horn, from a Penn Central GG-1 electric locomotive going at 80 MPH, was also used. The whistle was recorded on a branch of the Penn Central, with the train going about 45 MPH. The bell was recorded in a yard of the Penn Central.

Non-Railroad Sounds - Also used in the testing were an electronic siren and a new sound especially synthesized for the purpose. The electronic siren sound is the 'Yelp' recorded from a fire truck; this sound is described in detail in the section of Chapter 8 subtitled 'Additional Measurements'.

The last sound was synthesized for the test by an 'electronic sound' laboratory whose principal market is for radio and television advertising. The proprieter (Raymond Scott, a noted studio musician for many years before going into this field) was asked to create his preliminary idea of what a train should sound like approaching a crossing, considering the conflicting requirements of high warning value plus low nuisance value. The resulting tape had on it a rising and falling musical sound which somewhat resembled notes played on a xylophone. It was judged quite distinctive and recognizable, but somewhat lacking in the urgency that one associates with a good warning, and not suggestive of 'train' to the listener. It was included in the testing to determine whether it was sufficiently audible to justify more effort in this general direction. Mr. Scott had named the tape 'Locomotive 1972'.

Summarizing the Sounds presented:

- 1. LIRR (3-Chime) Horn
- 2. Metroliner Horn
- 3. RF&P (5-Chime) Horn
- 4. TurboTrain Horn
- 5. Whistle
- 6. Bell
- 7. Electronic Siren 'Yelp'
- 8. GG-1 Horn
- 9. Synthesized Sound 'Locomotive 1972'.

Preparation of Tapes

Each sound was presented as a single blast of the horn (or equivalent) with a duration of about 2-1/2 seconds. The duration and envelope (shape of the amplitude vs. time curve) could not be closely controlled since wayside recordings were used as a basic source. This had some effect on the results (see the section on 'Analysis'). A master recording tape was made of the nine sounds at equal levels; see Table 14 for an amplitude vs. time plot of the master.

It was desired that the driver should not be able to anticipate the time, sound, or amplitude of the next presentation. Three different presentation tapes were prepared, using tables of random numbers for two purposes:

1. Randomization of the sequence of sounds and amplitudes. The first sound, lowest amplitude, was assigned the number '1'; the first sound, next higher amplitude was assigned '2', etc. to '63' (there are nine sounds x seven amplitudes). For each presentation tape a list was prepared, with each number 1 to 63 appearing exactly once, the sequence determined from a table of two-digit random numbers.

2. Randomization of the interval between presentations. Numbers between 14 and 76 were selected from a random number table and a sequence list was prepared for each tape, with the numbers representing seconds between presentations. There was no requirement that a number appear exactly once.

Using the sequence lists as a guide, the presentation tapes were prepared from the master tape. A steady calibration tone began each tape, and the levels used were -15, -10, -5, 0, +5, +10, +15 dB referred to the calibration tone.

Conduct of Testing

Four factors of three levels constitute a matrix of $3 \times 3 \times 3 \times 3$ or 81 trials. Each trial used one presentation tape presenting all sounds at

TABLE 14. Presentation Sounds - Empirical Testing Of Audible Warnings



. 102

TIME (2 Sec/Div)

Vertical Scale (relative only); 1 dB per Minor Division

Amplitude vs. time plots drawn by a graphic level recorder from magnetic tape.

seven different amplitudes and requiring just under an hour to run. Changes in vehicle type entailed approximately two hours to move equipment from one vehicle to another (see Figures 29 to 31), so the testing was broken into three series of 27 runs with one vehicle type. Vehicles selected were: 1970 sedan or hardtop with air conditioning, 1960 hardtop, 1966 9-foot rack body truck with manual transmission. All runs were made with windows closed.

At the beginning of each run, the vehicle was pulled to the side of the road, and the calibration tone was played from the beginning of the presentation tape. A sound-level meter was placed on the roof of the vehicle and the volume control of the amplifier was adjusted to obtain the desired sound level. This level was entered on the data sheet. Low speed runs were generally set for 80 dB, medium speed runs for 85 dB, and high-speed runs were set for 90 dB. The different levels of calibration only served to shift the loudest and softest tones; the calibration level was taken into account in the Data Analysis.

Drivers were obtained mainly from a 'temporary industrial help' firm, and were all male with one exception. The casual nature of this type of labor made it difficult to enforce a fixed number of runs per individual; this number varied between 1 and 9. Each individual was fitted only into trials calling for his age group, and no individual drove more than one vehicle. Seventeen different individuals were used in the series.

The most difficult factor to control during the tests was Distractions. It was the observer's duty to minimize conversation on runs not requiring it, and to engage the driver in conversation when it was required. He also monitored radio volume (when called for) to a 'moderate' level. Hardest of all was, on runs requiring conversation, maintaining a smooth flow of talk as the earphone called out presentations; any halting or change at that moment could represent a cue to the driver. Despite this, and the natural human tendency to talk when one should not and to be quiet when one should talk, a good level of control was maintained.

The speed range factor was controlled basically by setting the route. Three routes were picked (see Figure 32) appropriate for the speed ranges called for. Route #1 was the slow-speed route, over winding country/suburban roads from Stamford to Wilton and Weston, Connec-





ticut. Route #2 was on a straighter road from Stamford to Bedford, New York, allowing operation in the middle range. Route #3 was on expressways from Stamford to Tarrytown, New York, and was used for the high-speed runs. Routes were not rigidly controlled; considerable variation was allowed in routings within the speed range constraints.

A second tape recorder was mounted in the vehicle and used to record sounds inside the car, as a check on sounds, responses, distraction control, etc. This proved valuable at the beginning of testing when observer techniques were being perfected; playback was used to locate missing responses on data sheets. These recordings were deemed superfluous about halfway through the testing program, and were discontinued at that time.

Data from each of the 81 runs was recorded on a data sheet (Figure 33) coded for maximum convenience of the field observer, and deliberately intended to discourage the observer from giving clues to the driver. The observer, upon hearing a presentation number through his earphone, entered a '+' or '-' sign depending on the driver's response.

Verification Tests

In order to demonstrate the extent to which the recorded sounds simulated the actual sound of a locomotive horn, verification tests were conducted in the vicinity of Yaphank, New York, on the eastern portion of the Long Island Rail Road Main Line. A chartered locomotive was used to present sounds to the driver of an automobile equipped with the sound system for presenting recorded warnings, as used in the testing described earlier in this chapter. There would have been two serious drawbacks to arranging the verification test to present an encounter between the locomotive and the car at a crossing:

1. Safety. It was not desired to have a locomotive and a motor vehicle deliberately set on conflicting paths, despite all precautions that could be devised.

Tute 50+50- 1.00

No. 12

<u>DATA SHEET</u> EMPIRICAL TESTING OF AUDIBLE WARNINGS *P.L. (A Trial No. 3* Tape No. <u>103</u> Distrac <u>J</u> Speed <u>2</u> Vehicle <u>J</u> Date <u>J7 *FEB* Time 920</u> Observer <u>JA</u> Driver: Name <u>JAI LYNCH</u> Address <u>Age 23</u> License State <u>No. 527 6 Exp.</u> Calibration: Pre-test Sound Level <u>85</u> Post-test Sound Level <u>Verification Tape No. <u>110 - 1</u></u>

RESPONSE

FIGURE 33

| No. | Sound | Resp. | L. | No. | Sound | Resp. | L | No. | Sound | Resp. | |
|----------------|----------------|-------|----|----------------|----------------|-------|----|----------------|--|--------|---|
| 1 2 3 | 10 55 30 | + + | | 22 23 24 | 4 16 33 | + | | 43 44 45 | 237 | | |
| 456 | 53 23 1 | ++++ | - | 25 26 27 | 24 99 | + | - | 46 47 48 | 45 | ++- | |
| 7 8 9 | 3794 | -++ | F | 28 29 30 | 1879 | ++ | | 49 50 51 | 6 14 2 1 | 1/ | |
| 10 11 12 | 58 120 | + | ~ | 31 32 33 | 60 54 46 | + | -1 | 52 53 54 | 168 7 | | |
| 13 14 15 | 250 | +++ | | 34 35 36 | 46 20 11 | 11 | | 55 56 57 | 374 | += | 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m |
| 16 17 18 | 22 31 | ++++ | | 37 38 39 | 42 57 47 | | | 58 59 60 | ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ | + | |
| 19 20 21 | 28 36 | 17 | | 40 41 42 | 41 51 2 | 1+ | | 61 62 63 | 522 | + = | |
| * | | · . | • | | 106 | | | Ţ. | NOT RE | PRODUC | IBLE |

2. Timing. If the locomotive and motor vehicle approach each other at approximately right angles, the geometrical relationships between them change so fast that there is only a very small time 'window' when the sound of the horn would be received at the desired level outside the car. This makes planning the experiment and its control much more difficult.



Figure 34. Verification Testing

To avoid these problems, a site was selected where a road ran parallel and adjacent to the railroad for some distance. The locomotive (running light) ran at constant speed (30-35 MPH), and the automobile followed it, with about a 300 foot lag. The car was equipped with a signal light on the roof to command a blast from the locomotive horn. Different sounds, including sounds from a similar horn of the same railroad, were re-recorded from the tapes used for Empirical Testing. The tape also had a voice channel, to be played into the observer's earphone, containing signals calling for lighting of the signal light. Figure 34 shows the locomotive and the equipped car in action. During the test, drivers quickly learned the difference in tone between the recorded horns, some of which were of a type different from the

locomotive horn under test, and the horn on the locomotive. A new recording was made on the spot using the test locomotive, and this was more successful in 'fooling' the drivers. Even here, however, after some experience they were able to recognize the loudness of the tape and the variability in loudness of the real locomotive. Our conclusion, based on evaluations by several observers, is that the presentation system was realistic in actual operation. The ability of drivers to distinguish real from recorded sounds was judged to be based on their learning of characteristics not dependent on sound realism, and not related to the perception thresholds of different sounds.

Analysis

Data Reduction - The '+' and '-' responses from the 81 Data Sheets were transcribed onto 'Data Reduction Worksheets' (Figure 35), which decoded the order in which the sounds were presented into a consistent tabular form, with names of sounds on the left and decibel values along the top.

The next step was to select, for each trial, one perception decibel value for each sound. One would expect that, on a given trial, a given sound would be perceived at its loudest level and at some successively lower levels, then not perceived at all lower levels. For example (as shown in Figure 35), the TurboTrain elicited a positive response during Trial #3 at 100, 95, 90 and 85 dB, and a negative response at 80, 75 and 70dB. Actually, it was found that in a noticeable minority of cases, driver responses did not fit this pattern. To obtain decibel ratings in a consistent form which would not bias the final result, a set of rules was devised. The rules are given in Table 15.

Application of these rules resulted in expression of the data from one trial as nine decibel values, or 729 values in all (see Appendix I). These values are the raw data used as input to the statistical analysis.

Statistical Analysis - Means and standard deviations were calculated for each of the five single factors; Sounds, Driver Age, Type of Vehicle, Distractions, and Speed Range.

FIGURE 35

| DATA REDUCTION WORKSHEET | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|------|--|-----------------|----------|--------|--|--|
| Trial No. 3 | | Cali | bration | Sound L | evel 8 | -5 dB | |
| | | | | r | | <u>г </u> | |
| Sound Levels: | . 50 | 95 | 90 | 85 | 80 | 75 | 70 |
| SOUNDS | | | | | | | |
| 1. LIRR | 1+ | 2 | 3+ | 4 - | 5- | 6— | 7- |
| 2. Metrol'r | 8+ | 9 — | 10 + | 11+5 | 12 – | 13 | 14 — |
| 3. RF&P | 15 + | 16 | 17+, | 18 — | 19 | 20 | 21 |
| 4. Turbo | 22 + | 23 + | 24 + | 25+, | 26 — | 27 — | 28 — |
| 5. Whis (NH) | 29 + | 30 + | 31,+, | 32 - | 33 | 34 — | 35 — |
| 6. Bell | 36 7 | 37+, | 38 — | 39 - | 40 — | 41— | 42 — |
| 7. Yelp | 43 + | 44+ | 45 + | 46 - / , | 47 — | 48 — | 49 - |
| 8. GG-1 | 50 + | 51 + | 52 , | 53 — | 54 | 55 — | 56 — |
| 9. Loco 1972 | 57 — | 58 | 59 + 5 | 60— | 61 — | 62 | 63 — |
| | 5 | 1 | 4 | 3 | 0 | Ċ | 20 |
| Trial No. 4 | | Calil | bration | Sound L | evel_8 | <u>ав</u> | |
| Sound Levels: | a/ | 90 | | V | - 7/ | 70 | 65 |
| SOUNDS | 75 | 10 | د ه | 80 | /5 | 70 | |
| 1. LIRR | 1+ | 24, | 3 — | 4 — | 5 — | 6 — | 7- |
| 2. Metrol'r | 8 + | 9+1 | 10 _ | 11 — | 12 - | 13 + | 14 — |
| 3. RF&P | 15 + | 16 + | 27 + | 18+, | 19 — | 20 — | 21 - |
| 4. Turbo | 22 + | 23+ | 24+ | 25 + | 26 | 27 — | 28 — |
| 5. Whis (NH) | 29+ | 30 + | 31 - 2 | 32+ | 33— | 34 — | 35 — |
| o. Bell | 36 + | 37-+1 | 38 — | 39 - | 40 - | 41- | 42- |
| | | the second s | | | | | the second s |

53 ---

5

59 + 60 +

. .

4

54 -

61 +

.

•

7

51 + 152 -

G 109

58 +

1

56

63-

.

Z9

55 -

1

62

8. GG-1

9. Loco 1972

"NOT REPRODUCIBLE

41

50 -+-

57 +

:

TABLE 15

1.

2.

4.

5.

DECIBEL RATING OF RESPONSES

The expected form of response for any sound during any run is a series of positive responses from the highest sound presented, toward the lowest, until the sound is too soft to be heard. Thus the <u>lowest level sound that was heard is chosen for the dB rating</u>.

. . . .

Due to random variations, the level immediately above the lowest level heard, may not be heard. Thus a series of positives, one negative, and one positive (reading from the loudest) response results. In this case, the <u>missing</u> dB level is chosen.

The level 5 dB above those actually presented is assumed to be capable of eliciting a positive response. Thus a sound with all responses negative is assumed to have a level 5 dB above the highest actually presented.

A single positive response 10 dB or more below the next positive response, is assumed to be in error, and the next positive response is chosen.

A single negative response 10 dB or more above the next negative response, is assumed to be in error, and a lower positive response is chosen according to the other rules. The basic calculations are:

1. The mean (or average) $x = \sum x/n$

2. The standard deviation $s = \sqrt{\frac{n(\sum x^2) - (\sum x)^2}{n(n-1)}}$

where x represents one of the 729 decibel values in the raw data and n is the number of such values included in the calculation. If, for example, we were finding the mean decibel value for the Whistle, we would add the 81 values under Whistle and divide by 81. We could similarly find the mean of the 243 values obtained whenever the Radio was playing, etc. The standard deviation is a measure of variation in terms of the distances by which the values depart from their mean. The proportion of the data falling within k standard deviations of their mean is at least:

$1 - k^2$.

Thus at least 75 percent of any set of data must fall within 2 standard deviations of its mean, 89 percent must be within 3, 94 percent must be within 4, and 96 percent must be within 5 standard deviations.

Means and Standard Deviations - Table 16 shows the mean values and standard deviations for all single factors, each factor ranked from lowest to highest value. For example, the third line under Sounds states that the average value for perception of the TurboTrain horn under all conditions was 85.93 dB with a standard deviation of 6.42 dB. If we wanted to be sure that nearly 90 percent of all drivers heard the TurboTrain horn, we should present this sound outside the vehicle at a sound level of 85.93 + 3(6.42) = 105.19 dB (this should be rounded to 105 dB).

<u>Analysis of Variance</u> - Experimental results are always subject to inaccuracies and errors, and it is quite helpful to know whether the difference between two mean values is due to an actual superiority of one of the sounds or to some random error. The Whistle and the Bell, for example, have exactly the same mean perception level of 87.96 dB in Table 16; intuitively we can conclude that this experiment found no difference between them. Statistical techniques such Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) provide a method for developing criteria of how much

TABLE 16

MEANS AND STANDARD DEVIATIONS - SINGLE FACTORS

SOUNDS

| | Mean | Std. Dev. |
|------------------------|-------|-----------|
| ELECTRONIC SIREN | 85.25 | 5.86 |
| SYNTH. LOCOMOTIVE 1972 | 85.74 | 6.18 |
| TURBOTRAIN | 85.93 | 6.42 |
| 5-CHIME HORN (RF&P) | 87.53 | 6.43 |
| GG-1 HORN | 87.65 | 6.37 |
| WHISTLE | 87.96 | 6.16 |
| BELL | 87.96 | 8.75 |
| 3-CHIME HORN (LIRR) | 88.89 | 7.03 |
| METROLINER HORN | 90.37 | 6.97 |
| | | |
| DRIVER AGE | | |
| | Mean | Std. Dev. |

| 16-25 YEARS | 85.62 | 6.20 |
|------------------|-------|------|
| 26-40 YEARS | 88.02 | 6.73 |
| 41 OR MORE YEARS | 88.79 | 7.28 |
| | | |

TYPE OF VEHICLE

| | • | | | | | Mean | Std. Dev. |
|----|------|------|----|-------|--|-------|-----------|
| | AUTO | 1966 | OR | NEWER | | 86.26 | 7.66 |
| •• | AUTO | 1965 | OR | OLDER | | 87.47 | 6.45 |
| | TRUC | ζ. | | | | 88.70 | 6.24 |

DISTRACTIONS

| • - | | Mean | Std. Dev. |
|--------------|-------------|-------|-----------|
| NONE | | 85.93 | 6.32 |
| CONVERSATION | · · · | 86.34 | 6.10 |
| RADIO | | 90.16 | 7.36 |
| | | · . | |
| . · · | SPEED RANGE | | |
| | | Mean | Std. Dev. |
| 21-35 MPH | | 83.46 | 5.94 |
| 36-50 MPH | | 86.85 | 6.20 |
| 51-65 MPH | | 92:12 | 5.49 |

.

112

...

**

-

difference in the mean values is enough to be considered significant. The ANOVA is described and summarized in Appendix H.

Another technique, the Tukey Method, also described in Appendix H, was used to identify significant differences in the means of factor levels. For single factors as shown in Table 16, we can not conclude that a real difference between two:

- 1. Sounds exists unless the mean value differs by at least 2.44 dB.
- 2. Driver ages, types of vehicle, distractions, or speed ranges exists unless the mean value differs by at least 2.61 dB.

Results

Tonalities - A major purpose of the Empirical Testing of Warning Qualities was to determine differences among tonalities of sounds. If one particular type of sound can be perceived at a lower amplitude (sound level) than other types of sounds, it has potential as an improved warning. The difference between the best warning sound and the worst warning sound was 5 dB (comparing mean values in Table 16); this is great enough to be significant but not so great as to grossly affect warning device performance.

The sounds fell into three groups within which no significant differences existed, reading from best to worst performer:

1. Electronic Siren/Synthetic Locomotive 1972/Turbotrain

2. 5-Chime RF&P/GG-1/Whistle/Bell

3. 3-Chime LIRR/Metroliner Horn

There is evidence that sounds which vary in pitch and amplitude, such as the electronic siren and 'Locomotive 1972', offer an advantage over standard horn-type sounds which do not vary. Low- and mediumpitched horns, with the exception of the 3-Chime LIRR horn, fell in the middle group.

The two high-pitched horns, Metroliner and TurboTrain, produced widely different results. This can be explained by the nature of the recordings. The sound of the Metroliner horn, as presented on the tape, suffers from the fact that the train was going at an extremely high speed when recorded. The sound as presented, selected as best from several tapes recorded at the wayside, starts low and rises rapidly in volume during one short blast. During this single blast, the train traveled about 350 feet toward the recorder. The Turbo-Train presentation is a longer blast, allowing the driver more time for perception. The conclusion is that the Metroliner horn, as perceived at the crossing, is relatively hard to hear; this does not mean that another horn mounted on the same train would have produced a better result.

Amplitude - The second function of the Empirical Testing of Warning Qualities was to find out how loud a warning sound must be, outside a motor vehicle, to be perceived by its driver as a warning sound. The overall mean (average) of the 729 sound-level decibel values obtained in the testing was 87.48 dB with a standard deviation of 6.87 dB.

There were four controlled factors under which the sounds were presented to the drivers: (See Table 16):

Driver Age. The youngest group (16-25) of drivers was significantly more acute in hearing the warning sounds than the oldest group (41+). The middle age group (26-40) had a mean less than 1/2 dB below the older group. The spread between highest and lowest mean value was 3.17 dB.

1...

- 2. Type of Vehicle. There was not enough difference between the vehicles to meet the test of significance. The fact that the New Car had the lowest value for perception tends to indicate that the important factor is masking by engine noise, rather than any superior soundproofing. Thus the New Car, with its quieter engine, was the vehicle in which warnings were most easily heard. Total spread in means was 2.44 dB.
- 3. Distractions. Conversation degraded the perception of warnings by only 1/2 dB, but the Radio required an average of 4.23 dB more amplitude for a warning to be perceived. This supports the observation made above that masking of warnings by other sounds is a problem.

4. Speed Range. The speed range levels are all significantly different, with a spread between highest and lowest mean values of 8.66 dB.

115

. .

.

CHAPTER 10. AUDIBLE - NUISANCE

Nuisance Values

The nuisance value of a signal is relative to a combination of variables. For any given sound level of noise, the variables related to nuisance value are:

- 1. Type of Noise. A pure tone (containing a single frequency) must be raised 5 dB to be experienced as equal in amplitude to a wide band noise that gives the same sound-level reading.
- Repetitive Quality. In steps from 1 time per day, 2-4 times per day, 4-20 times per day, 1-10 times per hour, 10-60 times per hour, and continuous: each is separated by 5 dB equivalences. A continuous signal of 60 dB is as annoying as an 80 dB signal once per day.
- 3. Time of Day. Night and day equivalent is separated by 5 dB; a sound heard at night is as annoying as the same sound presented 5 dB louder in daytime.

4.

Type of Neighborhood. Noises in the country, suburban, residential, commercial, and industrial areas are experienced as 5 dB lower for each type of community going from country to industrial. In an industrial area a given noise is acceptable at approximately 20 dB louder than the same type of noise heard in the country.

5. Previous Exposure. The effect of previous exposure varies as to whether the subject has accepted the noise as a normal part of living in the area, or whether he resents the noise. Previous exposure will reinforce <u>either</u> the acceptance or the resentfulness.

Assume that a community is subjected to a particular noise source (such as a factory or railroad traffic) and the noise is accepted with few complaints. If the level of the noise is raised 10 dB, some

complaints may be anticipated. If raised another 5 - 15 dB, many complaints may be expected.

Human response to noise ranges from simple alerting, nuisance, distraction and task interference, to a psychological stress reaction and neural damage. The assessment of a stimulus as a nuisance is dependent on the conditions under which it is experienced, the task at hand, on going activities, the predisposition to the stimulus and subjective experience of the respondant.

In order to assess the nuisance value of railroad train signals, the following assumptions were made:

- 1. That signals consist of train signals plus track noise.
- 2. That these stimuli, presented as though the train were 200 feet from the respondent, are representative of the experience of those living near the right of way.
- 3. That as tasks require mental concentration, interference with these tasks produces the experience of annoyance.

It was assumed that a fair assessment of nuisance values could be made at distances corresponding to 200 feet from the trackside. Schools, hospitals and related service institutions are probably built further from noise sources. The worst case was assumed to be in a home 200 feet from the tracks, with the windows open. A modal house was selected as representative of that type of dwelling found near railroads:

> Frame House 200 feet from Trackside, 50 feet from Street, Windows closed. Sound level meter 'C' weighting:

| Condition | dB |
|----------------|-------|
| No Traffic | 56-59 |
| Street Traffic | 59-62 |
| Passing Truck | 67-72 |
| Passing Train | 72 |

With windows open, approximately 15 dB was added to all recorded figures.

Sound absorption for a brick or brick faced house would be greater than that of a frame dwelling, with windows closed. With windows open in both types of houses, the similarities would be greater.

Nuisance Experiment

Problem: To determine which emergency acoustical signals have the greatest nuisance value. Nuisance is defined as irritating, annoying, or feeling that it is unnecessary.

Method: Eight auditory signals identical with those selected as representative of alerting devices for the empirical testing (excluding the TurboTrain) were recorded for playback with equal amplitude and equal duration of presentation. These signals were then presented to adult subjects with the following instructions:

"You will be required to perform an exercise in simple addition and division. During that time you will hear whistles, horns, or bells, etc. as usually heard on emergency equipment or an approaching train. These signals will be presented in pairs. At the completion of each pair the presentation will be stopped and you will indicate which of the pair constituted the greatest nuisance, the first or the second. After indicated your vote continue with the arithmetic problems. After 20 seconds a second pair of signals will be presented on which you are to vote. Continuing this procedure you will experience all of the experimental signals presented in pairs. The signals will be presented as though they were heard from the inside of a building 200 feet from a railroad".

The eight selected signals were put into a matrix, paired with each other in random order. Thus 28 pairs of sounds were prepared for presentation. This was designated Series A. A second set of 28 different pairs was made for presentation Series B. One-half of the subjects was subjected to A while doing addition and B while performing the division task. The other half of the subjects were exposed to B during the addition tasks, etc.
The signals were all presented at the same level and were equated for the maximum sound level experience during each presentation. Seven men and three women served as subjects. Figure 36 shows the experiment in progress. Table 17 is an amplitude vs. time plot of the sounds presented.

•

......



Figure 36. Nuisance Testing

| | m | ii | + | 1 | T | | t i | | 1 | | T | i | Т | 1 | 1 | | | | | 1 | | | 1 | ł | 1 | 1 | Т | T | | Т | Т | i | ī | Π | 2 |
|----------|------------------------------------|--------------------|--------------|------------------|--------------|---------------|------------------|---|-----------|---|-----------|------|---------------|---------------|----------|----------|---|---|---|----|---|----|---------------|------|-----------|---|---------------|--------------|-----------|-----------|---------------|----|---------------|----|------------------|
| ሲ | \mathbb{H} | 1 | ╀ | \downarrow | | 1 | μ | | - | + | Ļ | - | | | | | | _ | _ | - | - | _ | - | | ╡ | | | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | | | | |
| کھ اب | $\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$ | Ц | + | | 4 | - | E | _ | - | ÷ | t | t | 1 | ł | <u> </u> | | | | | _ | | | | | 4 | | | 4 | 1 | ╀ | Ļ | + | ł | | |
| RI | <u> </u> ↓↓ | | \downarrow | | | | L | | 1 | F | E | \$ | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | ! | 1 | | |
| ບ່ | Щ | | | | | | | | | | | | Ĺ | | | | | | | | | | 1 | 1 | | 4 | - | | 1 | - | i | | L | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | ļ | | | | | 7 | 3 | | | | | 1 | 1 | 1 | T | T | I | Ι | Ī | I | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Ĺ | | | | | 2 | 1 | | 4 | _ | _ | | 1 | | | 1 | | | | Ц | |
| | | | Ţ | Π | | | Π | | | | Γ | Ţ | T | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Ì | Ī | | | | | | | |
| | \prod | Π | Τ | | Τ | | Π | | T | ļ | | T | Τ | Γ | Γ | | | | | | | | | | T | Ţ | T | | Ī | T | | | | | |
| | IT | Ti | Ť | Ī | Т | 1 | T | T | Ì | T | T | Ì | Ì | Γ | Ţ | Π | | | | | | | 1 | 1 | 1 | T | Ť | Ť | Ì | Ť | T | T | | Π | |
| • | ΠŤ | 11 | T | İİ | Ť | 1 | Ti | Π | T | Ť | T | İ | Ī | Ì | İ | T | | | | | | | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | T | Ì | Ì | t | T | Ť | Í | Ī | |
| - | Ηt | \dagger | \dagger | Ħ | \dagger | Ť | Ħ | | Ť | Ť | t | İ | Ť | İ | - | Ħ | | | İ | | | | \dagger | | 1 | 1 | t | \dagger | | t | İ | t | İ | Π | (uo |
| | | \dagger | \dagger | Π | Ť | Ť | \dagger | | \dagger | t | t | Ì | t | t | t | Η | | | | | Π | | ┥ | 1 | ┥ | | Ť | \dagger | \dagger | t | t | t | İ | Н | isi |
| ы | $\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$ | \uparrow | + | H | | ╈ | H | | + | + | \dagger | + | $\frac{1}{1}$ | | F | | | | | | | | + | + | \dagger | | $\frac{1}{1}$ | \dagger | | | | + | ╞ | H | div |
| ine | ┝┼┼ | + | + | H | ┽ | + | H | | + | | ╀ | | Ī | | | | | | - | | | -1 | ╡ | 4 | ┿ | | - | ť | | Ŧ | | | | Η | ы a) |
| rol | Ht | ++ | ╀ | | + | $\frac{1}{1}$ | Н | | 1. | 1 | Ē | | T | 1 | | | | | | - | | | + | ┥ | ╉ | + | \uparrow | + | + | \dagger | $\frac{1}{1}$ | ┢ | $\frac{1}{1}$ | | <u>д</u> |
| Me t | ┝┼┼ | + | ╉ | Н | + | T | Ħ | | Ť | | ŧ | | ÷ | ╞ | ╞ | | | | 1 | | | - | | | ╉ | + | ╉ | | ╉ | ╀ | ┢ | ┼ | | Н | pu |
| - | ┝┼┽ | + | ╀ | $\left \right $ | + | + | H | | | + | ╀ | + | ╀ | $\frac{1}{1}$ | | Н | 1 | | | | - | - | + | | - | | + | | + | | - | - | | 2 | 0 0 0 0 |
| А | ┝┼┼ | + | ╀ | | ┽ | ┽ | $\left \right $ | | | + | + | 1 | Ť | + | 1 | \vdash | _ | | - | _ | | _ | $\frac{1}{1}$ | | ┥ | | + | + | + | ╀ | $\frac{1}{1}$ | | | | 8 |
| | \vdash | ++ | + | \square | _ | + | \mathbb{H} | | + | ╇ | ╀ | 1 | Ļ | ╀ | <u> </u> | | | | | _ | | | + | | 1 | | ╇ | + | + | ╀ | + | | | μ | |
| | μĻ | + | + | H | + | + | Н | | 4 | - | + | - | Ļ | | + | | | | | | _ | _ | \downarrow | 4 | 4 | 4 | - | \downarrow | + | ╀ | ╀ | Ļ | - | | E |
| - | <u> </u> - | | + | | 4 | + | Ц | | + | | ł | | Ļ | 1 | | Ц | | | | | | | 4 | | | | 1 | + | | ╀ | + | + | - | | H |
| | Щ | | 4 | | 4 | 1 | μ | | 4 | | Ļ | | | - | Ļ | | | | | _ | | | | | 4 | | 4 | 4 | _ | ļ | | | <u> </u> | | |
| | | | | | _ | | μ | | 4 | | Ļ | | Ļ | | Ļ | | | | | | | | 4 | _ | 4 | | | + | | 1 | + | Ļ | Ļ | L | |
| | Щ | \downarrow | | | | 1 | | | - | | Ļ | | - | | Ļ | | | | | | | | | | - | | 4 | | 1 | | 1 | 1 | ļ | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Ţ | | | | L | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | L | | | | | | | | | U. | | | | | 4 | | Ì | 1 | 1 | T | 1 | ſ | Ī | | ſ |
| ഷ | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | L | | | | | | | | - | - | | | | | | | | | | |
| ,IR | \square | Π | | | | | H | | 1 | T | ſ | ļ | | | | | | | | | | | | | I | J | T | Ī | Ţ | Ţ | | Ī | | | |
| н. | \prod | | Τ | ٩ | \downarrow | Ŧ | Ц | | 1 | | Ι | | | | | | | | | | | | | | T | | | | | T | T | | Γ | | |
| A | \prod | \prod | T | 11 | | T | T | | | | Ī | ļ | Ī | Ī | ļ | | | | | 1 | | | Ę | - | 7 | 4 | + | + | | Ŧ | Ţ | F | Ţ | F | |
| * | ΠŤ | $\uparrow\uparrow$ | T | Π | Ť | T | Π | | T | Τ | t | I | ŀ | Ī | t | Π | | | | | Π | | 1 | 1 | 1 | Í | Ť | T | T | t | Ť | İ | T | Fi | l |
| | ht | | \dagger | | | \dagger | Ħ | Ħ | 1 | Í | t | T | t | 1 | Ť | Ħ | | | | | | | | 1 | \dagger | | + | 1 | T | t | t | t | t | | I |
| | | 4-4 | + | | _ | - 1 - | ÷ | | _1 | | + | - | ÷ | + | | - | | | | - | | - | -+ | -+ | -+ | - | ÷ | + | | + | + | +- | +- | + | . |

TABLE 17. Nuisance Test Sounds - Amplitude vs. Time Plot (Page 1)

Writing Speed 10" per second

120

...

, r -

.

••

. .

| Whistle E. Bell E. Sel | | |
|---|-----------|--|
| Whistle E. Bell E. Bell E. Bell E. Velp G. GG-1 H. Loco. 19 C. GG-1 H. | 2 | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp G. GG-1 H. Loco | - | |
| Whistle E. Bell E. Jel | 3 | |
| Whistle E. Bell E. Bel | 3111 | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp G. GG-1 Physical design of the second se | ÷ | <u>┿╼┶┾╼┶</u> ╋ ╹┊╡ ╋╋╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╋ |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp G. Go-1 | | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp G. GG-1 | ┝┾┼┤ | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp G. GG-1 Image: Constraint of the state o | ┝┼┼┥ | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp G. GG-1 Image: Strate in the strate | ┝┼┼┤ | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp G. GG Image: Strate in the strate in | ┍┥┝┼┼┤ | |
| Whistle E. Bell E. Jaell E. Velp G. G. G. G. G. G. G. G. G. G. G. G. G. | ġ H | |
| White E. Bell E. Bell G. G. Constrained and the second sec | | <u>╽╻╷╷╷╴</u> ╷╻╷╷╷╴ |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp | o | |
| Whistle E. Bell E. Bell F. Yelp | | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp Image: state of the state o | | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp Image: State of the state of | | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp Image: Strate in the st | | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp Image: Strate in the st | | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Yelp Mistle E. Bell F. Yelp Milting E. Bell F. Yelp Milting E. Bell F. Yelp Milting E. Bell F. Yelp Milting E. Bell F. Yelp Milting E. Bell F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp F. Yelp Milting F. Yelp Milting | | |
| Whistle E. Bell F. Ye | - = | |
| Whistle E. Bell E. Bell F. Hold F. Bell F. Bel | °, ∐∐ K | |
| Whistle E. Bell E. Bell | L L | |
| Whistle E. Bell | \square | |
| Whistle E. Bell | | |
| Whistle E. Bell E. Bell | | |
| Whistle E. Bell | | |
| Whistle E. Bell | | |
| Whistle | Bel | |
| Whistle | | |
| Whistle | | |
| Whistle | | |
| Whistle | ┝┼┼┤ | <u>┾</u> ╶╪┥┥┥┥┥╴╪╪╪╴╪╪╧╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪╪ |
| Mistle Missie | ┠┼┼┤ | |
| Whist! | • | |
| | | |
| | ₹ +++ | <mark>╎╎╎╔╋╋╗┙┙╎╎╎╎╎╎╎</mark> |
| | · []+++ | ╎╉┽╎┼╎╏╎╎╎╎ ╒╪╪╤<mark>╞╧╧╧╧╧╧╧╧╧╧╧╧╧╧╧</mark>╋╪╧┥╿╿╎╎╿╎ |
| ┶┥ <mark>┝╌┥┼┼┥┥╎┥╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎╎</mark> | | ┝╅┼╪┾┿╋┼╤┼┼╏┾┽┽╎┨╎ _╧ ╤╤┨╤┿╍╌┱╤╍┲┲╇╽╽╽ |
| | | |

. . 41.

. .

. .

TABLE 17. Nuisance Test Sounds - Amplitude vs. Time Plot (Page 2)

. **.** .

Time (2 sec/div)

121

· .

Results

The signals selected, the number of votes which each received as most annoying and the rank of each signal are listed below:

| Signal | Votes | Rank |
|-----------------------|-------|------|
| Synthetic 'Loco 1972' | 110 | 1 |
| Electronic Siren | 106 | 2 |
| Metroliner | 71 | 3 |
| 3-Chime Horn (LIRR) | 68 | 4 |
| Whistle | . 67 | 5 |
| Bell | 58 | 6 |
| GG-1 | 47 | 7 |
| 5-Chime Horn (RF&P) | 33 | 8 |

Discussion

The experienced nuisance showed strong agreement among the subjects with regards to the extremes of the samples. The fivechime signal which is "chord-like" in timbre is accepted as most pleasant or least annoying. At the other extreme the scale "run" of the synthetic 'Loco 1972' sound was most annoying.

An analysis of the integrated sound found in the two signals does not show any great difference in area under the curve.

APPENDIX A. GLOSSARY

Achromatic -Lack of color, non-color (see also Color Brightness).

Acuity

-Visual resolution, included angle between two observed discrete

objects.

Binocular Cues -Those cues to depth perception which are dependent on the use of both eyes. These cues are retinal disparity and convergence. In the former, the greater the difference of images between retinae, the closer the object appears. In the latter, the muscular feedback from eye convergence represents the cues. Binocular cues are rather ineffective for far objects (i.e. beyond 20 feet).

Color Brightness -The achromatic number value of a color ranging in steps from black to white, on a scale from 0 to 10. Syn. with value, luminous reflectance.

Color Contrast -Dissimilarity of hue as seen on a color wheel, i.e. yellow vs. blue.

Conspicuity -Property of attracting attention.

Cones -Light sensitive cells of the retina, especially adapted for color stimuli.

Decibel (dB) -A unit, used in acoustics to express sound levels. The formal definition of the decibel is as a unit for expressing the ratio of two power levels:

 $1 \, dB = 10 \, \log_{10} \, P_2/P_1$.

Sound levels are expressed in dB compared with a reference level of 20 micronewtons per square meter. The reference level is, roughly, the smallest sound that can be heard and is expressed as 0 dB. Since the decibel is a logarithmic unit, each <u>addition</u> of 3 dB represents <u>multiplication</u> of sound power by 2. In Table 12, the sound level of the typical railroad horn at 300 feet is reported to be 99 dB; 100 dB would represent ten billion times the power of the reference level.

Decision Time -Time consumed between the reception of a stimulus and making a response based on a stimulus-related decision.

Empirical -Originating in or based on observation or experience.

Exposure Value or Light Value (E.V.) -Level of illumination.

Appendix A

Glossary (contd.)

Figure -In perception, the object seen against or contrasted with the ground or background. Footlambert -A unit of luminance (luminance is roughly equivalent to brightness). 3.14 footlamberts = 1 candle/sq. ft. White paper in sunlight has a luminance of about 725 footlamberts. Fovea -That part of the retina directly behind the lens of the eye, utilized in direct viewing. The fovea contains the cones and has excellent resolution. Ground -(or background) In perception, the surround area, as in figureground relationship. Hue -The classification of a color as the eye receives it: i.e., blue, green, red. Inverse-Square Law -The principle that received light or sound power varies inversely as the square of the distance from the source. Mean -The mean of a set of n numbers is defined as their sum divided by n. The mean is often called the average. -(millimicron) A unit of length equal to one-billionth of a mu meter. Used in optics to describe the wavelength of light, which in turn specifies color. The visible spectrum covers a range of about 700 my (red) to 400 my (violet), and the eye is most sensitive to light of 555 mu (yellow) at moderate levels of illumination (see Purkinje Shift). Munsell -A system of specifying colors on scales of hue (color name), value (brightness) and chroma (saturation). Nuisance -Annoying, unpleasant or obnoxious. Peripheral Vision -Viewing using the area surrounding the fovea of the retina. This area contains the rods. Preoccupation -Complete absorption of the mind or interests or operations. Point Source -As used here, a point source is a light which is not of large enough dimensions to be seen at normal observation distance to have any area; it looks like a point. Purkinje Shift -A change in the light wavelength to which the eye is most sensitive, as a function of light intensity. Under moderate light levels, the eye is most sensitive to light at a wavelength of 555 mµ; at very low levels it is most sensitive to 505 mµ. Reflectance -Ratio of reflected light to incident light. Appendix A 124

Glossary (contd.)

Retina -Part of the eye, containing nerve endings in the form of cells specialized for light reception.

Rods -Light sensation cells of the retina, specially adapted for achromatic stimuli under low levels of illumination.

Saturation Intensity

-A measure of degree of difference of a color from the grey having the same lightness.

Standard Deviation

-A statistical measure of how widely individual values are dispersed from their mean. A more detailed explanation will be found in Chapter 9, in the section on 'Analysis'.

Statistical Significance -Level of confidence that tested relationship did not occur by chance alone.

Stimulus -Any energy that elicits a response.

Threshold -Minimum amount of energy which evokes a response or becomes a stimulus.

Transmissivity -The inverse of the amount of light attenuation by atmospheric conditions.

Vigilance -State of alertful watching, especially to avoid danger.

Appendix B. Bibliography

- 1. Blackwell, H. R.: <u>Visibility Assessment of Gray and Chromatic Paints</u> by a New Technique, Washington, D.C., U.S. Coast Guard, 1960
- Breckenridge, F. C. and Douglas, C. A.; "Development of Approach and Contact Light Systems", <u>Illumination Engineering</u>, Vol. XL, p. 785, 1945.
- 3. Bynum, Joseph A., et al.; <u>Development of a Paint Scheme for Increasing</u> <u>Helicopter Conspicuity</u>, U.S. Army Aeronautical Research Unit, Ft. Rucker, Alabama, September, 1967.
- 4. Cobb, P. W. and Moss, F. K.; "The Four Variables of Visual Threshold", Journal of the Franklin Institute, pp. 205-831.
- 5. Cook, K. G., Beagley, R. M. and Robinson, J. E. Jr.; "Aircraft Conspicuity and Flight Altitude Information Provided by Exterior Paint Pattern", Journal of Applied Psychology, Vol. 46, No. 3, 1963
- 6. Douglas, C. A.; "Computation of the Effective Intensity of Flashing Lights", Illumination Engineering, Vol. LII, December, 1957.
- Gibson, J. J.; <u>The Senses Considered as Perceptual Systems</u>, Houghton-Mifflin Co., p. 280.
- Hanson, D. R. and Dickson, A. D.; <u>Significant Visual Properties of Some</u> <u>Fluorescent Pigments</u>, 43rd Annual Meeting of Highway Research Board, Washington, D.C., 1964.
- 9. IES; <u>Lighting Handbook</u>, 4th Edition, Illuminating Engineering Society, New York, 1966.
- Kinchla, R. A. and Allan, L. G.; "A Theory of Visual Movement Perception", Psychology Review, Vol. 76, No. 6, 1969.
- Morgan, C. T. et al.; <u>Human Engineering Guide to Equipment Design</u>. New York: Mc Graw-Hill, 1963.
- Peterson, A. P. G. and Gross, E. E. Jr.; <u>Handbook of Noise Measurement</u>, 6th Edition. West Concord, Mass: General Radio Company, 1967.
- Projector, T. H.; "Efficiency of Flashing Lights", <u>Illumination Engin-</u> eering, Volume LIII, November, 1958.
- Projector, T. H.; <u>The Role of Exterior Lights in Mid-Air Collision</u> Prevention. Arlington, Va, Applied Psychology Corporation, July 1962.
- Siegel, A. I. and Federman, P.; "Development of a Paint Scheme for Increasing Aircraft Detectability and Visibility", <u>Journal of Applied</u> Psychology, Vol. 49, No. 2, 1965.

Bibliography (contd.)

- 16. Siegel, S.; Nonparametric Statistics. New York: Mc Graw-Hill, 1956.
- 17. von Fieandt, Kai; <u>The World of Perception</u>. Chicago: Dorsey Press, 1966.
- Woodworth, R.S.; Experimental Psychology. New York: H. Holt & Co., 1938.

Appendix B

APPENDIX C. GEOMETRY OF THE CRITICAL ENCOUNTER: CALCULATIONS

Mathematical Expression of the Geometry

<u>Required Known Values</u> - The geometry of the Critical Encounter can be calculated if the following parameters are known:

- Crossing angle, B, degrees (both the track and the highway must be essentially straight; the graphical method is suggested if either or both is curved).
- 2. Train speed, V₂, MPH
- 3. Motor vehicle speed, V1, MPH
- 4. Motor vehicle stopping distance, X3, feet
- 5. Motor vehicle length, X2, feet
- 6. Crossing width along the highway, X_{L} , feet
- 7. Crossing width along the railroad, Y_3 , feet.

Values Solved For -

- 1. Distance the motor vehicle must travel to clear the crossing, X_1 , feet
- 2. Time for the motor vehicle to clear the crossing, T_1 , seconds
- 3. Train distance from near edge of the crossing, Y_1 , feet
- 4. Radius from front of train to front of motor vehicle, R1, feet
- 5. Angle of radius referred to the axis of the train, A1, degrees.

Mathematical Expressions -

 $x_1 = x_3 + x_4 + x_2$

 $T_1 = 3600 X_1 / 5280 V_1$

 $Y_1 = (X_1 V_2) / V_1$

. . . **)**

For convenience in calculating the radius, R_1 , we define the distance of the motor vehicle, X_6 , and of the train, Y_2 , from the centerpoint of the crossing:

$$\begin{aligned} x_6 &= x_3 + x_4/2 \\ y_2 &= y_1 + y_3/2 \\ R_1 &= \sqrt{x_6^2 + y_2^2} \quad \text{for } B = 90^\circ; \text{ the more general expression is:} \\ R_1 &= \sqrt{x_6^2 + y_2^2 - 2 \, x_6 \, y_2 \, \cos B} \\ A_1 &= ARC TAN \quad x_6 \, / \, y_2 \quad \text{for } B = 90^\circ; \text{ the more general expression is:} \\ A_1 &= 2 \, ARC TAN \, Q \, / \, (P - x_6) \, , \text{ where} \\ P &= (x_6 + y_2 + R_1) \, / \, 2 \, , \text{ and} \\ Q &= \sqrt{(P - x_6)(P - y_2)(P - R_1)(1 \, / \, P)} \end{aligned}$$

Appendix C



Computer Program

On the following page is a computer program in BASIC, which can be run on many diverse time-sharing computers with minimum modification. It is provided to aid in producing tables similar to Table 4, using various crossing angles, vehicle lengths, vehicle stopping distances, and crossing widths.

<u>Using the Program</u> - The information required for the program is in the statement lines at the bottom of the page, which begin (after the line number) with the word DATA. The values shown in these lines are those used to produce Table 4; substituting new values will cause a modified version of the table to be printed.

> Line 440 contains (in order) Motor Vehicle Length, Crossing Width along the highway, Crossing Width along the railroad, and Crossing Angle.

It should be noted that the program actually calculates answers for three angles: the given angle, a right angle, and the complement of the given angle (180 degrees minus the given angle).

Line 450 and following lines each contain a motor vehicle speed and a corresponding stopping distance.

Any motor vehicle speeds can be used, and there is no limitation to the number of them. The computer will keep calculating and printing the table, two motor vehicle speeds to a page, until it runs out of data and stops.

Appendix C

RXR

10 READ X2,X4,Y3,B 20 PRINT "MOT VEH LENGTH";X2;TAB(25)"CROSS WIDTH HWY";X4; 30 PRINT TAB(49)"CROSS WIDTH RR";Y3 40 PRINT 50 PRINT 60 FOR I=1 TO 2 70 READ V1 .X3 80 LET X1=X3+X2+X4 90 LET T1=INT(X1*3600/(5280*V1)+.5) 100 PRINT "MOT VEH SPD";V1;TAB(19)"STOP DIST";X3; 110 PRINT TAB(37)"TIME TO CLR";T1;TAB(55)"DIST TO CLR";X1 120 PRINT 130 PRINT TAB(38)"CROSSING ANGLES" 140 PRINT TAB(5)"TRAIN"; TAB(18); B; "DEGREES"; TAB(39)"90 DEGREES"; 150 PRINT TAB(54);180-B;"DEGREES" 160 PRINT "SPEED"; TAB(9)"DIST"; TAB(18)"RADIUS"; TAB(27)"ANGLE"; PRINT TAB(36)"RADIUS"; TAB(45)"ANGLE"; TAB(54)"RADIUS"; TAB(63)"ANGLE 170 FOR V2=10 TO 110 STEP 10 180 190 LET Y1=INT(X1*V2/V1+.5) 200 LET X6=X3+X4/2 210 LET Y2=Y1+Y3/2 220 LET A[7]=B*3.1416/180 230 LET A[8]=3.1416/2 240 LET A[9]=3.1416-A[7] 250 FOR J=1 TO 3 260 LET R[J]=SQR(X6+2+Y2+2-2*X6*Y2*COS(A[J+6])) LET P[J]=(X6+Y2+R[J])/2 270 280 LET Q[J]=SQR((P[J]-X6)*(P[J]-Y2)*(P[J]-R[J])/P[J])290 LET A[J+3]=2*ATN(Q[J]/(P[J]-X6))300 LET A[J]=INT(180*A[J+3]/3•1416+•5) 310 LET R[J]=INT(R[J]+.5) 320 NEXT J 330 PRINT V2; TAB(9); Y1; TAB(18); R[1]; TAB(27); A[1]; 340 PRINT TAB(36);R[2];TAB(45);A[2];TAB(54);R[3];TAB(63);A[3] 350 NEXT V2 360 PRINT 370 PRINT 380 NEXT I 390 PRINT 400 PRINT 410 GOTO 20 420 REM 1ST DATA LINE: M VEH LEN, X WID HWY, X WID RR, X ANGLE 430 REM FOLL DATA LINES: M VEH SPD, STOP DIST 440 DATA 40,30,30,60 DATA 20,117 450 ----460 DATA 30,196 ___ 470 DATA 40,315 NOT REPRODUCIBLE 480 DATA 50,461 490 DATA 60,634 500 DATA 70,841 510 END

| izon SkyOvercast, no moon0.00001Clear, no moon0.0001Overcast, moon0.001Clear, Moonlight0.01Deep twilight1Twilight1Very dark day10Overcast day100Clear day1000Clear day1000Clear day1000Clear day1000Clouds, sun lighted1000Dull100 - 300Typical300 - 1000Bright1000On Sunny day100On Overcast day10 - 30Sonny day100 - 30Sonny day100 - 30Sonny day100 - 30 | | (footlamberts) |
|---|--------------------|----------------|
| Overcast, no moon0.00001Clear, no moon0.0001Overcast, moon0.001Clear, Moonlight0.01Deep twilight0.1Twilight1Very dark day10Overcast day100Clear day1000Clouds, sun lighted10000Typical300 - 1000Bright1000 - 5000und0On Sunny day100On Overcast day100Snam full sumlight100 - 30Snam full sumlight100On Sunny day100On Sunny day100Snam full sumlight5000 | .zon Sky | |
| Clear, no moon0.0001Overcast, moon0.001Clear, Moonlight0.01Deep twilight0.1Twilight1Very dark day10Overcast day100Clear day1000Clear day1000Clouds, sun lighted100 - 300Typical300 - 1000Bright1000 - 5000und100On Sunny day100On Overcast day100 - 30 | vercast, no moon | 0.00001 |
| Overcast, moon0.001Clear, Moonlight0.01Deep twilight0.1Twilight1Very dark day10Overcast day100Clear day1000Clouds, sun lighted10000Plight Fog100 - 300Dull100 - 300Typical300 - 1000Bright1000 - 5000und100On Sunny day100On Overcast day100 - 30Sname full sumlight100 - 30 | lear, no moon | 0.0001 |
| Clear, Moonlight0.01Deep twilight0.1Twilight1Very dark day10Overcast day100Clear day1000Clouds, sun lighted10000Hight Fog100 - 300Dull100 - 300Typical300 - 1000Bright1000 - 5000und100On Sunny day100On Overcast day100 - 30Sname full sumlight5000 | vercast, moon | 0.001 |
| Deep twilight0.1Twilight1Very dark day10Overcast day100Clear day1000Clouds, sun lighted10000Clight Fog100 - 300Dull100 - 300Typical300 - 1000Bright1000 - 5000und100On Sunny day100On Overcast day100 - 30Sname full sumlight5000 | lear, Moonlight | 0.01 |
| Twilight1Very dark day10Overcast day100Clear day1000Clouds, sun lighted10000Clight Fog100 - 300Dull100 - 300Typical300 - 1000Bright1000 - 5000und | eep twilight | 0.1 |
| Very dark day Overcast day Clear day Clouds, sun lighted Dull Typical Bright On Sunny day On Overcast day Scare full sumlight 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10 | wilight | 1 |
| Overcast day100Clear day1000Clouds, sun lighted10000Tight Fog100 - 300Dull100 - 300Typical300 - 1000Bright1000 - 5000und | ery dark day | 10 |
| Clear day1000Clouds, sun lighted10000Clight Fog100 - 300Dull100 - 300Typical300 - 1000Bright1000 - 5000und100On Sunny day100On Overcast day100 - 30Sname full sumlight5000 | vercast day | 100 |
| Clouds, sun lighted _10000 light Fog 100 - 300 Dull 100 - 300 Typical 300 - 1000 Bright 1000 - 5000 und | lear day | 1000 |
| light Fog Dull 100 - 300 Typical 300 - 1000 Bright 1000 - 5000 und | louds, sun lighted | _10000 |
| Dull 100 - 300 Typical 300 - 1000 Bright 1000 - 5000 und 100 On Sunny day 100 On Overcast day 10 - 30 Sname full sumlight 5000 | ight Fog | |
| Typical 300 - 1000 Bright 1000 - 5000 und | v11 | 100 - 300 |
| Bright 1000 - 5000 und On Sunny day 100 On Overcast day 100 - 30 | ypical | 300 - 1000 |
| und On Sunny day On Overcast day Snow full surlicht | right | 1000 - 5000 |
| On Sunny day100On Overcast day10 - 30Snow full suplicit5000 | nd | |
| On Overcast day 10 - 30 | n Sunny day | 100 |
| | | 200 |
| SHOW, TUTT SUUTIGUE (2000 | n Overcast day | 10 - 30 |

Background

Source: Knoll, H. A., Tousey, R. and Hulbert, E. O.; "Visual Thresholds of Steady Point Sources of Light in Fields of Brightness from Dark to Daylight", Journal of the Optical Society of America p. 36, 1946.

. .

•••

بالتموية كالشيقة التعايم ممراته بمواجعهما



Wavelength - millimicrons

Source: Hanson⁸



PURKINJE SHIFT .

APPENDIX F.

R

Relative visibility (percent) of different wavelengths of light, when of medium intensity (2-10 meter candles, shown by the solid line) and when of low intensity (.001 meter candles, shown by the broken line). This pronounced shift of the visibility curve was not obtained except when the weak light fell outside the fovea of a dark-adapted eye. In the fovea the shift was very slight and uncertain. The data are from one eye of a highly trained observer. Other published data give nearly the same curves.

G

в

v

Source: Sloan, L. L.; Psych. Mono. Vol. 38, No: 173, 1928.

Y

APPENDIX G. FREQUENCY ANALYSIS

The two graphs in this appendix were made from a wayside tape recording on the Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Railroad. The locomotive had a 5-chime Nathan Model 'M' horn. The first graph is an amplitude vs. time plot similar to several tables contained in the report. The square shape on the right of the plot is the sound of the calibrator, which was used after all recordings (but which is not shown in the other plots in the report). The calibrator is a small oscillator and speaker designed to fit the microphone snugly and produced a known sound level of 114 dB. The train was recorded with the microphone sensitivity 10 dB greater than the calibrator recording.

The time/frequency plot was obtained by use of a sound analyzer, which filters the sound and lets only one frequency (or pitch) through at a time. It has a tuning dial so that any pitch may be selected. The graphic-level recorder has a chain-drive connection to the tuning knob, so the analyzer is tuned slowly as the paper comes out of the graphic-level recorder.

Since the second blast of the horn is of only 2 seconds or so duration, it was re-recorded and the new recording was cut and spliced into a continuous loop. This loop was then played, giving a continuous second blast for the 5-minute or so time required to do the analysis. The frequency covered is 50 to 10,000 Hertz, in three ranges. To the right of the 10,000 Hertz point, the unfiltered sound is shown, from which the amplitude can be determined. On the amplitude/ time plot, the second blast is seen to have a level of about 82 dB, and the unfiltered sound is so labeled on the amplitude/frequency plot. Filtered sounds were increased by 10 dB over the unfiltered, so the top of the graph is 75 dB.

The greatest sound energy is at 1 KHz, which is typical for all horns analyzed.

AUDIBLE WARNING SOUND LEVELS - WAYSIDE MEASUREMENTS





Writing speed 20 in/sec, Paper speed 7.5 in/min

Amplitude vs. time plot drawn by a graphic level recorder from magnetic tape.

Appendix G



FREQUENCY ANALYSIS

50-250 Hz

Appendix G



FREQUENCY ANALYSIS

.....

250-2500 Hz

Appendix G



FREQUENCY ANALYSIS

2500-10000 Hz

Appendix G

APPENDIX H. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

This Appendix is intended to give technical details of the statistical analysis techniques used to draw conclusions about the data collected in the Empirical Testing of Warning Qualities. The raw data consists of 729 values for the lowest sound level (in dB) heard for each sound in each trial, and is shown in Appendix I. Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was implemented to show which factors had variations that can be called significant. Single effect factors were further analyzed by employing the Tukey method of testing the differences of the means of factor levels.

ANOVA - The Analysis of Variance is of a $3 \times 3 \times 3 \times 3 \times 9$ mixed-plot design. The following factors were used:

T(J) represents Driver Age

T1 - 16 to 25 Years T2 - 26 to 40 Years T3 - 41 Years or more

V(I) represents Type of Vehicle

V1 - Automobile, 1966 to 1970 Model V2 - Automobile, 1965 Model or Older V3 - Truck

B(L) represents Speed Range

B1 - 21 to 35 MPH B2 - 36 to 50 MPH B3 - 51 to 65 MPH

Appendix H

A(K) represents Distraction type

Al - None

A2 - Radio

A3 - Conversation

C(M) represents Sounds

C1 - LIRR 3-Chime Horn

- C2 Metroliner Horn
- C3 RF & P 5-Chime Horn
- C4 TurboTrain Horn
- C5 Whistle
- C6 Bell
- C7 Electronic Siren
- C8 GG-1 Horn
- C9 Synthesized 'Locomotive 1972'

Since in operation of the experiment all nine levels of Factor 'C' were presented during a single 'run', not as nine different runs, all interactions containing this factor were tested in the ANOVA separately from interactions not containing Factor 'C'.

The ANOVA is summarized on the next page. The Error Mean Square used for each test is either the Mean Square of the highest order interaction in the category (VTAB or VTABC, when testing next highest interactions), or a computed error term which is obtained by combining all lower interactions (Σ SS/ Σ df). Significances are indicated by double asterisks (**) for .01, .05 and .1 confidence levels.

Appendix H

ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

| Source of | Sum of | | Mean | | Sign | ance | |
|---------------|----------|-----|------------------|--------|------|----------|----|
| Variation | Squares | df | Square | F | .01 | .05 | .1 |
| | | | | | | | |
| V | 728.463 | 2 | 364.2315 | 3.876 | - | ** | ** |
| Т | 1329.699 | 2 | 664.8495 | 7.074 | ** | ** | ** |
| A | 2655.418 | 2 | 1327.709 | 14.127 | ** | ** | ** |
| В | 9259.328 | 2 | 4629.664 | 49.261 | ** | ** | ** |
| VT | 395.199 | 4 | 98.7998 | 1.051 | - | - | - |
| VA | 257.134 | 4 | 64.2835 | .684 | - | - | - |
| VB | 1045.817 | 4 | 261.4543 | 2.782 | - | ** | ** |
| TA | 959.602 | 4 | 239.9005 | 2.553 | - | - | ** |
| TB | 958.161 | 4 | 239.5403 | 2.549 | - | - | ** |
| AB | 161.454 | 4 | 40.3635 | .429 | - | - | - |
| Error | | 48 | 93-982 | - | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| VTA | 789.574 | 8 | 98,6968 | 1.371 | - | - | - |
| VTB | 616,941 | 8 | 77,1176 | 1.071 | _ | - | - |
| VAB | 1000.068 | 8 | 125,0085 | 1.736 | - | - | - |
| TAR | 952.538 | 8 | 119.0673 | 1.654 | - | - | _ |
| Error = VTAB | 1151.99 | 16 | 71,9994 | - | | | |
| - | | | 7200004 | | | | |
| | | | · · - | • • | | | |
| C | 1722.497 | 8 | 215.3121 | 14.354 | ** | ** | ** |
| VC | 369,685 | 16 | 23.1053 | 1.538 | - | - | - |
| тс | 168,449 | 16 | 10,5281 | . 701 | - | - | - |
| AC | 677.915 | 16 | 42.3697 | 2.820 | ** | ** | ** |
| BC | 298.079 | 16 | 18,6299 | 1.240 | _ | - | - |
| 20 | 2701077 | | 1010237 | 1.240 | | | |
| VIC | 852.949 | 32 | 26.6547 | 1.774 | ** | ** | ** |
| VAC | 416.940 | 32 | 13.0294 | .867 | - | - | - |
| VBC | 398.628 | 32 | 12.4571 | .829 | - | - | - |
| TAC | 686.694 | 32 | 21.4592 | 1.429 | - | - | ** |
| ABC | 520.028 | 32 | 16.2509 | 1.081 | - | - | - |
| Error | | 384 | 15.0222 | - | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| VTAC | 1295.612 | 64 | 20.24394 | 1.631 | - | ** | ** |
| VTBC | 931.207 | 64 | 14.55011 | 1,172 | - | - | - |
| VABC | 1094,376 | 64 | 17-09963 | 1.378 | - | - | ** |
| TABC | 858.574 | 64 | 13.41522 | 1,081 | - | . | - |
| Error = VTABC | 1588.75 | 128 | 12.41211 | - | - | | |

Appendix H

...

X ł L 1

Tukey Method

The further analysis of single effect factors will proceed by employing the Tukey method of testing the differences of the means of factor levels. These means are given in Table 16. This test states (for this experiment) that there is no difference between factor levels at the .01 level unless the absolute difference of the sample means exceeds

$$D = (s)(q_{.01;k,128}) / \sqrt{n}$$

where:

- s^2 = the 'error' mean square. This value is 93.98 for Factors A, B, V, and T; 15.02 for Factor C.
- q = the Studentized range.
- k = 3 for Factors A, B, V, and T; 9 for Factor C.
- n = 243 for Factors A, B, V, and T; 81 for Factor C (n is the number of

terms in the sum making up the mean at each level).

Hence D = 2.61 for A, B, V, and T; and D = 2.44 for C. To say that Cl differs from C2, for example, it is necessary that their means must differ by at least 2.44 dB (the difference in this example is 1.58 dB and this test indicates the difference to be not significant).

It is seen that among Driver Ages, the youngest group differs from the oldest group, and that the youngest group just fails to differ from the middle group. No significant differences exist between Types of Vehicle, although the new car just misses being significantly different from the truck. Among Distractions, the radio is significantly worse than the other two. The speed levels are all different.

Appendix H

Among the different sounds, C2 (Metroliner Horn) required the highest sound level of all for perception, and sound C7 (Electronic Siren) the lowest; the difference between these two is slightly more than twice the 2.44 dB required to establish significance. From highest to lowest, the means can be ranked into four groups:

| Group 1 | Group 2 | Group 3 | Group 4 |
|---------|---------|---------|------------|
| C2, C1 | C5, C6 | C8, C3 | C4, C9, C7 |

C2 is significantly different from Groups 3 & 4; C1 is different from Group 4. C7 is significantly different from Groups 1 & 2; C4 and C9 are different from Group 1. Groups 2 & 3 together cover only a range in means of less than $\frac{1}{2}$ dB; C2 and C7 just barely miss being different from Groups 2 & 3. There is no significant difference among C5, C6, C8, C3, C4, and C9.

EMPIRICAL TESTING OF AUDIBLE WARNINGS - DECIBEL LEVEL COMPILATION

SPEED RANGE B1: 21-35 MPH

| | n | 0 0 | • | • |
|---|---------------------------|--------|---|-----|
| | $\boldsymbol{\nu} \Delta$ | 1.5.10 | | - 1 |
| • | | | | |

| DIST | VEH | DRIV | | | SOUND | S (FA | CTOR | C) | | | | | |
|------|----------------|--------|-------|------|-------|-----------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------|------|---------|----|
| A | V · | T. | TRIAL | 1 | 2 ' | 3 | -4- | ^ <u>5</u> | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | _ |
| 1 | ¹ 1 | 1 | 1 | 80, | 80, | 80, | 75 , | 75 <i>,</i> | 75, | 75, | 75, | 85 | 44 |
| 1 | 1 | 2 | 6 | 80, | 80. | 70, | 75; | 80, | 75; | 705 | 80, | 80 | |
| 1 | 1 | 3 | 16 | 75, | 80) | 75, | 75; | 805 | 75, | 75; | 85, | 75 | |
| | • | | • • | | • | • | • • | • | •••• | •••• | | • • • • | |
| 1 | 2 | 1 | 28 | 80, | 80, | 80,, | 80, | 80, | 80, | 85, | 85, | 85 | |
| 1 | 2 | 2 | 33 | 85, | 85 | 85, | 805 | 85. | 80 🖌 | 85, | 85, | 80 | |
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 43 | 803 | 80 | 85, | 80 | 80 | 70; | 75; | 80 | 75 | |
| 1 | 3 | 1 | 55 | 85. | 85. | 90. | 80. | 90. | 95. | 90'. | 90. | 90 | |
| í | 3 | Ż | 60 | 85 | 85 | 85 | g5 : | 85 | 85 | 80. | RO. | 85 | |
| ī | 3 | 3 | 70 | 80. | 85 | 851 | 005 | 851 | 85 | 851 | 005 | 8n | |
| - | - | | | 00, | 0.5.2 | 009 | 303 | | 0.55 | | | | |
| 2 | 1 | 1 . | 4 | 90. | 90. | 80. | 80. | 96 - | 00. | g0. | o0 . | 75 | |
| 0 | 1 | ò | 12 | 903 | 703 | 001 | 203 | 033 | 203 | 201 | 703 | 75 | |
| 2 | 1 | 2 | 22 | 00, | 000 | 831 | 801 | 823 | 80. | 803 | 803 | 80 | |
| | • | - U | 66 | 909 | 821 | 82, | 753 | 80, | 80. | 15# | 80 - | 80 | |
| 2 | 2 | 1 | 31 | 80, | 105, | 85, | 90, | 95, | 100, | 85, | 90, | 80 | |
| 2 | 2 | 2 | 39 | 85, | 85, | 85. | 805 | 85; | 90, | 805 | 85 | 80 | |
| 2 | 2 | 3 | 49 | 100, | 100, | 90; | 90) | 90) | 80 | 80 | 95 | 85 | |
| 2 | 3 | 1 | 58 | 90. | 90. | 95. | 85. | 90. | 85. | 90. | 85. | 85 | |
| 2 | ž | • | 66 | 95 | 707 | 757 | 2007 | | 0000 azi | | 0000 | 32 | |
| 0 | 3 | 2 | 76 | 031 | 100 | 00. | 00.2 | 90, | 752 | 903 | 00. | 85 | |
| 6 | 5 | 5 | | 039 | 1003 | .903 | 00, | 905 | 100, | 723 | 903 | .90 | |
| _ | | _ | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 3 | 1 | 1 | 9 | 75, | 85, | 75, | 80, | 75, | 75, | 75, | 75, | 75 | |
| 3 | 1 | 2 | 17 | 85. | 80% | 85. | 905 | 805 | 85; | 755 | 803 | 85 | |
| 3 | i | 3 | 25 | 85, | 85; | 805 | 80 | 95 | 75. | 80. | 75. | 85 | |
| - | - | | | | | • | •••• | | | | | | |
| 3 | 2 | 1 | 36 | 80, | 85, | 80, | 80, | 90, | 85, | 85, | 80, | 85 | |
| 3 | 2 | 2 | | 85; | 905 | 85; | -85- | - 85; | 85, | 80% | 90; | 90 | |
| 3 | 2 | 3 | 52 | 80, | 805 | 80. | 80, | 85. | 80. | 85. | 75, | 83 | |
| _ | - | _ | | • | • | • | | | | • •• | | •••• | |
| 3 | 3 | 1 | 63 | 95, | 90, | 85, | 80. | 85, | 80, | 85, | 80, | 75 |) |
| 3 | 3 | 2 | 71 | 85, | 90, | 90, | 90. | 85 | 805 | 905 | 855 | 70 | |
| 3 | 3 | 3 | 79 | 80, | 905 | 80; | 80; | 905 | 905 | 85 | 85. | 85 | |
| | | | | | | | | NAT | | | ··· | | à |
| | A | dir T | | | | 4 2 | Ĺ | | KEPROD | UCIBL | E | | |
| | Appei | uuta I | | | 1. | 10 | | _ | | | | | • |

. .

.
| | · | | | | | | | | | I xīpuəddy | | | | | |
|--------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------|----------------------|--|-------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|----------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|--|--|--|
| 06 06 09 | 08 206 58 | (58 (06 (06 | • 06 • 06 • 08 | :58 :56 :56 | 82° | 82*. 100* 100* | 60 60 62 | •58 •06 •58 | 08 82 59 | 3 5 1 | 333 | 3 3 3 | | | |
| 06 08 08 | •06 •58 •08 | 06 58 608 | 58 58 58 | •06 •08 •92 | 12° 12° | •06 •98 •08 | 106 158 158 | €58 €06 €52 | 23 76 38 | 3 5 1 | 8 8 8 | 8 8 8 | | | |
| 06 08 09 | 100 129 100 80 | (56 (08 (52 | <06 58 08 | 196 106 108 | €06 €08 €08 | 58 58 58 | 56 58 08 | \$96 \$06 \$28 | 56 13 11 | 3 5 1 | T T T | 6 6 6 | | | |
| _06 001 9 <i>L</i> | .106 1001 108 | .06 06 08 | 100? 102° 82° | 58 56 52 | 58 608 | .06 .06 .57 | • 56 • 001 • 08 | 06 1001 109 | LL 89 65 | 3 5 1 | 8 | 2 2 2 | | | |
| 06 06 06 | • 56 • 58 • 06 | 58 58 58 | 198 198 1001 | 06 58 06 | .06 .06 .28 | 58 06 | f001 .f06 f001 | *901 *98 *06 | 20 71 35 | 3 5 1 | 8 8 9 | 3 3 3 | | | |
| 58 06 58 | 06 06 58 | 58 •28 | 100 102 80 | 56 56 58 | .96 106 108 | 06 56 08 | *56 *56 *58 | €\$6 €06 €06 | 53 14 2 | 3 5 1 | T T T | 8 8 8 | | | |
| 58 58 88 | (08 (58 (56 | €06 €06 €06 | •06 •58 •06 | 108 158 106 | •06 •98 •06 | •58 •58 | <pre></pre> | •58 •06 •06 | 25 56 56 | 3 5 1 | 333 | T T T | | | |
| 08 58 58 | 58 58 58 | •08 •58 •58 | 58 58 58 | <28 <28 <28 | €08 €58 €08 | 06 58 08 | •28 •28 | *06 *58 *58 | 32 32 50 | 3 5 1 | 5 5 5 | I I I | | | |
| 08 08 08 | •08 •06 •58 | •58 •08 •08 | <08 (08 | 686868 | €08 €08 | •09 •58 •58 | 106 106 198 | ₹06 ₹\$6 ₹06 | 18 8 5 | 3 5 1 | Ţ Ţ Ţ | T T T | | | |
| 6 | 8 | ï | 9 | ;; ;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;; | -4- -4- | 3 | S 0010102 | ĩ S | LAIRT | VIAD T | л Лен | TZIQ A | | | |

SPEED RANGE B2: 36-50 MPH

(PAGE 2)

ENPIRICAL TESTING OF AUDIBLE WARNINGS - DECIBEL LEVEL COMPILATION

EMPIRICAL TESTING OF AUDIBLE WARNINGS - DECIBEL LEVEL COMPILATION

SPEED RANGE B3: 51-65 MPH

| DIST A | Veh V · | DRIV T | TRIAL | 1 | SOUND R | S (FA 3 | CTOR | C) ^5 | 6 | 7 | ä | 9 |
|-----------|------------|-----------|----------|------|------------|------------|------------------|-------------|------|-------------|-----------------|------------|
| | | | | • | | - | | | | | | •• |
| 1 | 1 | 1 | 3 | 95, | 85, | 90, | 85, | 90, | 95. | 85. | 90, | 90. de |
| 1 · | · • | 2 | 20 20 | 85, | 85, | 85, | 85, | 85. | 85. | 80. | 903 | 80 |
| | . | 3 | 20 | 95, | 100. | 95, | 95, | 951 | 100 | 90. | 957 | 95 |
| 1 | 2 | 1 | 30 | 95, | 100, | 95. | 90, | 100, | 95, | 90, | 95, | 95 |
| 1 | 2 | 2 | 37 | 95, | 1005 | 95; | 95; | 90 <i>,</i> | 90; | 905 | 95; | 85 |
| 1 | 2 | 3 | 47 | 95 | 100; | 100, | 90; | 95 | 95 | 905 | 95 | 90 |
| 1 | З | 1 | 57 | 90, | 85, | 85, | 85, | 90, | 90, | 90, | 90, | 90 |
| 1 | 3 | 2 | 64 | 905 | 95; | 905 | 95, | 95; | 90; | 905 | 95 | 90 |
| 1 | 3 | 3 | 74 | 90, | 85) | 90, | 95; | 955 | 905 | 905 | 905 | 85 |
| 2 | 1 | 1 | 7 | 85, | 90, | 90, | 85, | 85, | 95. | 85, | 9 0, | 85 |
| 2 | 1 | 2 | 15 | 95, | 100, | .95, | 100, | 100, | 105, | 905 | 100, | 1.00 |
| 2 | 1 - | 3 | 24 | 105, | 100. | 100, | 105 | 95. | 100. | 90; | 957 | ÎŌÖ |
| 2 | 2 | 1 | 34 | 90, | 100, | 90, | 85, | 90, | 95, | 85, | 85, | 85 |
| 2 | 2 | 2 | 42 | 100, | 95. | 95; | 905 | 905 | 95; | 90; | 95; | 90 |
| 2 | 2 | 3 | 51 | 100, | 100, | 95. | 85 | 95. | 95, | 95 | 90 | 90 |
| 2 | 3 | 1 | 61 | 95, | 95, | 90, | 90, | 90, | 100, | 95, | 90, | 90 |
| 2 | ् 3 | 2 | 69 | 110, | 105, | 100, | 90; | 100, | 1105 | 90, | 95, | 9 5 |
| 2 | 3 | 3 | 78 | 95, | 100; | 1002 | 100, | 95, | 100; | 95 | 100, | 95 |
| 3 | 1 | 1 | 13 | 85. | 90. | 90. | 80. | 85. | 90. | ae | 00 | 00 |
| 3 | 1 | 2 | 21 | 95. | 100. | 90. | 90. | 051 | 903 | 001 | 909 | 90 90 |
| 3 | 1 | 3 | 27 | 100, | 95, | 95 | 95 | 90; | 90. | 95, | 100, | 95 |
| 3 | 2 | 1 | 40 | 90, | 95, | 85. | 85. | ۹۵. | 85. | 85 . | BO . | ae |
| 3 | 2 | 2 | 48 | 95, | 90, | 95. | 90; | 90. | 95 | 85 | 905 001 | 65 67 |
| 3 | 2 | 3 | 54 | 90) | 95. | 95 | .95 | 100, | 85 | 905 | 955 | 90 |
| 3 | 3 | 1 | . 67 | 85. | 95. | 90. | 85. | ge. | 86- | 76. | 00 | |
| 3 | 3 | 2 | 75 | 95, | 95, | 855 | 905 | 905 | 85 | 85. | 909 - 051 | 25 |
| 3 | 3 | 3 | 81 | 90; | 95, | 95, | 85 | 90; | 95 | 85 | 85 | 95 |
| | | | | | | • | • | • | | | | |
| | Appendix I | | endix I | | | | NOT REPRODUCIBLE | | | | | |

(PAGE 3)

APPENDIX K

International Survey of Unguarded Grade Crossing Alerting Devices used on trains

Communications were dispatched to railroads in Europe and Japan relative to train borne alerting devices. Of the eight national railroads contacted replies were received from five countries.

- 1. British Railways
- 2. French Railways (SNCF)
- 3. Swiss Federal Railways
- 4. Swedish National Railroad
- 5. Deutsche Bundesbahn (Germany)

No replies were received from Japan, Netherlands and Belgium.

The following summarized the information provided which is relevant to the present study.

- 1. British Railways
 - a. Unguarded crossings are used only on single track crossings.
 - b. Maximum train speed permitted is 10-25 mph depending on traffic density, and ease of view of the approaching train.
 - c. Red flashing light is used if visibility is poor. Whistle boards are set at 15 - 20 seconds before crossing if trains are not required to stop. In some limited instances special fittings for locomotives are used.

149

- d. Illuminated, road warning signs are used for high density pedestrian crossings.
- e. "No special devices have been provided on locomotives to warn motorists using unguarded public crossings of the approach of trains." Ends of locomotives and multiple units are painted yellow.
- f. The British have conducted experiments with flashing blue headlights. No reports are as yet available on this experiment.

French (SNCF)

- a. The French are at present actively pursuing the automation of grade crossings. In 1968 there were 24 accidents; 2 killed, 3 injured for 2600 automatic crossings. In no case was an accident due to equipment failure.
- b. They are now testing a radar based device for the surveillance of automatic crossings. This is in the experimental phase and as yet no results are available.

3. Swiss

2.

a. Unguarded crossings are used when the trains do not exceed 70 mph. Whistle boards are provided "at particularly dangerous points". Trains at these crossings are restricted to 15 - 40 mph depending upon track visibility. For light road traffic, whistle boards are used at 175-440 yards. There are no devices to insure the blowing of the whistle or for signaling automatically. Locomotives on rail lines where the proximity to the road is great are painted red. Regular paint used on locomotives is dark green. A three unit 75 watt headlight is used both day and night.

4. Sweden

a. The Swedish National Railroad indicated that they do not use paints specifically for alerting the automobile operator.

Appendix K

150

4. Sweden (contd.)

They use a horn which is hand actuated at 1800 feet and 900 feet to the crossing. Under conditions of reduced visibility, the signaling is repeated until the train has reached the crossing. The horn they use is a KOCKUMS supertyfon TA 75/460. This device has a fundamental frequency of 460 Hertz, an output of 137 DB at 3 feet in front of the horn and can be heard 6500 feet in clear weather. This horn is similar to those in the U.S.A.

5. Germany

- a. There are no special alerting devices used on trains for signaling to automobile operators.
- 6. Japan
 - a. Although no response was received from Japan our research indicates that they utilize a special direction indicator at the guarded crossings which by an illuminated arrow show the direction of the oncoming train or trains. This device would tend to decrease those accidents in which the motor vehicle operator assumed that the train which just passed was the only train approaching the crossing.

7. Finland

a. The locomotives in Finland are painted white and a red. The lower half of the train is white with the upper half a medium red. This combination approaches the recommendation of this report. This information was obtained from the Scandinavian Information Center, N.Y.C.

Appendix K

151

* U. S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE : 1971 0